# THE EFFECTS OF DIFFERENT STORAGE ENVIRONMENTS ON THE QUALITY OF STORED *AMADUMBE* (*colocasia esculenta l. schott*) CORMS, FLOURS, AND THEIR STARCHES

**DV MUKANSI** 

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the academic requirements of

Master of Science in Engineering

**Bioresources Engineering** 

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Pietermaritzburg

January 2022

Supervisor: Professor TS Workneh

# **SUPERVISOR'S APPROVAL**

As the candidate's supervisors, I have approved this review and proposal for submission

Supervisor...

Date...<u>19/01/2022</u>

Professor TS Workneh

### DECLARATION

I, Demian Vusimusi Mukansi, declare that:

- (i) the research reported in this document is my original work, except where otherwise indicated.
- (ii) this document has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- (iii) this document does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs, or other information unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- (iv) this document does not contain other persons' writing unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:
  - (a) their words have been re-written, but the general information attributed to them has been referenced.
  - (b) where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed inside quotation marks and referenced.
- (v) where I have reproduced a publication of which I am an author, co-author, or editor, I have indicated in detail which part of the publication was written by myself alone and have fully referenced such publications.
- (vi) this document does not contain text, graphics, or tables copied and pasted from the Internet unless specifically acknowledged. The source is detailed in the dissertation and the reference sections.

Student:			
		1	l
Supervisor	•		

Date 18/01/2022.....

Date:...<u>19/01/2022</u>.....

# **RESEARCH OUTPUT**

### **International conference**

- Chapter 3 Abstract was accepted for the V<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Postharvest and Quality Management of Horticultural Products of Interest for Tropical Regions. The conference was held in Toluca, Mexico (06 – 09 October 2021). This conference could not be attended due to challenges submitting the article.
- Chapter 3 abstract has been submitted to the International Symposium on Postharvest Technologies to Reduce Food Losses. The symposium will be held in Angers, France (14 – 20 August 2021).
  - Link

     (<u>https://www.actahort.org/members/symposiaa?action=abstractforcoauthor&abstra</u> ctforcoauthorlink=SeKMmzKXSeKMm-24723-DrikX)

### Local conference

- Chapter 3 was presented at the Postgraduate Research and Innovation Symposium, University of KwaZulu-Natal (PRIS). The Symposium was a virtual symposium held in Durban, South Africa (09 10 October 2021).
  - The research was awarded the best engineering industry impact.
  - The researcher was awarded the second-best presenter for the Engineering category.

### Manuscript ready for publication

- Mukansi, DV and Workneh, TS. 2022. The Effect of different storage methods on the quality attributes of *amadumbe* (*Colocasia esculenta l. Schott*) corms and their starches: a review:
- Mukansi, DV and Workneh, TS. 2022. The Effect of different storage methods on the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* (*Colocasia esculenta l. Schott*) corms.

Demian Mukansi (Student) conducted the write-up in all the above manuscripts while the supervisors corrected and proofread the manuscripts.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to the following persons and parties who contributed to the success of this research:

- To God Almighty, who is my Lord and personal saviour. It is through him that I could complete this research in excellent health. It was through His divine wisdom that I always had direction.
- To my mother (Thomani Mudau) and my siblings (Israel Mudau, Bettycia Mukansi, and Delian Mukansi), who have been supportive my whole life. The love you guys have for me kept me going.
- To my Supervisor, Professor Tilahun Seyoum Workneh, from Agricultural Engineering, University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN). For your guidance and support throughout my studies.
- To Prof S Tesfaye, from Department Horticultural Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN), for your academic advice and availability.
- To my pastors (Pst. Chris Esema, Pst Funmi, Esema, Pst Mutetisi, and Pst Habile) for the comforting Word you have been sharing with me and all the prayers you continuously make for me.
- To the Student Christian Fellowship (SCF), my home away from home, I am genuinely grateful for the role that you have played in my spiritual life.
- To my many friends, you guys have been the best and have been genuinely supportive throughout my academic life.
- To Dr. M Chisenga and Dr. GN Tolesa, who guided me in this research.
- To the National Research Foundation (NRF) and Food and Beverage SETA for providing me with financial support.
- To the students of the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science (CAES), for allowing me to be part of the Student Representative Council (SRC) and represent

your academic interests, the extra curriculum gave me a necessary break that kept me focused on my research.

- To the UKZN 44 member SRC, which was led by Moses Nkambako and Philani Mncwabe, for always taking up my duties whenever I focused on my research.
- To UKZN for providing the infrastructure and support needed to conduct this study.
- To the Horticultural Science, Microscopy and Microanalysis Unit, and Nutrition and Dietetics Departments at UKZN for providing the laboratory space, equipment, and expertise.
- To Sandile Dladla, Asavela Notshweleka, Annitta Mqina, and Lungani Fakude for their laboratory assistance and academic support.
- To Udhav Maharaj, Caesar Thato, Steven Cossa, Delian Mukansi, and Fairhope Sibeko for proofreading my research.
- To the Final year Engineering students, who assisted me with the collection of data.

#### ABSTRACT

Amadumbe, the Zulu name for Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott), is an edible aroid. Amadumbe remains an underutilised crop in South Africa, and very little research is available on the post-harvest storage of the tuber. The tuber has gained interest due to nutritional benefits that protect against certain cancers, sugar diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. The tuber is susceptible to microbial spoilage because it has a high moisture content. Therefore, there is a need to store *amadumbe* or process it into flour or starch. However, there is limited research done to evaluate the effect of different storage conditions on the quality attributes of amadumbe grown in South Africa. This study aimed to determine the optimum storage conditions that result in reduced post-harvest quality loss of *amadumbe*. Three different experimental designs were used in this study. The first two experimental designs had two treatments: storage conditions and storage period. The corms were stored in the following storage conditions:(1) Low-cold storage (LC), (2) High-cold storage (HC), (3) CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage (CBEC), (4) Underground storage (U), and (5) Ambient storage (A) as a control). The storage period and sampling for experimental design 1 were days 0, 14, 28, 42, 56, and 70, while experimental design 2 was days 0 and 70. The third experimental design had three treatments: storage conditions (Similar to experimental designs 1 and 2), storage period (0 day, 14 day, 28 day, 42 day, 56 day, and 70 days), and temperature (50°C, 60°C, 70°C,80°C, and 90°C). The corms were all stored in three replications using a completely Randomised Block Design. The results showed that High-cold storage conditions (9.26 – 11.54°C, 97.57 – 100.00 %) followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage conditions (12.32 – 15.72°C, 64.75 -92.76 %) are best storage methods and resulted in a minimal loss in the quality attributes of amadumbe corms, flours, and starches. While Ambient storage conditions (17.30 - 23.59°C, 75.02 – 75.15 %) resulted in a short shelf life and massive loss in quality attributes. High cold storage had the lowest reduction in physiological weight loss, shear force, cutting energy, protein content, starch yield, granular size, swelling power, solubility, and L\* of starch. It had the lowest increase in dry matter content, hardness, toughness, specific gravity, flour yield, ash content, crude fibre, and a\* of flour. High-cold storage also resulted in the highest increase in water and oil holding capacities, fat content, and b\* of starch. Since CoolBot® and evaporative is the second-best storage method, it is recommended that the micro-environment inside a CoolBot® and evaporative cooler be improved by lowering the temperature to 10°C and increasing the ventilation.

SUP	PERV	ISOR'S APPROVALii
DEC	CLAR	ATIONiii
RES	EAR	CH OUTPUTiv
ACK	KNOV	WLEDGEMENTS v
ABS	STRA	.CTvii
LIST	ГOF	FIGURES xiv
LIST	ГOF	TABLESxvi
1.	INT	RODUCTION 1
	1.1	Problem Statement
	1.2	Aims
	1.3	Objectives
	1.4	Research Questions
	1.5	Research Hypothesis
	1.6	Outline of Dissertation Structure
	1.7	References
2.	A RI STO	EVIEW OF POST-HARVEST LOSSES AND THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT PRAGE ENVIRONMENTS ON <i>AMADUMBE</i>
	2.1	Amadumbe
		2.1.1 <i>Amadumbe</i> production and consumption
		2.1.2 Nutritional composition of <i>amadumbe</i>
		2.1.3 Post-harvest Losses of <i>Amadumbe</i>

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	2.2	Post-h	arvest Storage Conditions of Amadumbe	13
		2.2.1	Mechanical refrigeration storage	13
		2.2.2	Evaporative cooler storage	14
		2.2.3	Underground storage pits	15
	2.3	Physic	ological, Mechanical, and Biochemical Properties of Amadumbe	16
		2.3.1	Physiological Properties of amadumbe	16
		2.3.2	Mechanical properties of amadumbe	17
		2.3.3	Biochemical properties of amadumbe	21
	2.4	Physic	cochemical Properties of Amadumbe Flour and Starch	22
		2.4.1	Chemical composition of <i>amadumbe</i> flour and starch	23
		2.4.2	Amadumbe flour and starch granule morphology	25
		2.4.3	Amadumbe flour starch colour	25
		2.4.4	Amadumbe starch and flour water and oil holding capacities	27
		2.4.5	Amadumbe flour and starch swelling power and solubility	27
	2.5	Utilisa	ntion of <i>Amadumbe</i>	29
	2.6	Discus	ssion and Conclusion	30
	2.7	Refere	ences	32
3.	THE	E PHYS	SIOLOGICAL AND MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF AMADUMBE	
	COI	RMS SU	JBJECTED TO DIFFERENT STORAGE METHODS	46
	3.1	Introd	uction	47
	3.2	Materi	ials and Methods	48
		3.2.1	Location and description of <i>amadumbe</i> sampling site	48

	3.2.2	Amadumbe storage conditions and post-harvest sample preparations 48				
	3.2.3	Experimental design 52				
	3.2.4	Data collection				
	3.2.5	Physiological weight loss				
	3.2.6	Hardness and toughness				
	3.2.7	Shear force and cutting energy				
	3.2.8	Specific gravity				
	3.2.9	Dry matter content				
	3.2.10	Data analysis				
3.3	Result	s and Discussion				
	3.3.1	Physiological weight loss				
	3.3.2	Hardness and toughness 59				
	3.3.3	Shear force and cutting energy				
	3.3.4	Specific gravity				
	3.3.5	Dry matter content				
3.4	Conclu	usion				
3.5	References					
РНУ	SICOC	CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF AMADUMBE FLOUR SUBJECTED				
TO	DIFFEF	RENT STORAGE METHODS				
4.1	Introd	uction				
4.2	Materi	Materials and Methods				
	4.2.1	Post-harvest sample preparations				

4.

	4.2.2	Data Collection	. 80
	4.2.3	Experimental design	. 80
	4.2.4	Flour extraction and yield	. 81
	4.2.5	Amadumbe flour proximate composition	. 85
	4.2.6	Amadumbe flour sugar content	. 87
	4.2.7	Amadumbe flour swelling power and solubility	. 88
	4.2.8	Amadumbe flour water and oil holding capacities	. 89
	4.2.9	Amadumbe flour colour	. 89
	4.2.10	Amadumbe flour granule morphology	. 90
	4.2.11	Statistical analysis	. 90
4.3	Result	s and Discussion	. 90
	4.3.1	Flour yield	. 90
	4.3.2	Amadumbe flour proximate composition	. 92
	4.3.3	Amadumbe flour sugar content	. 98
	4.3.4	Amadumbe flour swelling power and solubility	. 99
	4.3.5	Amadumbe flour water and oil holding capacities	108
	4.3.6	Amadumbe flour colour	110
	4.3.7	Amadumbe flour morphology	114
4.4	Conclu	usion	118
4.5	Refere	ences	119
РНУ	SICOC	CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF AMADUMBE STARCH SUBJECTED	
TO	DIFFE	RENT STORAGE METHODS	126

5.

5.1	Introc	luction	7			
5.2	Mater	Materials and Methods 12				
	5.2.1	Post-harvest sample preparations 12	8			
	5.2.2	Data Collection	8			
	5.2.3	Experimental design 12	8			
	5.2.4	Starch extraction and yield 12	9			
	5.2.5	Amadumbe starch granule morphology 13	0			
	5.2.6	Amadumbe starch swelling power and solubility	0			
	5.2.7	Amadumbe starch water and oil holding capacities	1			
	5.2.8	Amadumbe starch colour	1			
5.3	Resul	ts and Discussion13	2			
	5.3.1	Starch yield	2			
	5.3.2	Amadumbe starch morphology	5			
	5.3.3	Amadumbe starch swelling power and solubility	0			
	5.3.4	Amadumbe starch water and oil holding capacities	8			
	5.3.5	Amadumbe starch colour	0			
5.4	Concl	lusion154	4			
5.5	Refer	ences	5			
CC	NCLUS	SION AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	0			
Ur		10				
6.1	Concl	lusion	0			
6.2	Recor	nmendations	2			

6.

6.3	Future research opportunities	163	3
-----	-------------------------------	-----	---

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 2.1	Illustration of the structure of two common amadumbe varieties (Sibiya,         2015)
Figure 2.2	Weight loss of <i>amadumbe</i> over a 20 day storage period under different storage conditions. EC = evaporative cooler storage (Sajeev et al., 2004)14
Figure 2.3	Force vs. deformation curve during cutting and penetration of <i>amadumbe</i> (Sajeev et al., 2004)20
Figure 3.1	Illustration of the underground storage pit used to store <i>amadumbe</i> corms51
Figure 3.2	Experimental design to determine mechanical and physiological properties of amadumbe corms
Figure 3.3	Change in physiological weight loss of <i>amadumbe</i> stored in different conditions. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot $\mathbb{R}$ and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage58
Figure 3.4	The effect of storage on the hardness and toughness of <i>amadumbe</i> . $A =$ Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage
Figure 3.5	The effect of storage on the shear force and cutting energy of <i>amadumbe</i> . A = Ambient storage, $U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® andevaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage$
Figure 4.1	Experimental design to determine the proximate composition and morphology of <i>amadumbe</i> flour
Figure 4.2	Experimental design to determine swelling power and solubility of <i>amadumbe</i> flour
Figure 4.3	The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c) on the swelling power of <i>amadumbe</i> flour103

Figure 4.4	The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c)
	on the solubility of <i>amadumbe</i> flour. $A =$ Ambient storage, $U =$ Underground
	storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold,
	and LC = low-cold storage
Figure 4.5	The effect of storage conditions on the morphology of <i>amadumbe</i> flour (a)
	Flour before storage, (b) Ambient storage, (c) Underground storage, (d)
	CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage, (e) High-cold storage (f) Low-
	cold storage after 70 days117
Figure 5.1	The effect of storage conditions on the morphology of amadumbe starch
	(a) Starch before storage, (b) Ambient storage, (c) Underground storage, (d)
	CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage, (e) High-cold storage (f) Low-
	cold storage after 70 days
Figure 5.2	The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c)
	on the swelling power of <i>amadumbe</i> starch143
Figure 5.3	The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c)
	on the solubility of amadumbe starch. A = Ambient storage, U =
	Underground storage, $EC = CoolBot$ and evaporative cooler storage, $HC =$
	High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	The production of starchy underground, or root, crops in different regions in
	Africa as a percentage of the global production (FAOSTAT, 2017)10
Table 2.2	Proximate composition of <i>amadumbe</i> corms11
Table 2.3	proximate composition of <i>amadumbe</i> , sweet potato, cassava, and potato flour and starch
Table 2.4	The morphology and colour of <i>amadumbe</i> flours and their starches26
Table 2.5	The swelling and solubility of amadumbe flour and their starches at different temperatures
Table 3.1	Temperature and relative humidity values of different storage conditions over 70 days
Table 3.2	Pearson correlation coefficients of <i>amadumbe</i> properties
Table 3.3	The specific gravity of <i>amadumbe</i> subjected to different storage conditions69
Table 3.4	Dry matter content of <i>amadumbe</i> subjected to different storage conditions71
Table 4.1	The yield of flour subjected to different storage conditions
Table 4.2	Proximate composition of <i>amadumbe</i> flour in different storage conditions96
Table 4.3	Correlation between proximate and physicochemical properties of <i>amadumbe</i> flour subjected to different storage conditions
Table 4.4	The reducing sugar content of <i>amadumbe</i> subjected to different storage conditions
Table 4.5	The water and oil holding capacities of <i>amadumbe</i> flour subjected to different storage conditions
Table 4.6	The colour of flour subjected to different storage conditions113
Table 5.1	The yield (%) of <i>amadumbe</i> starch subjected to different storage conditions133

Table 5.2	Correlation between physico-chemical properties of amadumbe starch	
	subjected to different storage conditions	134
Table 5.3	The granular size (µm) of amadumbe starch subjected to different storage conditions	136
Table 5.4	The water and oil holding capacities (%) of <i>amadumbe</i> starch subjected to different storage conditions	152
Table 5.5	The colour of starch subjected to different storage conditions	153

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Amadumbe (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott), also known as Taro, is an edible corm grown in tropical and subtropical regions (Mawoyo et al., 2017). The world production of amadumbe stands at approximately 10.2 million tons, and 73 % of that is produced in Africa. The exact quantity of amadumbe produced in South Africa is unknown (DAFF, 2011; Muinat et al., 2017). The crop is currently underutilised and produced by small-scale farmers in KwaZulu-Natal, Mpumalanga, Eastern Cape, and Limpopo (Mare, 2009; Mabhaudhi and Modi, 2015). Amadumbe has attracted research interest recently, which has resulted in the commodity gaining entry into South Africa's major retail outlets (Mabhaudhi et al., 2017). This development means that the shelf life of the tuber needs to be improved to ensure that it's available for extended periods in the market. The tuber also needs to be processed into other products to ensure that it is available year-round. The tuber has gained recognition due to the health-related benefits it confers to consumers (Falade and Okafor, 2015). This tuber has high resistance starch, which resists the absorption of glucose in the small intestine and helps in reducing health issues like diabetes and obesity (Liu et al., 2006). Amadumbe has a high carotene content, which helps protect consumers from certain chronic diseases (Kaushal et al., 2015)

The utilisation of tubers is moving from direct consumption to processed products such as fries, spices, mash, and canned products (Bekele and Haile, 2019). According to Carputo *et al.* (2004) and Kirkman (2007), about 60 % of all potatoes produced in developed countries are consumed as processed products. Kirkman (2007) reported that this trend is due to the consumer's change in lifestyle, which generally prefers convenience over direct consumption that usually requires more time and effort before use. However, for processing to occur, processers need the tubers to be of high quality. According to Hollyer *et al.* (2000), the processing of *amadumbe* chips is similar to the processing of potato chips; thus, the quality attributes for both tubers should be of comparable standards. Naziri *et al.* (2014) and Pérez *et al.* (2005) showed that cassava and *amadumbe* have high moisture content and proposed that the commodity must be consumed or processed immediately after harvesting. However, processing does not always happen immediately. Therefore, there is a need to design storage facilities that will improve the shelf life of tubers. Besides designing storage facilities, processing of *amadumbe* is essential because

it makes the tuber palatable, extends its shelf life, and reduces post-harvest losses (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015).

One of the techniques used for maintaining the quality and shelf life of *amadumbe* is low-temperature storage. Even though low-temperature storage is effective at sprout suppression and extending the shelf life of tubers, it comes with other quality deterioration challenges. Storage of potatoes and *amadumbe* tubers at low temperature enhances the conversion of starch to reducing sugars, resulting in potatoes that are not suitable for the processing industry (Baidoo *et al.*, 2014; Kiaitsi *et al.*, 2020). Tubers with high reducing sugars are not ideal because of the dark fry colour, which is undesirable to consumers (Foukaraki *et al.*, 2016). High-temperature storage is also not desirable because it increases the respiration rate of *amadumbe* (Agbor-Egbe and Rickard, 1991; Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). The majority of *amadumbe* producers are small-scale farmers that don't have access to environmentally controlled storage units (Paul *et al.*, 2016). The farmers use on-farm storage methods, which can reduce the temperature of the storage chamber below ambient conditions (Mehta *et al.*, 2010). Evaporative coolers are affordable alternative storage systems that small-scale farmers can use. They can lower the temperature and increase the relative humidity to conditions that are more conducive for the storage of fruits and vegetables (Tolesa and Workneh, 2017).

The quality of *amadumbe* is determined using biochemical, physiological, and mechanical properties. These properties are important because they give the commodity value. The external properties influence the consumer's acceptability of the product (Mare, 2009). At the same time, the processors use intrinsic properties to determine the suitability of the tuber for processing (Kader and Rolle, 2004). The qualities of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches are influenced by storage conditions. Therefore, the current study was undertaken to evaluate the quality attributes of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches subjected to different storage conditions.

#### 1.1 Problem Statement

The problem statement of this research is as follows:

The current long-term storage method of tubers uses controlled storage facilities such as refrigerators. These methods require high capital and operating costs which is not sustainable for small-scale farmers. CoolBot® and evaporative cooler and underground storage pits are

affordable and readily available methods that can be used to store tubers. However, there hasn't been much work done to evaluate the impact of these methods on the physiological, mechanical, and biochemical properties of corms, flours, and starches of South African *amadumbe* cultivars. The present study assesses the effect of different storage methods on the quality attributes of the commonly cultivated amadumbe variety (*Dumbe-dumbe*) in South Africa.

#### 1.2 Aims

The aim of this research is:

To determine the storage conditions that result in reduced post-harvest quality loss of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches.

### 1.3 Objectives

The objectives of this research are:

### **1.3.1 General objectives**

The objectives of this research are:

- a) To evaluate and analyse the effect of the following storage methods: Ambient (A), Underground pit (U), CoolBot® and evaporative cooler (CBEC), High-Cold (HC), and Low-cold (LC) on the quality attributes of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and their starches.
- b) To determine whether a controlled environment such as mechanical refrigeration is required for short-term storage of *amadumbe* by analysing and evaluating the quality properties of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and their starches.

#### **1.3.2** Specific objectives

The specific objectives of this chapter are as follows:

- a) To determine and analyse the effect of different storage conditions on the physiological, and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms.
- b) To determine and analyse the effect of different storage conditions on the physicochemical properties of Amadumbe flour.
- c) To determine and analyse the effect of different storage conditions on the physicochemical properties of Amadumbe starch.

#### 1.4 Research Questions

To achieve the research objectives, the following research questions will be answered:

- a) What is the effect of storage conditions on the mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe* corms?
- b) What is the effect of *amadumbe* storage conditions on the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour?
- c) What is the effect of *amadumbe* storage conditions on the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch?

#### **1.5** Research Hypothesis

The hypothesis of this study is as follows:

- a) High-cold storage will significantly impact maintaining the mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe* corms.
- b) High-cold storage will significantly impact maintaining the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour.
- c) High-cold storage will significantly impact maintaining the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch.

#### **1.6 Outline of Dissertation Structure**

This dissertation comprises of six chapters:

- a) Chapter 1: Introduction.
- b) Chapter 2: A review of post-harvest losses and the effect of different storage environments on *amadumbe*.
- c) Chapter 3: The physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage methods.

- d) Chapter 4: Physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour subjected to different storage methods.
- e) Chapter 5: Physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch subjected to different storage methods.
- f) Chapter 10: Conclusion, recommendation, and future research opportunities.

#### 1.7 References

- Agbor-Egbe, T and Rickard, JE. 1991. Study on the factors affecting storage of edible aroids. Annals of Applied Biology 119 (1): 121-130.
- Baidoo, E, Akonor, P and Tortoe, C. 2014. Effect of pre-treatment and storage condition on the physicochemical properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta [L.] Schott) flour. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition Engineering* 4 (4): 91-97.

Bekele, T and Haile, B. 2019. Evaluation of improved potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties for some quality attributes at Shebench Woreda of Bench-Maji Zone, Southwestern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 14 (7): 389-394.

- Carputo, D, Aversano, R and Frusciante, L.2004. Breeding potato for quality traits. In: eds. Casa, R and Viola, R, *Meeting of the Physiology Section of the European Association* for Potato Research 684, 55-64. International Society for Horticultural Science, Leuven, Belgium
- DAFF. 2011. Production guidelines for amadumbe (Colocasia esculenta) [Internet]. Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries Available from: <u>https://www.daff.gov.za/Daffweb3/Portals/0/Brochures%20and%20Production%20gu</u> <u>idelines/Production%20Guidelines%20Amadumbe.pdf</u>. [Accessed: 17 January 2020].
- Falade, KO and Okafor, CA. 2015. Physical, functional, and pasting properties of flours from corms of two Cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta and Xanthosoma sagittifolium) cultivars. *Journal of food science and technology* 52 (6): 3440-3448.
- Hollyer, J, Paull, R and Huang, A. 2000. Processing taro chips. *Food Manfucturing Technology* 1 (1): 21-22.
- Kader, AA and Rolle, RS. 2004. *The role of post-harvest management in assuring the quality and safety of horticultural produce*. Food & Agriculture Organisation., Rome, Italy.

Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2015. Utilization of taro (Colocasia esculenta): a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 52 (1): 27-40.

- Kiaitsi, E, Tosetti, R and Terry, LA. 2020. Susceptibility to blackheart disorder in potato tubers is influenced by sugar and phenolic profile. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 162 (2): 94-111.
- Kirkman, MA. 2007. Global markets for processed potato products. In: ed. Vreugdenhil, D, *Potato Biology and Biotechnology*. Elsevier, Leicestershire, United Kingdom.
- Liu, Q, Donner, E, Yin, Y, Huang, R and Fan, M. 2006. The physicochemical properties and in vitro digestibility of selected cereals, tubers and legumes grown in China. *Food Chemistry* 99 (3): 470-477.
- Mabhaudhi, T, Chimonyo, VG and Modi, AT. 2017. Status of underutilised crops in South Africa: opportunities for developing research capacity. *Sustainability* 9 (9): 15-32.
- Mabhaudhi, T and Modi, A. 2015. Drought tolerance of selected south african taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) landraces. *Experimental agriculture* 51 (3): 451-466.
- Mare, R. 2009. Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) yield and quality response to planting date and organic fertilisation. Unpublished PhD thesis, School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Mawoyo, B, Adebola, P, Gerrano, AS and Amonsou, E. 2017. Effect of genotypes and growth locations on composition and functional properties of *amadumbe* flours. *Journal of food science and technology* 54 (11): 3577-3586.
- Mehta, A, Singh, B, Ezekiel, R and Kumar, D. 2010. Effect of CIPC on sprout inhibition and processing quality of potatoes stored under traditional storage systems in India. *Potato research* 53 (1): 1-15.

Muinat, NL, Mulidzi, AR, Gerrano, AS and Adebola, PO. 2017. Comparative growth and yield of taro (Colocasia esculenta) accessions cultivated in the Western Cape, South Africa. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology* 19 (3):

- Naziri, D, Quaye, W, Siwoku, B, Wanlapatit, S, Viet Phu, T and Bennett, B. 2014. The diversity of postharvest losses in cassava value chains in selected developing countries. *Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development in the Tropics and Subtropics* 115 (2): 111-123.
- Paul, V, Ezekiel, R and Pandey, R. 2016. Sprout suppression on potato: need to look beyond CIPC for more effective and safer alternatives. *Journal of food science and technology* 53 (1): 1-18.

- Pérez, E, Schultz, FS and de Delahaye, EP. 2005. Characterization of some properties of starches isolated from Xanthosoma sagittifolium (tannia) and Colocassia esculenta (taro). *Carbohydrate polymers* 60 (2): 139-145.
- Sajeev, M, Manikantan, M, Kingsly, A, Moorthy, S and Sreekumar, J. 2004. Texture analysis of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) cormels during storage and cooking. *Journal of Food Science* 69 (7): 315-321.
- Tolesa, G and Workneh, T.2017. Effects of evaporative cooling and CoolBot air conditioning on changes in the environmental conditions inside the cooling chamber. In: eds. Opara, U and Hoffman, E, VII International Conference on Managing Quality in Chains (MQUIC2017) and II International Symposium on Ornamentals in 1201, 281-288. International Society for Horticultural Science, Stellenbosch, South Africa.

# 2. A REVIEW OF POST-HARVEST LOSSES AND THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT STORAGE ENVIRONMENTS ON *AMADUMBE*

The storage temperature and relative humidity of the storage environment of fruits and vegetables can significantly impact post-harvest losses. These extrinsic factors influence the quality attributes of fruit and vegetable. This review will assess the impact of storage environments on the post-harvest loss of *amadumbe*.

#### 2.1 Amadumbe

Amadumbe, the Zulu name for Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott), is an edible aroid in the Araceae family (Shange, 2004; Muinat et al., 2017). It is also known as Dasheen, Kolokasie, Eddoe, and old cocoyam (Kaushal et al., 2015). Amadumbe is one of the most important species of aroids used as a staple food in tropical and subtropical regions (Agbor-Egbe and Rickard, 1991; Modi, 2007; Gerrano et al., 2019). It has more fibre and ash content than sweet potatoes and cassava (Gerrano et al., 2019). This high fibre content helps regulate blood sugar levels (Kaushal et al., 2015). The nutritional content of amadumbe differs due to different factors such as geographical location, cultivar, and environmental factors (Tattiyakul et al., 2006; Naidoo et al., 2015; Mawoyo et al., 2017). The different varieties of amadumbe include Alocasia macrorrhiza (Giant taro), Colocasia esculenta (amadumbe), Cyrtosperma merkusii (Giant swamp taro), and Xanthosoma sagittifolium (cocoyam) (Kaushal et al., 2015). According to Gerrano et al. (2019), amadumbe remains an underutilised crop in South Africa, and there is limited information on the agronomic productivity of the crop. In South Africa, the common varieties are Dasheen (var. esculenta) and the Eddoe (var. antiquorum) (Sibiya, 2015). From Figure 2.1, the Dasheen type produces a large corm and few side cormels, while the Eddoe type produces a small corm with many side cormels. The most cultivated amadumbe cultivar in South Africa is Dumbe-dumbe (Modi and Bornman, 2004). This cultivar can be characterised as having a red petiole at the upper 3 - 5 cm. The tuber is cultivated between September and October and is harvested around April to July (Mare, 2009). So, storage and proper techniques are needed to guarantee year-round availability.



Figure 2.1 Illustration of the structure of two common *amadumbe* varieties (Sibiya, 2015)

#### 2.1.1 *Amadumbe* production and consumption

Table 2.1 shows the global production of *amadumbe*, potatoes, sweet potatoes, and cassava. The world production of *amadumbe* is approximately 10.2 million tons.yr<sup>-1,</sup> of which 73 % is produced in Africa (FAOSTAT, 2017). Western Africa is the largest producer of *amadumbe* globally. Most production occurs in Cameroon, Nigeria, Ghana, and Burkina Faso (Chaïr *et al.*, 2016). There is limited information on the production of *amadumbe* in Southern Africa (FAOSTAT, 2017). DAFF (2011) also reported that there is currently no record of the production of *amadumbe* in South Africa. However, *amadumbe* is widely grown in the subtropical parts of South Africa, including Mpumalanga, Limpopo, Eastern Cape, and KwaZulu-Natal (Mare, 2009; McEwan *et al.*, 2014). It is not extensively commercialised at present as it is grown mainly by small-scale farmers in rural areas (Mngadi *et al.*, 2015). *Amadumbe* is a source of dietary starches and can be processed by baking, boiling, and roasting, and its leaves are cooked like spinach or as a salad (McEwan *et al.*, 2014). Africa produces more cassava and *amadumbe* than any other continent because the tubers are consumed as a staple food due to their high starch content (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a; Singla *et al.*, 2020).

Crop	Global Commodity produced	Commodity produced by region %					
	(tons)	Africa	Western Africa	Eastern Africa	Northern Africa	Southern Africa	Middle Africa
Cassava	279304523	60.27	32.75	10.61	_	_	16.91
Sweet potatoes	91219184	29.10	6.37	19.31	0.67	0.09	2.66
Potatoes	373774234	6.82	0.70	1.92	3.36	0.50	0.34
Taro	10529092	73.68	47.00	4.90	1.04	_	20.73

Table 2.1The production of starchy underground, or root, crops in different regionsin Africa as a percentage of the global production (FAOSTAT, 2017)

(-) implies that the parameter was not studied.

The presences of calcium oxalate crystals limit the consumption of *amadumbe* due to its association with acridity factors which cause irritation and burning upon consumption (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). The acridity can be reduced by cooking the tubers before consumption (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). *Amadumbe* starch has health benefits due to resistant starch and carotene (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015).

The resistant starch content of *amadumbe* was reported to be about 51.50 % of the total dry matter content (Liu *et al.*, 2006; Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). The resistance starch in *amadumbe* was found to be more than maize (1.30 %), rice (6.50 %), potatoes (22.50 %), and wheat (1.00 %) (Van Hung *et al.*, 2016; Van Hung *et al.*, 2017; Liang *et al.*, 2019). *Amadumbe* and yellow sweet potatoes were reported to have high carotene content. (Englberger *et al.*, 2003; Huang *et al.*, 2007). Foods with high carotene content help protect against certain cancers, eye diseases, and cardiovascular diseases (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.1.2 Nutritional composition of *amadumbe*

The chemical composition of *amadumbe* corms grown in different countries is presented in Table 2.2. The chemical composition varied among the different countries.

Country	Moisture (%)	Ash (%)	Protein (%)	Lipids (%)	Fibre (%)	Carbohydrates (%)	References
Nigeria	63.00 - 85.00	0.60 - 1.28	1.36 - 3.00	0.18 - 0.39	_	13.00 - 29.00	Onwueme and Charles (1994)
United States of America	65.80 - 72.40	1.00 - 1.80	1.10 - 1.90	0.20	3.60 - 3.80	_	Huang et al. (2000)
India	_	0.80	1.50	0.20	4.10	26.40	(Rashmi et al., 2018)
China	63.60 -72.40	0.90 - 1.40	1.80 - 2.60	0.09 - 0.15	_	_	Huang et al. (2007)
Tanzania	68.36	1.82	3.89	0.37	1.16	24.43	(Ndabikunze et al., 2011)
South Africa	89.00	3.30 - 4.40	4.50 - 5.04	0.28 - 0.80	_	_	(McEwan <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
Uganda	69.05	3.56	3.70	0.51	1.53	21.65	(Ndabikunze et al., 2011)
China	82.88	0.76	2.18	0.09	1.37	_	(Yu et al., 2016)
Papua New Guinea	55.80 - 74.40	0.80 - 1.20	0.50 - 2.10	0.40 - 0.50	3.30 - 5.10	_	(Wills et al., 1983)

Table 2.2Proximate composition of *amadumbe* corms.

(-) Implies that the parameter was not studied.

These chemical and nutritional composition differences can be ascribed to differences in cultivar, geographical location, maturity stage, planting period, and planting conditions (Naidoo et al., 2015; Mawoyo et al., 2017; Rashmi et al., 2018). Huang et al. (2007) reported that upland cultivated amadumbe retained more moisture and could resist water shortage than amadumbe cultivated in flooded conditions. The moisture content ranged from (55.80 - 89.00 %). This high moisture content makes amadumbe susceptible to microbial spoilage (Kaushal et al., 2015). Therefore, amadumbe is processed into flour to increase its availability in the market (Njintang and Mbofung, 2003). Amadumbe has a high fibre content (5.10 %) than potatoes (2.30 %), sweet potatoes (2.30 %), and cassava (0.90 %) (Ukom et al., 2009; Somendrika et al., 2016; Rashmi et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2019). This high fibre content regulates blood sugar levels and aid with the digestion of consumers (Adepoju and Adejumo, 2015). The ash content of *amadumbe* (4.40 %) was found to be less than potatoes (5.80 %) (Huang et al., 2000; Liang et al., 2019). Even though low as compared to potatoes, the ash content could infer that amadumbe has a high mineral content (Kaushal et al., 2012). The nutritional quality of amadumbe can be affected by post-harvest losses such as sprouting. According to Burton (1955) and Paul et al. (2016), if the weight of sprouts reaches 1 % of the tuber's total weight, then the tuber's respiration increases by 50 %, which causes the hydrolysis of starch to increase.

#### 2.1.3 Post-harvest Losses of Amadumbe

Post-harvest losses refer to the unintentional loss of food intended for human consumption throughout the value chain (Bendinelli *et al.*, 2019). The level of post-harvest losses in Africa is estimated to be about 30 - 50 % of the total fresh produce market (Kuyu *et al.*, 2019a). The biggest challenge that causes post-harvest losses of fruits, vegetables, tubers, and root crops is the lack of proper storage infrastructures (Kuyu *et al.*, 2019a). Poor transportation and road networks have also been identified as the leading factors to both quantitative and qualitative food losses (Nourbakhsh *et al.*, 2016). The temperature and relative humidity have been classified as the primary contributor to food losses; hence fresh produce should be kept at the recommended storage temperature (Vigneault *et al.*, 2009). The causes of post-harvest losses are classified into three groups: biological, socio-economic, and environmental (Kader, 2002; Babaremu *et al.*, 2019).

Post-harvest decay of up to 60 % was recorded by Agbor-Egbe and Rickard (1991) after storing *amadumbe* and tannia *(Xanthomosa sagittiform)* for 5 to 6 weeks. This value is higher than the

post-harvest loss of potatoes (14.14 – 18.82 %), sweet potatoes (19.3 %), and cassava (40 %) stored for five weeks (Jenkins and PD, 1982; Ray and Ravi, 2005; Naziri *et al.*, 2014; Kuyu *et al.*, 2019b). The significant drivers of post-harvest losses are storage temperature, relative humidity, and storage duration (Kuyu *et al.*, 2019b). Other factors contributing to *amadumbe* post-harvest losses are damage during harvesting, respiration, sprouting, and microbial decay (Baidoo *et al.*, 2014). Compared to potatoes, the information on post-harvest technology for storing *amadumbe* is limited (Lewu *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, there is a need to determine the effect of different storage conditions on the chemical composition of *amadumbe* to develop *amadumbe* post-harvest storage infrastructures.

#### 2.2 Post-harvest Storage Conditions of Amadumbe

Post-harvest storage management centres on the control of temperature, relative humidity, and proper packaging. The commonly practiced post-harvest storage technologies of *amadumbe* include mechanical refrigeration, evaporative cooling, and underground pits.

#### 2.2.1 Mechanical refrigeration storage

Mechanical refrigeration results in a reduction in the respiration rate of fruits and vegetables, which reduces their deterioration rate (Jiménez-Zurita *et al.*, 2017). Storing *amadumbe* at temperatures below 10°C can cause chilling injuries and promote starch breaking down into reducing sugars (Mehta *et al.*, 2010; Paull and Ching, 2015). In contrast, Malaki *et al.* (2003) reported that no chilling injury occurred in *amadumbe* when stored below 5°C. This finding is not consistent with studies done on other tubers. Li *et al.* (2018) reported that temperatures below 5°C were not suitable for storing tropical tubers as it increases the reducing sugar content. Niu *et al.* (2019) also reported that tropical tubers stored at temperatures below 10°C are susceptible to chilling injuries. According to Herman *et al.* (2017), for potatoes to have a prolonged shelf life, high specific gravity, and low reducing sugar content, they must be stored at 9°C. Sanchez *et al.* (2013) reported that keeping cassava roots at ambient temperatures of 16.5 - 32.1°C resulted in a decreased weight loss, swelling power, gel clarity, starch content, and an increase in total sugars, respiration rate, and paste viscosity.

Figure 2.2 shows changes in the weight loss of *amadumbe* stored in a refrigerator, evaporative cooler, and ambient storage conditions. It depicts that the smallest weight loss occurred to

*amadumbe* stored in refrigerated storage conditions compared to ambient and evaporative storage conditions. The lower weight loss in refrigerated conditions is due to lower temperature and higher relative humidity conditions (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). Despite the numerous environmental control advantages of mechanical refrigeration systems, it is energy-intensive and requires a high initial capital which most small-scale farmers may not possess (Seweh *et al.*, 2016; Gao *et al.*, 2019). This has prompted researchers and small-scale farmers to resort to low-cost storage technologies such as evaporative coolers and underground storage pits.



Figure 2.2 Weight loss of *amadumbe* over a 20 day storage period under different storage conditions. EC = evaporative cooler storage (Sajeev et al., 2004).

#### 2.2.2 Evaporative cooler storage

Evaporative coolers (EC) are used to maintain high relative humidity in the storage chamber, which results in a lower weight loss. The key advantage of evaporative coolers is that they are easy to use and affordable to small-scale farmers (Jiménez-Zurita *et al.*, 2017; Babaremu *et al.*, 2019). An EC can keep the temperature between  $6 - 12^{\circ}$ C below ambient conditions (Singh and Ezekiel, 2003). Tolesa and Workneh (2017) observed that evaporative cooler storage effectively kept the relative humidity at a range of 95.00 – 98.60 %. However, they obtained a temperature of  $17 - 22^{\circ}$ C, which is above the recommended storage temperature for most fruits and vegetables. To reduce the temperature, they combined CoolBot® air condition and evaporative cooler storage and achieved temperatures in the range of  $8 - 15^{\circ}$ C (Tolesa and

Workneh, 2017). A CoolBot® system converts an air conditioning system into a cooler by changing the setting of an air conditioner to allow lower temperatures in the range of  $0 - 2^{\circ}$ C (Saran *et al.*, 2013). These technologies have been created to control environmental properties such as temperature and relative humidity (Babaremu *et al.*, 2018). Presently no work has been done to evaluate the effect of CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage conditions on the quality of *amadumbe*. In Figure 2.2, an evaporative cooler with environmental conditions of  $(26.20 - 33.90^{\circ}C, 59 - 92\%)$  achieved a lower percentage weight loss of 21.50% than 23.40% achieved during ambient storage conditions. Due to the technical challenges relating to the availability, ease of use and designing of evaporative coolers, small-scale farmers still make use of traditional storage methods such as underground storage pits.

#### 2.2.3 Underground storage pits

Storage pits are one of the on-field methods used by farmers for the short-term storage of fruits and vegetables. The on-farm methods are cost-effective and help extend the shelf life of tubers for a short-term of about 2 - 4 months (Paul *et al.*, 2016). These storage pits can keep the temperature and relative humidity in the range of  $28 - 30^{\circ}$ C and  $38 - 66^{\circ}$ %, respectively (Singh and Ezekiel, 2003). However, in another study, Mehta et al. (2010) reported that the temperature and relative humidity were in the range of  $21 - 32^{\circ}$ C and  $51 - 95^{\circ}$ %, respectively. This difference may be because the experiments were conducted in different climatic conditions.

Traditional storage methods differ in efficiency; as a result, the weight loss of potatoes stored in underground storage pits can range between 15 - 80 % (Ezekiel *et al.*, 1999). The weight loss is influenced by the storage period, the type of storage, and the maturity stage of the tuber (Paul *et al.*, 2016). Obetta *et al.* (2007) studied the effect of ventilation on the storage of *amadumbe*. The results showed that having an improved ventilation system can reduce the temperature by 2.3 °C and increase the relative humidity by 11 %. The percentage weight loss of 13.50 % obtained in refrigeration storage condition (10°C, 65 %) by Sajeev *et al.* (2004) is in the same range of the 8.10 – 20.20 % reported by Obetta *et al.* (2007) in underground storage (28.60 –30.90°C, 72 – 83 %). This is because relative humidity plays a significant role in fruit storage. When kept high, it results in the development of fungal diseases, but when kept low, it results in excessive weight loss (de Oliveira *et al.*, 2016). The loss in weight that occurs when fruits are stored at low relative humidity is due to an increase in the vapour pressure difference, which causes the transpiration rate to increase (Ramaswamy, 2014).

Agbor-Egbe and Rickard (1991) found that increasing relative humidity decreases the respiration rate and results in a lower weight loss of *amadumbe* under controlled temperature. According to Singh and Ezekiel (2003), the dormancy stage influences the weight loss of tubers stored at different relative humidity's. Dormant tubers lose more weight at a low relative humidity between 30 - 35 %, while sprouted tubers lose more at 90 - 95 %. This increased weight loss in sprouted tubers is due to a higher permeability through the sprouts. According to Burton (1955) and Paul *et al.* (2016), if the weight of sprouts reaches 1 % of the tuber's total weight, then the tuber's respiration increases by 50 %. The storage of *amadumbe* in underground pits is a common practice in countries such as Samoa and Egypt (Onwueme and Charles, 1994). However, most of these studies only focused on the shelf life rather than the physicochemical properties and suitability of the tubers for various processing industries. Since different storage environments influence the quality of *amadumbe*, there is a need to quantify these changes from the perspective of physiological, mechanical, and biochemical properties of *amadumbe*.

#### 2.3 Physiological, Mechanical, and Biochemical Properties of *Amadumbe*

Quality is one of the most vital properties of tubers, and it is quantified using both internal and external properties of the tuber. The external properties give the commodity value by attracting the consumer's desire to buy the product. On the other hand, the internal properties are essential to processors because internal properties influence the quality and the profit of the processing product. All these attributes can be grouped into physiological, mechanical, and biochemical factors, which are used to assess the quality of *amadumbe*.

#### 2.3.1 Physiological Properties of amadumbe

*Amadumbe* are living tissues and will continue to respire even after harvest. A higher respiration rate increases tissue aging and limits the tuber's repel of micro-organisms (Tano *et al.*, 2005). To limit post-harvest losses, it is necessary to control the metabolism of *amadumbe* because an increase in respiration rate causes an increase in physiological weight loss.

#### 2.3.1.1 Respiration of amadumbe

Respiration is a metabolic process that provides plants with the required energy for biochemical and physiological processes (Fonseca *et al.*, 2002). Respiration is achieved by the breaking down of complex organic molecules into simpler ones that include  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2O$ , and energy releases (González-Buesa and Salvador, 2019). Therefore understanding all the factors that influence respiration is vital to generate strategies to reduce the respiration rate (Guo *et al.*, 2013). The respiration rate of fresh produce is influenced by the produce's genotype, climate, and stage of maturity (Meena and Asrey, 2018). Measuring respiration is very useful when designing modified atmospheric packaging (MAP) (Kahramanoğlu, 2019). Measuring respiration is done by quantifying the amount of  $O_2$  consumed or the  $CO_2$  produced by the product (Bhande *et al.*, 2008).

#### 2.3.1.2 Physiological weight loss of *amadumbe*

Weight loss occurs due to a loss in moisture associated with the storage of fruits and vegetables. Abbasi *et al.* (2016) reported that weight loss occurred at all temperatures during storage, but the weight loss for potatoes stored at 5°C was lower than those held at 15 and 25 °C. Weight loss occurred at all temperatures due to moisture loss by evapotranspiration and loss of dry matter due to respiration (Ghazavi and Houshmand, 2010). There is a direct relationship between storage temperature and loss of moisture because temperature affects the respiration rate. Therefore, there is a need to determine the optimum storage method of *amadumbe* with minimal weight loss while preserving other quality attributes. Other quality attributes include mechanical properties like texture which influences the consumer's acceptability of tubers.

#### 2.3.2 Mechanical properties of amadumbe

Physical properties necessary for processing and engineering purposes can be classified as mechanical properties (Masood and Trujillo, 2016). These properties are used in equipment design for storage, transportation, and processing (de Figueiredo *et al.*, 2011). They are some of the factors consumers use to determine the suitability of *amadumbe* for consumption (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). Specific gravity and dry matter content are used in the crisp-making industry to determine the suitability of the tubers for processing (Abebe *et al.*, 2013). Thus, it becomes crucial to consider the mechanical properties of amadumbe under different storage conditions.

#### 2.3.2.1 Specific gravity

Specific gravity is used as an indicator of tuber quality because of the strong Pearson's correlation to dry matter content and starch content which range from 0.96 - 1 (Mohammed, 2016). The specific gravity should be high for processing purposes, but tubers with high specific gravity are susceptible to bruising (Bekele and Haile, 2019). The current method of measuring and calculating the specific gravity is influenced by all the factors that affect the buoyancy of tubers in water. The skin of *amadumbe* tubers is made of layers of corky cells which trap gas in between the layers, thus affecting the buoyancy of the tuber (Kleinkopf *et al.*, 1987). Hallow heart, which is the cavity at the centre of tubers, also impacts the buoyancy and ability to take accurate measurements of specific gravity.

The specific gravity of tubers also declines from head to tail within an individual tuber, with the central part giving a more accurate representation of the whole tuber (Kleinkopf *et al.*, 1987; Teye *et al.*, 2011). The water and tuber pulp temperatures also impact the buoyancy of tubers. Thus, corrections are needed for temperature if the measurement is carried out at different temperatures (Kleinkopf *et al.*, 1987). The production of potato crisps requires potatoes with a specific gravity higher the 1.08 (Hollyer *et al.*, 2000). The higher the specific gravity, the less oil is absorbed during processing (Kirkman, 2007; Abebe *et al.*, 2013). Thus, a high specific gravity will be suitable for reducing operating costs (Hollyer *et al.*, 2000). Since the processing of *amadumbe* chips is similar to potato chips, the quality must be of comparable levels to produce good quality chips.

Mare (2009) reported the specific gravity of South African *amadumbe* tubers to range between 0.97 - 1.09, making some of them suitable for processing into chips. Since the storage of *amadumbe* has a significant impact on the degradation of starch (Modi and Mare, 2016), there is a need to evaluate whether this will have an impact on the specific gravity. Studies in literature have not reported any study that evaluated the impact of different storage conditions on specific gravity of *amadumbe*.

#### 2.3.2.2 Dry matter content

The dry matter content of tubers is a vital parameter often linked with the product's nutritional value (Nielsen *et al.*, 2016). Determination of dry matter content is crucial for both the

processor and researchers who want to monitor the nutrition of potatoes and sweet potatoes (Pinhero *et al.*, 2016). The traditional method for indirectly measuring dry matter content using the density of potatoes, as described by Nissen (1955), is time-consuming. Su and Sun (2017) also attest that conventional dry matter content determination methods are labour intensive, destructive, and inefficient in most cases. To mitigate this, Nielsen *et al.* (2016) used dielectric spectroscopy in the microwave frequency band by looking at the interaction of electric fields and biological tissues to measure the dry matter content. Hoque *et al.* (2018) measured dry matter by heating potatoes in an oven at 65 °C for at least 48 hours till the potatoes reached a constant weight. The same approach was used by Bekele and Haile (2019), at 105°C for 3 hours. Heating at high temperatures needs to be done for a small duration (2 – 3 hours) because drying at temperatures greater than 60°C for longer durations causes chemical changes in the sample that affect subsequent testing (Adegunwa *et al.*, 2011; Bekele and Haile, 2019). Despite the method being old, it is still favoured as it gives reliable results (Mohammed, 2016).

#### 2.3.2.3 Texture

The texture is a vital attribute in determining the overall quality and the consumer acceptability of fruits and vegetables (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). Afoakwa and Sefa-Dedeh (2002) reported that texture is one of the three main qualities consumers use in determining the acceptability of fruits and vegetables, the others being flavour and appearance. External attributes of food quality include firmness. Thus, preserving this attribute is vital in gaining consumer acceptability (Carputo *et al.*, 2004; Bekele and Haile, 2019). Textural parameters are measured using a texture analyser with test parameters, such as distance, test speed, pre and post-test speeds (Afoakwa and Sefa-Dedeh, 2002). Figure 2.3 illustrates a typical force vs. deformation curve during the compression and cutting of *amadumbe* corms. The peak of the compression test gives the hardness, and the area under the curve gives the toughness. The peak of the cutting test gives the cutting force, whiles the area under the curve gives the cutting energy (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004).

A study by Sajeev *et al.* (2004) reported that the texture parameters such as hardness, cutting force, cutting energy, and toughness, increased during storage of 20. The same results were obtained by Afoakwa and Sefa-Dedeh (2002) on trifoliate yam (*Dioscorea dumetorum*) tubers just after 72 hours of harvest. The increase in texture parameters is due to the thickening of the cell wall concomitant with the lignification of tissues. Biochemical reactions between
components present in *amadumbe* corms, such as calcium-induced hardness of pectin and the reduction of moisture, increase the texture parameters (Afoakwa and Sefa-Dedeh, 2002; Sajeev *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, it is important to determine how a loss in moisture will influence biochemical reactions that change the texture properties of the tubers.



Figure 2.3 Force vs. deformation curve during cutting and penetration of *amadumbe* (Sajeev et al., 2004)

### 2.3.3 Biochemical properties of *amadumbe*

Biochemical properties are the chemical composition that is found in the tubers. The biochemical properties are used mostly by processors to access the value and suitability of the tuber for processing. Starch quality is one of the crucial factors that processors use to determine the suitability of the flour or starch for various processes. Some of the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch are granular morphology, water, and oil holding capacities, swelling power, and solubility.

# 2.3.3.1 Reducing sugars

Low-temperature storage is used to prevent sprouting and decay in tubers. However, total sugar accumulation occurs in tubers when stored at temperatures below 10°C (Lin et al., 2019). Kiaitsi et al. (2020) also reported that storing potatoes at 1.5°C resulted in the accumulation of reducing sugars. Reducing sugars are responsible for enzymatic browning during the frying of potato crisps which is not desirable for consumers (Xiao *et al.*, 2018). Enzymatic browning is undesirable as it leads to the formation of a cancer-causing substance known as acrylamide due to reactions between reducing sugars and amino acid asparagine (Lin et al., 2017). Amadumbe chips also need to have low levels of reducing sugar content to produce good quality chips (Hollyer et al., 2000). Although low-temperature storage can be used as a sprout suppressing technique, the challenge that comes with increased reducing sugar content still needs more scientific attention (Paul et al., 2016). The combination of glucose and fructose makes up the reducing sugar content in tubers (Ngobese et al., 2017). The standard method of measuring sugars is high-pressure liquid chromatography, which separates sugars based on their polarity (Magwaza and Opara, 2015). Baidoo et al. (2014) reported that reducing sugar content in *amadumbe* ranged between 1.8 - 1.9 % at room temperature and 1.8 - 2.1 % at cold storage for 21 days. This differs from 0.3 - 0.5 % recorded by Mare (2009) after three months of storage. These differences may be due to differences in amadumbe cultivars tested. Thus, there is a need to evaluate how South African *amadumbe* cultivars behave under different storage conditions.

## 2.3.3.2 Starch

Starch is one of the largest biomass on earth because it is available in abundance, easily accessible, renewable, and biodegradable (Liu *et al.*, 2017). Starch production is expected to increase due to its usage in the textile, paper, and medicinal industries (Abebe *et al.*, 2013). Starch has remarkable properties such as high paste viscosity, freeze-thaw stability, and high paste clarity, making it suitable for use in many industries (Adejumo *et al.*, 2020).

Starch makes up the largest portion of tuber dry matter content, and therefore, proper extraction of it is important for food and other industries that use starch (Raigond *et al.*, 2015). Its granules have a semi-crystalline structure and are composed of amylopectin, which accounts for crystallinity, and amylose, the amorphous component (Ngobese *et al.*, 2017). *Amadumbe* corms have a high starch content, low amylose content, and are small in size (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). These attributes make *amadumbe* suitable for producing biodegradable starch nanocrystals to make packaging material (Mukurumbira *et al.*, 2017).

According to Agbor-Egbe and Rickard (1991), an increase in temperatures enhances the respiration rate of edible aroids *amadumbe* and tannia. Increasing the temperature also has a significant impact in increasing the reducing sugars of *amadumbe* and promoting the degradation of starch granules during storage (Modi and Mare, 2016). Abbasi *et al.* (2016) reported lower starch content in potatoes stored at 5°C than at 15 and 25°C. The degradation of starch granules is due to an increase in alpha-amylase, which hydrolyses the alpha glycosidic bonds (Zhang *et al.*, 2002). According to Modi and Mare (2016), starch stored for a period of time experiences degradation. Therefore, storing *amadumbe* in different storage environments may result in changes in the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour and their starch due to alpha-amylase activity that is sensitive to temperature.

# 2.4 Physicochemical Properties of *Amadumbe* Flour and Starch.

Several physicochemical properties are used to measure the quality of amadumbe flour and starch, such as granular morphology, colour, nutritional value, swelling power, solubility, and water and oil absorption capacities. These properties are discussed in the following sections.

### 2.4.1 Chemical composition of *amadumbe* flour and starch

Table 2.2 shows the proximate composition of flours and starches derived from *amadumbe*, potatoes, sweet potatoes, and cassava. The proximate composition varied with the different tuber sources. The variation is due to differences in the genotype of the tubers (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). The moisture content of *amadumbe* flour and starch ranged from 7.70 -11.40 % and 7.91 - 14.01 %, respectively. The higher moisture of starch above 9 % indicates that the shelf life of *amadumbe* starch may be less than that of *amadumbe* flour (Kaur *et al.*, 2013). The moisture content of *amadumbe* starch is more than 12 %; thus, it may be susceptible to microbial growth (Aryee *et al.*, 2006). For extended storage of *amadumbe*, it may need to be processed into flour and only processed into starch when required.

The ash content ranged from 0.09 - 0.70 % and 1.0 - 5.70 % for *amadumbe* starch and flour, respectively. Higher ash content in *amadumbe* flour than starch is expected because, during starch extraction, the pulp is discarded (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a). The discarded pulp contains some of the proximate and mineral compositions of *amadumbe*. The ash content of *amadumbe* starch and flour is > Potato > Cassava > Sweet potatoes. The small presence of non-starch components such as protein, fibre, and lipids in *amadumbe* starch can also indicate proper starch extraction. The protein content of *amadumbe* flour and starches ranged from 0.13 - 5.40 % and 0.38 - 0.70 %, respectively. This range is comparable with the other tubers, but it's inferior compared to other sources of flours and starches such as wheat and corn (Sandhu *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2015).

Source	Sample	Moisture (%)	Ash (%)	Protein (%)	Lipids (%)	Fibre (%)	References
Amadumbe	Starch	14.01	0.20	0.53	0.27	_	Pérez et al. (2005)
Amadumbe	Starch	7.91	0.32	0.66	0.07	_	Himeda et al. (2012)
Amadumbe	Starch	11.80	0.09	0.38	_	_	Nwokocha et al. (2009)
Amadumbe	Starch	10.40 - 11.40	0.60 - 0.70	0.50 - 0.70	0.30 - 0.40	0.20	Sit et al. (2014)
Amadumbe	Flour	8.20 - 9.60	1.30 - 5.50	2.90 - 4.90	0.30 -1.17	_	Njintang et al. (2008b)
Amadumbe	Flour	10.20	4.15	0.13	0.50	0,75	Kaushal et al. (2012)
Amadumbe	Flour	9.70 - 10.80	3.50 - 5.70	2.70 - 5.40	0.40 - 0.60	0.40 -1.20	Njintang et al. (2008a)
Amadumbe	Flour	7.70	1.20	2.00	1.00	_	Kaur <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Cassava	Starch	5.51 - 6.91	0.14 - 0.23	0.37 - 0.61	0.03 - 0.17	0.11 – 0.46	Chisenga et al. (2019b)
Cassava	Flour	12.02	1.64	1.55	0.84	1.73	Dudu et al. (2019)
Sweet Potato	Starch	12.65 - 13.80	0.01 - 0.10	0.09 - 0.11	0.42 - 0.55	_	Lee and Lee (2017)
Sweet Potato	Flour	7.30 - 8.00	1.20 - 1.50	2.40 - 2.90	0.60 - 0.90	_	Ndangui et al. (2014)
Potato	Starch	10.60	0.80	0.40	0.20	0.10	Sit et al. (2014)
Potato	Flour	7.50	1.90	2.20	0.33	_	(Kaur <i>et al.</i> , 2013)

Table 2.3proximate composition of *amadumbe*, sweet potato, cassava, and potato flour and starch

(-) Implies that the parameter was not studied.

# 2.4.2 *Amadumbe* flour and starch granule morphology

Table 2.4 shows the morphology and colour of flours and starches derived from amadumbe, potatoes, sweet potatoes, and cassava. In Table 2.4, amadumbe starches have been reported to have polygonal and irregular shapes. A scanning electron microscope is commonly used to measure starch morphology (Sit et al., 2014; Oyeyinka et al., 2021). The granule size of *amadumbe* starches ranges between 1.10 - 5. 00 µm. This range was found to be way low in comparison to cassava, potatoes, and sweet potatoes. The granule size and shape are determined by the botanical attributes of the cultivar from which starch is derived (Alcázar-Alay and Meireles, 2015). Therefore, different ranges were observed in the various studies shown in Table 2.4. According to Lindeboom et al. (2004), starch granule size less than 5 µm is classed as very small. The small granule size significantly impacts the solubility and water holding capacity of starch (Chisenga et al., 2019c). Small granules have an increased surface area, thus retaining more water (Lindeboom et al., 2004). The small granule size of amadumbe is not only favourable for food-related industries. Naidoo et al. (2015) and Mukurumbira et al. (2017) showed that small granule starches are desirable for forming biodegradable packaging materials. According to Modi and Mare (2016) and Singh et al. (2008), starch degradation starts with roughening of the surface followed by indentations, which becomes more profound and causes the granule to break up into smaller pieces. Table 2.4 also shows that the reported studies did not focus on the morphology of flours; therefore, the possible changes in the morphology of flours due to different storage conditions still need to be explored.

# 2.4.3 Amadumbe flour starch colour

The colour can be determined by measuring the L\*, a\*, and b\*. L\* represents the degree of whiteness, a\* the region of redness for positive values to greenness for negative values, and b\* the region of yellowness for positive values to blueness for negative (Oyeyinka *et al.*, 2021). In Table 2.4, *amadumbe* starch has been reported to have a higher degree of whiteness than *amadumbe* flour because of lower fibres and other non-starch components (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). The whiteness of *amadumbe* starches (93.3 – 96.94) is comparable to other tubers. Baidoo *et al.* (2014) reported that storing *amadumbe* in cold and ambient storage conditions for 21 days showed no significant change in the colour of *amadumbe*. Despite these findings, the impact of longer durations and different storage conditions still need to be eluded.

Source	Sample	Shape	Diameter (µm)	L*	a*	b*	References
Amadumbe	Starch	Polygonal and irregular	1.10 - 4.20	93.3 - 94.4	1.90 - 2.20	4.30 - 4.80	Sit et al. (2014)
Amadumbe	Starch	Polygonal and irregular	2.00 - 5.00	96.34 - 96.94	0.04 - 0.10	0.89 – 1.14	Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020)
Amadumbe	Flour	_	_	85.50	1.50	7.50	Kaur <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Cassava	Starch	Polyhedral and irregular shape	4.00 - 18.00	90.27	6.45	8.55	Oyeyinka et al. (2021)
Cassava	Starch	Spherical, and irregular shape	6.00 - 21.00	93.20 - 96.30	-0.67 - 1.28	4.65 - 4.66	Oyeyinka et al. (2019)
Cassava	Flour	_	_	93.88 - 95.71	-0.97- 0.32	5.88 - 10.22	Oduro-Yeboah et al. (2010)
Potato	Starch	Oval and spherical	7.60 - 47.60	95.20	1.70	3.10	Sit et al. (2014)
Potato	Flour	_	_	86.10	-0.12	12.60	Kaur <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Sweet Potato	Starch	round, spherical, and polygonal	18.70 - 22.96	94.67 - 96.29	0.03 - 0.06	1.37 - 2.49	Lee and Lee (2017)
Sweet Potato	Starch	round, polygonal, oval, and hemispherical	1.50 - 84.00	91.40 - 96.83	-0.30 - 0.36	_	(Wang <i>et al.</i> , 2020)
Sweet Potato	Flour	_	_	85.84	2.42	25.49	(Ahmed <i>et al.</i> , 2010)

Table 2.4The morphology and colour of *amadumbe* flours and their starches

(-) Implies that the parameter was not studied.

# 2.4.4 Amadumbe starch and flour water and oil holding capacities

Oil holding capacity indicates the emulsifying ability of starch and shows how much oil will be absorbed during processing (Falade and Okafor, 2013). High water and oil holding capacities are required when producing viscous foods such as soups and gravies (Kaushal *et al.*, 2012). The water and oil holding capacities of *amadumbe* flour ranged between 60 - 250 % and 270 - 350 %, respectively, when conducted at  $60 - 80^{\circ}$ C (Kaur *et al.*, 2013; Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). Studies have shown that *amadumbe* water and oil holding capacities is a function of temperature (Sit *et al.*, 2014; Chisenga *et al.*, 2019b). This relationship is constant for other tubers such as sweet potatoes and cassava that showed the water and oil holding capacity increase as a function of temperature (Tetchi *et al.*, 2007). Njintang *et al.* (2008b) reported that the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch ranged between 60 - 249 %. The higher water absorption capacity of flour than starch is due to other non-starch compounds (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). The ability of starch to absorb water and swell is determined by the amylose and amylopectin ratio (Himeda *et al.*, 2012). Therefore alteration in the composition of starch affects its ability to retain water and oil (Falade and Okafor, 2013).

# 2.4.5 Amadumbe flour and starch swelling power and solubility

Table 2.5 shows the swelling power and solubility of flours and starches derived from *amadumbe* corms. The swelling power of *amadumbe* ranged between 2.52 - 31.50 and  $2.15 - 23.50 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$  for starch and flour, respectively. The lower swelling of *amadumbe* flour is due to other non-starchy compounds that reduces their interaction with water (Njintang *et al.*, 2008b). The solubility of *amadumbe* starch and flour ranged between 1.12 - 18.50 and 1.45 - 26.50 %, respectively. An increase in the temperature increases the swelling power of both *amadumbe* flour and starch (Mawoyo *et al.*, 2017). This increase is caused by temperature breaking the hydrogen bonds and exposing more hydroxyl and hydrophilic substances that bind with water. Baidoo *et al.* (2014) reported that the swelling power reduced during storage, with cold storage showing a higher swelling power than ambient storage conditions. Modi and Mare (2016) also found that degradation was higher for *amadumbe* stored in ambient conditions than those held at 12°C. This degradation in starch results in a reduction in the ability of the granule to swell (Dey and Sit, 2017).

Temperature											
Source,	Sample	Parameter	50	60	70	80	90	References			
Amadumbe	Starch	S	_	2.63	3.09	15.02	22.50	Alam and Hasnain (2009)			
Amadumbe	Starch	S	1.12	1.10	1.13	14.48	18.50	Nwokocha et al. (2009)			
Amadumbe	Flour	S	1.45	2.89	18.90	26.40	_	Mawoyo et al. (2017)			
Amadumbe	Starch	SP	—	6.20	7.50	26.50	28.00	Alam and Hasnain (2009)			
Amadumbe	Starch	SP	2.52	2.30	2.29	14,89	18.60	Nwokocha et al. (2009)			
Amadumbe	Starch	SP	5.10 - 8.60	7.60 - 10.00	10.10 - 13.10	10.95 - 22.25	16.10 - 31.50	Naidoo et al. (2015)			
Amadumbe	Flour	SP	2.15	9.85	31.50	42.45	_	Mawoyo et al. (2017)			
Amadumbe	Flour	SP	5.90 - 18.50	7.00 - 19.05	10.10 - 19.98	15.50 - 23.50	19.85 - 23.50	Naidoo et al. (2015)			

Table 2.5 The swelling and solubility of amadumbe flour and their starches at different temperatures

(S) refers to solubility (%),

(-) Implies that the parameter was not studied, and (SP) refers to swelling power  $(g.g^{-1})$ 

## 2.5 Utilisation of *Amadumbe*

*Amadumbe* cookies can be part of a composite mixture of wheat and *amadumbe* flour. The proportion of the flours influences the consumer acceptability of the cookies (Nip *et al.*, 1994; Adegunwa *et al.*, 2011; Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). The preference for composite bread reduces as the proportion of *amadumbe* is increased in *amadumbe* and wheat flour mixtures. (Sanful, 2011). Physicochemical analysis reveals that as the ratio of *amadumbe* flour is increased; there is a reduction in protein content, fat, carbohydrates, and energy while moisture, ash content, water absorption capacity, water solubility, and swelling power are increased (Sanful, 2011; Himeda *et al.*, 2014). Huang *et al.* (2000) made biscuits using *amadumbe* and soya mixture and found that the addition of soya produced biscuits with better nutritional quality. There are various bakery products that one can explore using *amadumbe* flour. However, limited research has been reported in this area. This review also established that no work had been reported on the impact of storage conditions on the quality of baked *amadumbe* products.

Wheat flour is currently the most used commodity to produce noodles. However, the poor cooking qualities of the end product have caused researchers to look for various methods to improve the end product quality (Mohammed and Bin, 2020). *Amadumbe* and wheat flour blends have been studied to produce noodles with improved quality (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). Rosarlo *et al.* (1999) found that the addition of *amadumbe* flour increased peak viscosity, final set back values, and cooking weight of noodles. Alcantara *et al.* (2013) reported that the production of *amadumbe* noodles reduced the presence of anti-nutrients such as oxalate and phytates in the tuber. The textural difference amongst various starch noodles was linked with the morphological, thermal, and rheological properties. (Singh *et al.*, 2002). These properties are sensitive to factors such as variety, maturity stage, growth environment, and storage conditions (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004; Njintang *et al.*, 2007; Mawoyo *et al.*, 2017).

The processing of *amadumbe* chips is similar to the processing of potato chips. Therefore, quality properties must be of comparable magnitude to produce good quality chips (Hollyer *et al.*, 2000). Low-temperature storage results in the hydrolysis of starch into reducing sugars. High levels of reducing sugars are responsible for enzymatic browning during the frying of chips which is not desirable (Foukaraki *et al.*, 2016). Reducing sugars is not the only factor

that influences crisp quality. The starch content also affects the texture of crisps. Tubers with more than 15 % starch content are ideal for producing good quality chips (Kita, 2002). Other applications of *amadumbe* include its use as a paste commonly known as *achu* in Cameroon (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). It is prepared by peeling, cooking, and mashing to obtain a smooth paste (Njintang and Mbofung, 2003). Njintang *et al.* (2007) reported that flours with a high water absorption capacity tend to produce a paste with a high level of Newtonian compliance. This quality is desirable when making good viscosity foods such as soups and gravies (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). *Amadumbe* is also suitable for consumption by infants due to its small granule size and ease of digestion. *Amadumbe* paste is ideal for diabetic people due to its high fibre content and resistant starch. The presence of anti-nutritional factors has also reduced the consumption of *amadumbe*. However, McEwan *et al.* (2014) reported that the production of *amadumbe* paste by boiling reduces all anti-nutritional factors. Other non-food applications include the production of starch nanocrystals used in making biodegradable packaging material (Mukurumbira *et al.*, 2017).

# 2.6 Discussion and Conclusion

*Amadumbe* is one of the important species of aroids used as a staple food in tropical and subtropical regions. It has more fibre content than potatoes, sweet potatoes, and cassava, resulting in health-related benefits such as improved digestion and regulating blood sugar levels of consumers (Adepoju and Adejumo, 2015). It has also been reported to have high starch content with a high quantity of resistant starch. Resistant starch resists digestion in the small intestine, which results in lower absorption of glucose which helps in reducing health issues such as diabetes and obesity (Liu *et al.*, 2006). The nutritional composition of *amadumbe* varies with the cultivar, geographical location, maturity stage, planting period, storage, and planting conditions (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004; Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the effect of storage conditions on the nutritional composition of South African *amadumbe* cultivars needs to be established.

Low-temperature storage is one of the technological solutions used to prolong the shelf life of tubers by promoting the inhibition of sprouting and reducing the respiration rate. Despite this benefit, low-temperature storage causes an increase in reducing sugar content, which is not desirable for *amadumbe* that is meant to produce crisps. On the other hand, high-temperature and low relative humidity storage promote an increase in the breakdown of starch into reducing sugars. The reducing sugars promote further sprouting, which results in an accelerated loss of the quality attributes of the tuber. Therefore, high and low-temperature storage conditions may present challenges when storing tubers meant for processing. Farmers use mechanical refrigeration, evaporative cooler, and underground storage pits to control or partially regulate temperature and relative humidity. However, there is limited information on how lowtemperature storage and other storage technologies impact the quality of fresh *amadumbe*, flour, and starch.

Mechanical refrigeration reduces the respiration rate of *amadumbe*, which in turn reduces its deterioration rate. However, storing amadumbe at temperatures below 10°C can cause chilling injuries and promote starch breaking down into reducing sugars (Mehta et al., 2010; Niu et al., 2019). Despite the environmental control advantages of mechanical refrigeration systems, it is energy-intensive and requires high investment costs, which are out of reach for most smallscale farmers. Thus, small-scale farmers use affordable and easily attainable storage systems such as evaporative coolers (Jiménez-Zurita et al., 2017). Evaporative coolers can keep the temperature in the range of 17 to 22 °C, which is above the recommended storage temperature for many fruits and vegetables. The high temperature prompted Tolesa and Workneh (2017) to combine a CoolBot® and evaporative cooler. The authors found that the combined storage method could lower the temperature while maintaining a high relative humidity. This current review established that no work had been reported on the effect of CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage conditions on the quality of amadumbe. Storage pits are one of the on-field methods used by farmers for short-term storage of 2 to 4 months. However, this method is dependent on the prevailing climatic conditions and has poor control of the temperature and relative humidity. When relative humidity is kept high it results in the development of fungal diseases but when kept low it results in excessive weight loss (de Oliveira et al., 2016). The change in relative humidity has impacts on the physiological, mechanical, and biochemical properties of amadumbe corms, flours, and starches.

This review also found that *amadumbe* can be used in various processing industries, such as producing chips, noodles, cookies, and paste. The possibility of using *amadumbe* in these

processing industries is dependent on the quality parameters such as colour, texture, dry matter content, swelling power, water and oil holding capacities, solubility, and specific gravity. *Amadumbe* can also be used in non-food industries to produce biodegradable packaging material because of its small granule size. Minimal work concludes on the suitability of *amadumbe* corms stored in various conditions for processing industries. Most of the work has only focused on quantifying the quality of freshly harvested tubers or flour or starch stored over time instead of storing the tuber.

# 2.7 References

- Abbasi, KS, Masud, T, Qayyum, A, Khan, SU, Abbas, S and Jenks, MA. 2016. Storage stability of potato variety Lady Rosetta under comparative temperature regimes. *Sains Malaysiana* 45 (5): 677-688.
- Abebe, T, Wongchaochant, S and Taychasinpitak, T. 2013. Evaluation of specific gravity of potato varieties in Ethiopia as a criterion for determining processing quality. *Kasetsart J.(Nat. Sci.)* 47: (1): 30-41.
- Adegunwa, M, Alamu, E and Omitogun, L. 2011. Effect of processing on the nutritional contents of yam and cocoyam tubers. *Journal of Applied Biosciences* 46 (1): 3086-3092.
- Adejumo, O, Okoruwa, V, Abass, A and Salman, K. 2020. Post-harvest technology change in cassava processing: a choice paradigm. *Scientific African* 5 (1): 276-297.
- Adepoju, A and Adejumo, B. 2015. Some proximate properties of sweet potato (Ipomoea batatas L.) As influenced by cooking methods. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research* 4 (3): 146-148.
- Afoakwa, EO and Sefa-Dedeh, S. 2002. Textural and microstructural changes associated with post-harvest hardening of trifoliate yam (Dioscorea dumetorum) pax tubers. *Food Chemistry* 77 (3): 279-284.
- Agbor-Egbe, T and Rickard, JE. 1991. Study on the factors affecting storage of edible aroids. Annals of Applied Biology 119 (1): 121-130.
- Ahmed, M, Akter, MS and Eun, J-B. 2010. Peeling, drying temperatures, and sulphitetreatment affect physicochemical properties and nutritional quality of sweet potato flour. *Food chemistry* 121 (1): 112-118.

- Alam, F and Hasnain, A. 2009. Studies on swelling and solubility of modified starch from Taro (Colocasia esculenta): effect of pH and temperature. *Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus* 74 (1): 45-50.
- Alcantara, M, Hurtada, A and Dizon, I. 2013. The nutritional value and phytochemical components of taro [Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott] powder and its selected processed foods. *Nutrition & Food Sciences* 3 (3): 1-7.
- Alcázar-Alay, SC and Meireles, MAA. 2015. Physicochemical properties, modifications and applications of starches from different botanical sources. *Food Science and Technology* 35 (2): 215-236.
- Aryee, F, Oduro, I, Ellis, W and Afuakwa, J. 2006. The physicochemical properties of flour samples from the roots of 31 varieties of cassava. *Food control* 17 (11): 916-922.
- Babaremu, K, Adekanye, T, Okokpujie, I, Fayomi, J and Atiba, O. 2019. The significance of active evaporative cooling system in the shelf life enhancement of vegetables (red and green tomatoes) for minimizing post-harvest losses. *Procedia Manufacturing* 35 (1): 1256-1261.
- Babaremu, K, Omodara, M, Fayomi, O, Okokpujie, IP and Oluwafemi, J. 2018. Design And Optimization Of An Active Evaporative Cooling System. *International Journal of Mechanical Engineering and Technology (IJMET)* 9 (10): 1051-1061.
- Baidoo, E, Akonor, P and Tortoe, C. 2014. Effect of pre-treatment and storage condition on the physicochemical properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta [L.] Schott) flour. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition Engineering* 4 (4): 91-97.
- Bekele, T and Haile, B. 2019. Evaluation of improved potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties for some quality attributes at Shebench Woreda of Bench-Maji Zone, Southwestern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 14 (7): 389-394.
- Bendinelli, WE, Su, CT, Péra, TG and Caixeta Filho, JV. 2019. What are the main factors that determine post-harvest losses of grains? *Sustainable Production and Consumption* 3 (2): 98-110.
- Bhande, S, Ravindra, M and Goswami, T. 2008. Respiration rate of banana fruit under aerobic conditions at different storage temperatures. *Journal of Food Engineering* 87 (1): 116-123.
- Burton, W.1955. Biological and economic aspects of the refrigerated storage of potatoes. *Proceedings-Institute of Refrigeration* 54(2): 168-172.

- Carputo, D, Aversano, R and Frusciante, L. 2004. Breeding potato for quality traits. In: eds. Casa, R and Viola, R, *Meeting of the Physiology Section of the European Association for Potato Research 684*, 55-64. International Society for Horticultural Science, Leuven, Belgium.
- Chaïr, H, Traore, R, Duval, M, Rivallan, R, Mukherjee, A, Aboagye, L, Van Rensburg, W, Andrianavalona, V, Pinheiro de Carvalho, M and Saborio, F. 2016. Genetic diversification and dispersal of taro (Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott). *PloS one* 11 (6): e0157712.
- Chen, X, He, X, Fu, X and Huang, Q. 2015. In vitro digestion and physicochemical properties of wheat starch/flour modified by heat-moisture treatment. *Journal of Cereal Science* 63 (2): 109-115.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Alimi, BA. 2019a. Progress in research and applications of cassava flour and starch: a review. *Journal of food science and technology* 2 (1): 1-15.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019b. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4 (4): 939-966.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019c. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. AIMS Agriculture and Food 4 (4): 939-945.
- DAFF. 2011. Production guidelines for amadumbe (Colocasia esculenta) [Internet]. Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries Available from: <u>https://www.daff.gov.za/Daffweb3/Portals/0/Brochures%20and%20Production%20gu</u> <u>idelines/Production%20Guidelines%20Amadumbe.pdf</u>. [Accessed: 17 Janaury 2020].
- de Figueiredo, A, Baümler, E, Riccobene, I and Nolasco, S. 2011. Moisture-dependent engineering properties of sunflower seeds with different structural characteristics. *Journal of food engineering* 102 (1): 58-65.
- de Oliveira, A, Rogerio, B, Auri, T, Fabio, R, Schultz, E, Eliseu, G and Adriano, R. 2016. Mass loss by low relative humidity increases gas diffusion rates in apple flesh and allows the use of high CO2 partial pressures during ultralow O2 storage. *Scientia horticulturae* 198 (2): 414-423.

- Dey, A and Sit, N. 2017. Modification of foxtail millet starch by combining physical, chemical and enzymatic methods. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 95(1): 314-320.
- Dudu, OE, Li, L, Oyedeji, AB, Oyeyinka, SA and Ma, Y. 2019. Structural and functional characteristics of optimised dry-heat-moisture treated cassava flour and starch. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 133 (1): 1219-1227.
- Englberger, L, Aalbersberg, W, Ravi, P, Bonnin, E, Marks, GC, Fitzgerald, MH and Elymore,
  J. 2003. Further analyses on Micronesian banana, taro, breadfruit and other foods for
  provitamin A carotenoids and minerals. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 16
  (2): 219-236.
- Ezekiel, R, Paul, V, Singh, J and Shekhawat, G. 1999. Potato storage in India. *Indian farming* 49 (9): 21-25.
- Falade, KO and Okafor, CA. 2013. Physicochemical properties of five cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta and Xanthosoma sagittifolium) starches. *Food Hydrocolloids* 30 (1): 173-181.
- FAOSTAT. 2017. Crops. [Internet]. Food and Agriculture Organization. Available from: <a href="http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC">http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC</a>. [Accessed: 2 September 2019].
- Fonseca, SC, Oliveira, FA and Brecht, JK. 2002. Modelling respiration rate of fresh fruits and vegetables for modified atmosphere packages: a review. *Journal of food engineering* 52 (2): 99-119.
- Foukaraki, SG, Cools, K, Chope, GA and Terry, LA. 2016. Impact of ethylene and 1-MCP on sprouting and sugar accumulation in stored potatoes. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 114 (2): 95-103.
- Gao, Y, Liu, Y, Kan, C, Chen, M and Chen, J. 2019. Changes of peel color and fruit quality in navel orange fruits under different storage methods. *Scientia Horticulturae* 256 (1): 108-122.
- Gerrano, AS, Jansen Van Rensburg, WS, Adebola, PO, Manjeru, P, Bairu, MW and Venter, SL. 2019. Evaluation and selection of taro [Colocasia esculentra (L.) Schott] accessions under dryland conditions in South Africa. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B— Soil & Plant Science* 69 (3): 219-227.
- Ghazavi, M and Houshmand, S. 2010. Effects of mechanical damage and temperature on potato respiration rate and weight loss. *World Applied Sciences Journal* 8 (5): 647-652.

- González-Buesa, J and Salvador, ML. 2019. An Arduino-based low cost device for the measurement of the respiration rates of fruits and vegetables. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 162 (3): 14-20.
- Guo, Y, Gao, Z, Li, L, Wang, Y, Zhao, H, Hu, M, Li, M and Zhang, Z. 2013. Effect of controlled atmospheres with varying O 2/CO 2 levels on the postharvest senescence and quality of broccoli (Brassica oleracea L. var. italica) florets. *European Food Research and Technology* 237 (6): 943-950.
- Herman, DJ, Knowles, LO and Knowles, NR. 2017. Heat stress affects carbohydrate metabolism during cold-induced sweetening of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). *Planta* 245 (3): 563-582.
- Himeda, M, Njintang, N, Nguimbou, R, Gaiani, C, Scher, J, Facho, B and Mbofung, C. 2012.
  Physicochemical, rheological and thermal properties of taro (Colocassia esculenta) starch harvested at different maturity stages. *International Journal of Biosciences* 2 (3): 14-27.
- Himeda, M, Yanou, NN, Fombang, E, Facho, B, Kitissou, P, Mbofung, CM and Scher, J. 2014. Chemical composition, functional and sensory characteristics of wheat-taro composite flours and biscuits. *Journal of food science and technology* 51 (9): 1893-1901.
- Hollyer, J, Paull, R and Huang, A. 2000. Processing taro chips. *Food Manfucturing Technology* 1 (1): 21-22.
- Hoque, A, Howlader, O and Chowdhury, MTI. 2018. Dry Matter Partitioning in Four Potato Varieties. *Research & Reviews: Journal of Crop Science and Technology* 6 (2): 1-8.
- Huang, A, Titchenal, C and Meilleur, B. 2000. Nutrient composition of taro corms and breadfruit. *Journal of food composition and analysis* 13 (5): 859-864.
- Huang, C-C, Chen, W-C and Wang, C-C. 2007. Comparison of Taiwan paddy-and uplandcultivated taro (Colocasia esculenta L.) cultivars for nutritive values. *Food Chemistry* 102 (1): 250-256.
- Jenkins, P and PD, J. 1982. Losses in sweet potatoes (Ipomoea batatas) stored under traditional conditions in Bangladesh. *Tropical Science* 24 (1): 17-28.
- Jiménez-Zurita, JO, Balois-Morales, R, Alia-Tejacal, I, Sánchez Herrera, LM, Jiménez-Ruiz, EI, Bello-Lara, JE, García-Paredes, JD and Juárez-López, P. 2017. Cold storage of two selections of soursop (Annona muricata L.) in Nayarit, Mexico. *Journal of Food Quality* 2017 (3): 203-218.

- Kader, AA. 2002. *Postharvest technology of horticultural crops*. University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources, California, United States.
- Kahramanoğlu, İ. 2019. Effects of lemongrass oil application and modified atmosphere packaging on the postharvest life and quality of strawberry fruits. *Scientia Horticulturae* 4 (2): 95-105.
- Kaur, M, Kaushal, P and Sandhu, KS. 2013. Studies on physicochemical and pasting properties of Taro (Colocasia esculenta L.) flour in comparison with a cereal, tuber and legume flour. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 50 (1): 94-100.
- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2012. Comparative study of physicochemical, functional, antinutritional and pasting properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta), rice (Oryza sativa) flour, pigeonpea (Cajanus cajan) flour and their blends. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* 48 (1): 59-68.
- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2015. Utilization of taro (Colocasia esculenta): a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 52 (1): 27-40.
- Kiaitsi, E, Tosetti, R and Terry, LA. 2020. Susceptibility to blackheart disorder in potato tubers is influenced by sugar and phenolic profile. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 162 (2): 94-111.
- Kirkman, MA. 2007. Global markets for processed potato products. In: ed. Vreugdenhil, D, *Potato Biology and Biotechnology*. Elsevier, Leicestershire, United Kingdom.
- Kita, A. 2002. The influence of potato chemical composition on crisp texture. *Food chemistry* 76 (2): 173-179.
- Kleinkopf, G, Westermann, D, Wille, M and Kleinschmidt, G. 1987. Specific gravity of Russet Burbank potatoes. *American Potato Journal* 64 (11): 579-587.
- Kuyu, CG, Tola, YB and Abdi, GG. 2019a. Study on post-harvest quantitative and qualitative losses of potato tubers from two different road access districts of Jimma zone, South West Ethiopia. *Heliyon* 5 (8): e02272.
- Kuyu, CG, Tola, YB and Abdi, GG. 2019b. Study on post-harvest quantitative and qualitative losses of potato tubers from two different road access districts of Jimma zone, South West Ethiopia. *Heliyon* 5 (8): 22-72.
- Lee, BH and Lee, YT. 2017. Physicochemical and structural properties of different colored sweet potato starches. *Starch-Stärke* 69 (3-4): 1-9.

- Lewu, M, Adebola, P and Afolayan, A. 2010. Comparative assessment of the nutritional value of commercially available cocoyam and potato tubers in South Africa. *Journal of Food Quality* 33 (4): 461-476.
- Li, X, Yang, H and Lu, G. 2018. Low-temperature conditioning combined with cold storage inducing rapid sweetening of sweetpotato tuberous roots (Ipomoea batatas (L.) Lam) while inhibiting chilling injury. *Postharvest biology and technology* 142 (3): 1-9.
- Liang, Z, MU, TH, ZHANG, RF, SUN, QH and XU, YW. 2019. Nutritional evaluation of different cultivars of potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) from China by grey relational analysis (GRA) and its application in potato steamed bread making. *Journal of integrative agriculture* 18 (1): 231-245.
- Lin, Q, Xie, Y, Guan, W, Duan, Y, Wang, Z and Sun, C. 2019. Combined transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of cold stress induced sugar accumulation and heat shock proteins expression during postharvest potato tuber storage. *Food chemistry* 297 (2): 34-45.
- Lin, Q, Xie, Y, Liu, W, Zhang, J, Cheng, S, Xie, X, Guan, W and Wang, Z. 2017. UV-C treatment on physiological response of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) during low temperature storage. *Journal of food science and technology* 54 (1): 55-61.
- Lindeboom, N, Chang, PR and Tyler, RT. 2004. Analytical, biochemical and physicochemical aspects of starch granule size, with emphasis on small granule starches: a review. *Starch-Stärke* 56 (3-4): 89-99.
- Liu, G, Gu, Z, Hong, Y, Cheng, L and Li, C. 2017. Structure, functionality and applications of debranched starch: A review. *Trends in food science & technology* 63 (4): 70-79.
- Liu, Q, Donner, E, Yin, Y, Huang, R and Fan, M. 2006. The physicochemical properties and in vitro digestibility of selected cereals, tubers and legumes grown in China. *Food Chemistry* 99 (3): 470-477.
- Magwaza, LS and Opara, UL. 2015. Analytical methods for determination of sugars and sweetness of horticultural products—A review. *Scientia Horticulturae* 184(1): 179-192.
- Malaki, I, Hunter, D, Tuivavalagi, N and Ullah, MW. 2003. The effects of sodium hypochlorite dipping, temperature and duration of storage on the quality of fresh taro corms destined for overseas markets. *Journal of South Pacific Agriculture* 10 (1 & 2): 17-23.

- Mare, R. 2009. Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) yield and quality response to planting date and organic fertilisation. Unpublished PhD thesis, School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Masood, H and Trujillo, FJ. 2016. Engineering Properties of Foods. Food Science 1 (1): 1-2.
- Mawoyo, B, Adebola, P, Gerrano, AS and Amonsou, E. 2017. Effect of genotypes and growth locations on composition and functional properties of *amadumbe* flours. *Journal of food science and technology* 54 (11): 3577-3586.
- McEwan, R, Shangase, F, Djarova, T and Opoku, A. 2014. Effect of three processing methods on some nutrient and anti-nutritional factor constituent of Colocasia esculenta (*Amadumbe*). *African Journal of Food Science* 8 (5): 287-292.
- Meena, NK and Asrey, R. 2018. Tree Age Affects Postharvest Attributes and Mineral Content in Amrapali Mango (Mangifera indica) Fruits. *Horticultural Plant Journal* 4 (2): 55-61.
- Mehta, A, Singh, B, Ezekiel, R and Kumar, D. 2010. Effect of CIPC on sprout inhibition and processing quality of potatoes stored under traditional storage systems in India. *Potato research* 53 (1): 1-15.
- Mngadi, S, Moodley, R and Jonnalagadda, SB. 2015. Elemental distribution and chemical composition of *Amadumbe* (Colocasia esculanta) leaf and impact of soil quality. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 24 (4): 1250-1257.
- Modi, A and Bornman, C. 2004. Short-term preservation of maize landrace seed and taro propagules using indigenous storage methods. *South African Journal of Botany* 70 (1): 16-23.
- Modi, A and Mare, R. 2016. Alpha Amylase Activity and Sprouting During Short Term Storage of Taro Corms. *Journal of Agriculture, Science and Technology* 18 (1): 1053-1063.
- Modi, AT. 2007. Effect of indigenous storage method on performance of taro [Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott] under field conditions in a warm subtropical area. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil* 24 (4): 214-219.
- Mohammed, O and Bin, X. 2020. Review on the physicochemical properties, modifications, and applications of starches and its common modified forms used in noodle products. *Food Hydrocolloids* 1(2): 270-286.

- Mohammed, W. 2016. Specific gravity, dry matter content, and starch content of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties cultivated in eastern ethiopia. *East African Journal of Sciences* 10 (2): 87-102.
- Muinat, NL, Mulidzi, AR, Gerrano, AS and Adebola, PO. 2017. Comparative growth and yield of taro (Colocasia esculenta) accessions cultivated in the Western Cape, South Africa. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology* 19 (3): 225-241.
- Mukurumbira, A, Mariano, M, Dufresne, A, Mellem, JJ and Amonsou, EO. 2017. Microstructure, thermal properties and crystallinity of *amadumbe* starch nanocrystals. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 102 (2): 241-247.
- Naidoo, K, Amonsou, E and Oyeyinka, S. 2015. In vitro digestibility and some physicochemical properties of starch from wild and cultivated *amadumbe* corms. *Carbohydrate polymers* 125 (3): 9-15.
- Naziri, D, Quaye, W, Siwoku, B, Wanlapatit, S, Viet Phu, T and Bennett, B. 2014. The diversity of postharvest losses in cassava value chains in selected developing countries. *Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development in the Tropics and Subtropics* 115 (2): 111-123.
- Ndabikunze, B, Talwana, H, Issa-Zacharia, A and Palapala, V. 2011. Proximate and mineral composition of cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta L. and Xanthosoma sagittifolium L.) grown along the Lake Victoria Basin in Tanzania and Uganda. *African Journal of Food Science* 5 (4): 248-254.
- Ndangui, CB, Petit, J, Gaiani, C, Nzikou, J-M and Scher, J. 2014. Impact of thermal and chemical pretreatments on physicochemical, rheological, and functional properties of sweet potato (Ipomea batatas Lam) flour. *Food and bioprocess technology* 7 (12): 3618-3628.
- Ngobese, NZ, Workneh, TS, Alimi, BA and Tesfay, S. 2017. Nutrient composition and starch characteristics of eight European potato cultivars cultivated in South Africa. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 55 (4): 1-11.
- Nielsen, GGB, Kjær, A, Klösgen, B, Hansen, PL, Simonsen, AC and Jørgensen, B. 2016. Dielectric spectroscopy for evaluating dry matter content of potato tubers. *Journal of food engineering* 189 (1): 9-16.
- Nip, W, Whitaker, C and Vargo, D. 1994. Application of taro flour in cookie formulations. International journal of food science & technology 29 (4): 463-468.
- Nissen, M. 1955. The weight of potatoes in water. American Potato Journal 32 (9): 332-339.

- Niu, S, Li, X-Q, Tang, R, Zhang, G, Li, X, Cui, B, Mikitzel, L and Haroon, M. 2019. Starch granule sizes and degradation in sweet potatoes during storage. *Postharvest Biology* and Technology 150 (4): 137-147.
- Njintang, NY, Mbofung, CM, Balaam, F, Kitissou, P and Scher, J. 2008a. Effect of taro (Colocasia esculenta) flour addition on the functional and alveographic properties of wheat flour and dough. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 88 (2): 273-279.
- Njintang, Y, Mbofung, C, Moates, G, Parker, M, Craig, F, Smith, A and Waldron, W. 2007. Functional properties of five varieties of taro flour, and relationship to creep recovery and sensory characteristics of achu (taro based paste). *Journal of food engineering* 82 (2): 114-120.
- Njintang, Y and Mbofung, CM. 2003. Development of taro (Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott) flour as an ingredient for food processing: effect of gelatinisation and drying temperature on the dehydration kinetics and colour of flour. *Journal of food Engineering* 58 (3): 259-265.
- Njintang, Y, Scher, J and Mbofung, C. 2008b. Physicochemical, thermal properties and microstructure of six varieties of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) flours and starches. *Journal of Food Engineering* 86 (2): 294-305.
- Nourbakhsh, SM, Bai, Y, Maia, GD, Ouyang, Y and Rodriguez, L. 2016. Grain supply chain network design and logistics planning for reducing post-harvest loss. *Biosystems engineering* 151 (4): 105-115.
- Nwokocha, LM, Aviara, NA, Senan, C and Williams, PA. 2009. A comparative study of some properties of cassava (Manihot esculenta, Crantz) and cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta, Linn) starches. *Carbohydrate polymers* 76 (3): 362-367.
- Obetta, S, Ijabo, O and Satimehin, A. 2007. Evaluation of a ventilated underground storage for cocoyams (taro). *Agricultural Engineering International: CIGR Journal* 07 (17): 1-15.
- Oduro-Yeboah, C, Johnson, P, Sakyi-Dawson, E and Budu, A. 2010. Effect of processing procedures on the colorimetry and viscoelastic properties of cassava starch, flour and cassava-plantain fufu flour. *International Food Research Journal* 17 (2): 699-709.
- Onwueme, IC and Charles, WB. 1994. *Tropical root and tuber crops: production, perspectives and future prospects*. Food & Agriculture Organization., Rome, Italy.

- Oyeyinka, S, Adeloye, A, Smith, S, Adesina, B and Akinwande, F. 2019. Physicochemical properties of flour and starch from two cassava varieties. *Agrosearch* 19 (1): 28-45.
- Oyeyinka, SA, Akinware, RO, Bankole, AT, Njobeh, PB and Kayitesi, E. 2021. Influence of microwave heating and time on functional, pasting and thermal properties of cassava starch. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 56 (1): 215-223.
- Oyeyinka, SA and Amonsou, EO. 2020. Composition, pasting and thermal properties of flour and starch derived from *amadumbe* with different corm sizes. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57 (10): 3688-3695.
- Paul, V, Ezekiel, R and Pandey, R. 2016. Sprout suppression on potato: need to look beyond CIPC for more effective and safer alternatives. *Journal of food science and technology* 53 (1): 1-18.
- Paull, R and Ching, C. 2015. Taro: Postharvest quality-maintenance guideline. College of Tropical Agriculture and Human Resources, University of Hawaï 5 (1): 1-3.
- Pérez, E, Schultz, FS and de Delahaye, EP. 2005. Characterization of some properties of starches isolated from Xanthosoma sagittifolium (tannia) and Colocassia esculenta (taro). *Carbohydrate polymers* 60 (2): 139-145.
- Pinhero, RG, Waduge, RN, Liu, Q, Sullivan, JA, Tsao, R, Bizimungu, B and Yada, RY. 2016. Evaluation of nutritional profiles of starch and dry matter from early potato varieties and its estimated glycemic impact. *Food chemistry* 203 (3): 356-366.
- Raigond, P, Singh, B and Kaundal, B. 2015. Changes in the starch and fiber fractions of French fries: Response of freezing. *Potato Journal* 42 (1): 23-41.
- Ramaswamy, HS. 2014. Post-harvest technologies of fruits & vegetables. DEStech Publications Inc, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Rashmi, D, Raghu, N, Gopenath, T, Pradeep Palanisamy, P, Bakthavatchalam, MK, Gnanasekaran, A, Ranjith, M, Chandrashekrappa, G and Kanthesh, MB. 2018. Taro (Colocasia esculenta): an overview. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Studies* 6 (4): 156-161.
- Ray, R and Ravi, V. 2005. Post harvest spoilage of sweetpotato in tropics and control measures. *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition* 45 (7-8): 623-644.
- Rosarlo, DM, Vinas, A and Klaus, L. 1999. pasta products containing taro (Colocasia esculenta
  L. Schott) and chaya (Cnidoscolus chayamansa L. McVaugh). *Journal of food* processing and preservation 23 (1): 1-20.

- Sajeev, M, Manikantan, M, Kingsly, A, Moorthy, S and Sreekumar, J. 2004. Texture analysis of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) cormels during storage and cooking. *Journal of Food Science* 69 (7): 315-321.
- Sanchez, T, Dufour, D, Moreno, J, Pizarro, M, Aragón, I, Domínguez, M and Ceballos, H. 2013. Changes in extended shelf life of cassava roots during storage in ambient conditions. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 86 (2): 520-528.
- Sandhu, KS, Singh, N and Malhi, NS. 2007. Some properties of corn grains and their flours I: Physicochemical, functional and chapati-making properties of flours. *Food Chemistry* 101 (3): 938-946.
- Sanful, RE. 2011. Organoleptic and nutritional analysis of taro and wheat flour composite bread. *World Journal of Dairy and Food Sciences* 6 (2): 175-179.
- Saran, S, Dubey, N, Mishra, V, Dwivedi, SK and Raman, NLM. 2013. Evaluation of CoolBot cool room as a low cost storage system for marginal farmers. *Progressive Horticulture* 45 (1): 115-121.
- Seweh, EA, Darko, JO, Addo, A, Asagadunga, PA and Achibase, S. 2016. Design, construction and evaluation of an evaporative cooler for the storage of sweet potatoes in the north Ghana. Agricultural Engineering International: CIGR Journal 18 (2): 435-448.
- Shange, LP. 2004. Taro [Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott] production by small-scale farmers in KwaZulu-Natal: Farmer practices and performance of propagule types under Unpublished MSc thesis, School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Sibiya, SG. 2015. Planting density effect on growth and yield of taro (Colocasia esculenta) landraces. Unpublished MSc thesis, School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Singh, B and Ezekiel, R. 2003. Influence of relative humidity on weight loss in potato tubers stored at high temperature. *Indian journal of plant physiology* 8 (2): 141-144.
- Singh, J, McCarthy, OJ, Singh, H and Moughan, PJ. 2008. Low temperature post-harvest storage of New Zealand Taewa (Maori potato): Effects on starch physico-chemical and functional characteristics. *Food Chemistry* 106 (2): 583-596.
- Singh, N, Singh, J and Singh Sodhi, N. 2002. Morphological, thermal, rheological and noodlemaking properties of potato and corn starch. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 82 (12): 1376-1383.

- Singla, D, Singh, A, Dhull, SB, Kumar, P, Malik, T and Kumar, P. 2020. Taro starch: Isolation, morphology, modification and novel applications concern-A review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 163 (1): 1283-1290.
- Sit, N, Misra, S and Deka, SC. 2014. Characterization of physicochemical, functional, textural and color properties of starches from two different varieties of taro and their comparison to potato and rice starches. *Food Science and Technology Research* 20 (2): 357-365.
- Somendrika, M, Wickramasinghe, I, Wansapala, M and Peiris, S. 2016. Analyzing Proximate Composition Of Macro Nutrients of Sri Lankan Cassava Variety" Kirikawadi". *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* 15 (3): 283-287.
- Su, WH and Sun, DW. 2017. Chemical imaging for measuring the time series variations of tuber dry matter and starch concentration. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 140 (3): 361-373.
- Tano, K, Kamenan, A and Arul, J. 2005. Respiration and transpiration characteristics of selected fresh fruits and vegetables. *Agronomie africaine* 17 (2): 103-115.
- Tattiyakul, J, Asavasaksakul, S and Pradipasena, P. 2006. Chemical and physical properties of flour extracted from taro Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott grown in different regions of Thailand. *Science Asia* 32 (3): 279-284.
- Tetchi, FA, Rolland-Sabaté, A, Amani, GNG and Colonna, P. 2007. Molecular and physicochemical characterisation of starches from yam, cocoyam, cassava, sweet potato and ginger produced in the Ivory Coast. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 87 (10): 1906-1916.
- Teye, E, Asare, A, Amoah, R and Tetteh, J. 2011. Determination of the dry matter content of cassava (Manihot esculenta, Crantz) tubers using specific gravity method. ARPN Journal of Agricultural and Biological Science 6 (11): 23-28.
- Tolesa, G and Workneh, T.2017. Effects of evaporative cooling and CoolBot air conditioning on changes in the environmental conditions inside the cooling chamber. In: eds. Opara, U and Hoffman, E, VII International Conference on Managing Quality in Chains (MQUIC2017) and II International Symposium on Ornamentals in 1201, 281-288. International Society for Horticultural Science, Stellenbosch, South Africa.
- Ukom, A, Ojimelukwe, P and Okpara, D. 2009. Nutrient composition of selected sweet potato [Ipomea batatas (L) Lam] varieties as influenced by different levels of nitrogen fertilizer application. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* 8 (11): 1791-1795.

- Van Hung, P, Huong, NTM, Phi, NTL and Tien, NNT. 2017. Physicochemical characteristics and in vitro digestibility of potato and cassava starches under organic acid and heatmoisture treatments. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 95(1): 299-305.
- Van Hung, P, Vien, NL and Phi, NTL. 2016. Resistant starch improvement of rice starches under a combination of acid and heat-moisture treatments. *Food Chemistry* 191(2): 67-73.
- Vigneault, C, Thompson, J, Wu, S, Hui, KC and LeBlanc, DI. 2009. Transportation of fresh horticultural produce. *Postharvest technologies for horticultural crops* 2 (1): 1-24.
- Wang, H, Yang, Q, Ferdinand, U, Gong, X, Qu, Y, Gao, W, Ivanistau, A, Feng, B and Liu, M. 2020. Isolation and characterization of starch from light yellow, orange, and purple sweet potatoes. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 160 (3): 660-668.
- Wills, RB, Lim, JS, Greenfield, H and Bayliss-Smith, T. 1983. Nutrient composition of taro (Colocasia esculenta) cultivars from the Papua New Guinea highlands. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 34 (10): 1137-1142.
- Xiao, G, Huang, W, Cao, H, Tu, W, Wang, H, Zheng, X, Liu, J, Song, B and Xie, C. 2018. Genetic loci conferring reducing sugar accumulation and conversion of cold-stored potato tubers revealed by QTL analysis in a diploid population. *Frontiers in plant science* 9 (2): 315-331.
- Yu, Z-Y, Jiang, S-W, Cao, X-M, Jiang, S-T and Pan, L-J. 2016. Effect of high pressure homogenization (HPH) on the physical properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta (L). Schott) pulp. *Journal of Food Engineering* 177(1): 1-8.
- Zhang, Z, Wheatley, CC and Corke, H. 2002. Biochemical changes during storage of sweet potato roots differing in dry matter content. *Postharvest biology and technology* 24 (3): 317-325.

# 3. THE PHYSIOLOGICAL AND MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF *AMADUMBE* CORMS SUBJECTED TO DIFFERENT STORAGE METHODS

Chapter 2 revealed that minimal work has been done to quantify the effect of storage on quality attributes of *amadumbe* corms. So, this chapter will evaluate the changes in the quality of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions.

#### Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the effects of different storage conditions on the mechanical and physiological quality attributes of amadumbe corms. In this study, the commonly cultivated amadumbe variety (Dumbe-dumbe) in South Africa was stored in five different storage conditions: Low-cold storage, High-cold storage, CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, Underground storage, and Ambient storage as a control. The corms were stored in three replications using a Completely Randomised Block Design, and sampling was done after 14 days for 70 days. The data were analysed using Duncan's multiple range test with GenStat 18.2.1 software. The results revealed that High-cold storage resulted in the lowest reduction in shear force (24.73 %) and cutting energy (41.24 %). It also had the lowest increase in physiological weight loss (9.76 %), hardness (20.99 %), toughness (9.35 %), specific gravity (10.89), and dry matter content (25.51 %). At the same time, CoolBot® and evaporative resulted in the second-lowest increase in hardness (21.84 %), toughness (11.66 %), specific gravity (11.88 %), and dry matter content (29.45 %). In contrast, Ambient storage resulted in the highest increase in physiological weight loss (27.48 %) and hardness (47.33 %), while Lowcold storage resulted in the highest increase in toughness (20.48 %), specific gravity (18.81 %), and dry matter content (44.42 %). Ambient storage also resulted in the highest decrease in shear force (38.90 %), while Low-cold storage resulted in the highest decrease in cutting energy (57.81 %). Storage period had a significant impact in increasing the physiological weight loss (0-18 %), hardness (14.2 - 18.68 N), toughness (71.3 - 84.5 N.s), dry matter content (27.6 -36.9 %), specific gravity (1.0 - 1.2) and a significant impact in the reduction of the shear force  $(18.6 - 12.7 \text{ N.g}^{-1})$  and cutting energy (82.9 - 39.9 N.s). High-cold storage maintained the quality attributes better than all other storage conditions. However, to preserve the quality of *amadumbe* at an affordable price, the micro-environment inside a CoolBot® and evaporative cooler be improved. The improvements can be made by lowering the temperature to 10°C and increasing the ventilation.

# 3.1 Introduction

*Amadumbe* (*Colocasia esculenta L. Schott*), also known as Taro, is a vital source of carbohydrates grown in tropical and subtropical regions (Oyeyinka and Amonsou, 2020). Tubers have a high moisture content which makes them susceptible to microbial spoilage. Therefore, they need to be stored immediately or adequately processed (Naziri *et al.*, 2014). Quantitative and qualitative food losses occur during harvest and post-harvest stages due to poor temperature and relative humidity management, and improper packaging (Prusky, 2011; Zhang *et al.*, 2022). According to Morris *et al.* (2019) and Kuyu *et al.* (2019), post-harvest losses are mainly influenced by poor management skills and a lack of proper infrastructure. To prevent post-harvest losses, it is essential to use technologies that will promote and preserve the shelf life of fruits and vegetables (Nkolisa *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2021).

Mechanical refrigeration is one of the post-harvest technology methods used to reduce the deterioration rate by slowing down the respiration of fruits and vegetables (Jiménez-Zurita *et al.*, 2017). Refrigeration units allow temperature and relative humidity control to be executed effectively (Gao *et al.*, 2019). Some challenges come with cold storage of tubers, like chilling injuries, accumulation of reducing sugars, and a high energy cost to operate the refrigeration system (Herman *et al.*, 2017; Pang *et al.*, 2021). Small-scale farmers are the significant producers of *amadumbe* in South Africa, and they make use of affordable alternative methods to store *amadumbe* (Mehta *et al.*, 2010; Mngadi *et al.*, 2015). The methods include evaporative coolers and underground storage pits, which can reduce temperature and increase the relative humidity of the storage environment (Paul *et al.*, 2016; Babaremu *et al.*, 2019). These different storage conditions influence the post-harvest losses of *amadumbe* (Zeng *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, it is vital to understand how *amadumbe* responds to different environmental conditions.

This chapter aims to assess the effect of storing *amadumbe* in different environmental conditions on the mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe* and to study relations that exist between internal attributes of *amadumbe*. This section hypothesised that cold storage maintains the mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe* better than all storage conditions (Oyeyinka *et al.*, 2020).

# 3.2 Materials and Methods

The following methods were used to conduct this research.

# 3.2.1 Location and description of *amadumbe* sampling site

The most cultivated *amadumbe* variety in South Africa (*Dumbe-dumbe*) was used for analysis. *Dumbe-dumbe* was sourced from Dienyane Projects, a small-scale farmer in Swayimane, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa. The farm is located at 29.4878° S, 30.6603° E, at an elevation of about 610 m. It receives an annual rainfall in the range of 832-910 mm per year. The mean annual minimum temperature is 11.5°C, and the maximum temperature is 26.5°C.

#### 3.2.2 *Amadumbe* storage conditions and post-harvest sample preparations

The tubers were harvested after ten months. After that, *amadumbe* corms were washed using tap water and allowed to dry at ambient conditions. After drying, the corms with defects and harvest injuries were discarded. After preparations, the tubers were stored in five storage methods: (1) Low-cold storage (LC), (2) High-cold storage (HC), (3) CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage (CBEC), (4) Underground storage (U), and (5) Ambient storage (A) as a control. The tubers were left unpackaged throughout the storage period. Table 3.1 shows the average, minimum, and maximum obtained temperature, and relative humidity values throughout the storage period. One data logger was used per storage method to measure the temperature and relative humidity (Texture HOBO U23 Pro v2, Onset, United States of America). The data loggers were kept randomly in the different storage conditions. The Underground pit had the following dimensions 2 m x 1 m x 1 m and was lined with grass and covered with a galvanized sheet to prevent rain from entering the pit see Figure 3.1a-d.

	Storage Method									
	Α		U		CBEC		НС		LC	
Stats	Temp (°C)	RH (%)	Temp (°C)	RH (%)	Temp (°C)	RH (%)	Temp (°C)	RH (%)	Temp (°C)	RH (%)
Average	20.44	75.08	19.99	88.66	14.03	78.76	10.40	98.79	3.98	92.20
Min	17.30	75.02	17.51	78.02	12.34	64.75	9.26	97.57	3.80	89.71
Max	23.59	75.15	22.47	99.30	15.72	92.76	11.54	100.00	4.20	94.69
A = Ambient storage									HC = High-col	d storage

Table 3.1Temperature and relative humidity values of different storage conditions over 70 days.

CBEC = CoolBot<sup>®</sup> and evaporative cooler storage

U = Underground storage

Temp = Temperature and RH = Relative humidity

LC = Low-cold storage





(b)





(d)

Figure 3.1 Illustration of the underground storage pit used to store *amadumbe* corms



# 3.2.3 Experimental design

The experimental design can be found in Figure 3.2. The experiments were conducted using a Completely Randomised Block Design. A Randomised Block Design is achieved by setting up each experiment in groups called blocks and ensuring that each treatment appears in each block. The experiments had two factors (storage conditions and storage period). Sampling was done every 14<sup>th</sup> day for 70 days using three replications. *Amadumbe* corms were stored in five different storage conditions: Low-cold storage, High-cold storage, CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, Underground storage, and Ambient as a control. Sampling was done on days 0, 14, 28, 42, 56, and 70.

# 3.2.4 Data collection

Evaluation of all mechanical and physiological properties was done at the Food Science and Agricultural Engineering Laboratory, University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. A total of 1700 tubers was required but considering that some of the samples were damaged and had to be discarded a total of 2500 tubers was procured. The total sample was calculated based on all the experiments that will be conducted. A large tuber weighs about 80-100 g, therefore, about 112.5 kg of *amadumbe* will be required to conduct the experiments.

# 3.2.5 Physiological weight loss

The method used by Sajeev *et al.* (2004) was adopted for determining physiological weight loss. The physiological weight loss was measured by taking the weight (ALS-A; KERN, Germany) loss of *amadumbe*. The same tuber was used for measuring weight loss throughout the storage period. The physiological weight loss was calculated using Equation 3.1

$$PWL = \frac{W_i - W_t}{W_i} \times 100$$
(3.1)

where

PWL = Physiological weight loss (%), W<sub>i</sub> = initial weight of fresh *amadumbe* corm(g), and

 $W_t$  = weight of fresh *amadumbe* corm at any time (g).



Replications

Figure 3.2 Experimental design to determine mechanical and physiological properties of amadumbe corms

#### 3.2.6 Hardness and toughness

The method used by Sajeev *et al.* (2004) was adopted for puncture analysis with minor modification of the analyser settings. A texture analyser (TA.XTplus, Texture Technologies Company, United States of America) was used at the following settings: Option-return to start, pre speed =  $1.5 \text{ mm.s}^{-1}$ , speed =  $1 \text{ mm.s}^{-1}$ , post speed =  $10 \text{ mm.s}^{-1}$ , distance = 12 mm, trigger force = 0.02 kg, acquisition rate = 20 pps. The texture analyser gave an output graph which was used to read the firmness and toughness. Firmness was determined to be the peak of the puncture test, while toughness was the area of the puncture test.

# 3.2.7 Shear force and cutting energy

The method used by Harker et al. (1997) was adopted for shear analysis. Kramer shear was measured using a texture analyser (TA.XTplus, Texture Technologies Company, United States of America). However, a shear press-fitting was used as opposed to a puncture probe. The *amadumbe* corms were cut into 10 mm round slices using a knife for each sample, and the slices were measured using a Vainer caliper. The slices were weighed before being positioned in the sample chamber. The shear press plate was set to press the slices at a 1 mm.min<sup>-1</sup> speed. The maximum force applied was recorded and divided by the weight of the *amadumbe* slice to account for the difference in the area of the slice cut by the plates. The texture analyser gave an output graph which was used to read the cutting force and cutting energy. Cutting force was determined to be the peak of the shear test, while cutting energy was the area of the shear test.

#### 3.2.8 Specific gravity

The specific gravity was determined by measuring the weight of *amadumbe* in air and water after modification of the method used by Haase (2003). The amendment was necessary because temperature corrections factors have not been calculated for *amadumbe* corms. For this experiment, the water temperature was kept at 25.5°C. The same KERN ALS-A analytical scale with a maximum weight of 250 g was used for measurements. Then finally, the SG was calculated using the ratio of weight in water to the weight in the air (Equation 3.2)

$$SG = \frac{W_{AW}}{W_{AA}}$$
(3.2)

where

SG = Specific gravity (g.g<sup>-1</sup>),  $W_{AW}$  = weight of fresh *amadumbe* slice in water (g), and  $W_{AA}$  = weight of fresh *amadumbe* slice in the air (g).

## 3.2.9 Dry matter content

The destructive method used by Bekele and Haile (2019) was adopted with minor modifications for temperature and heating duration. The amendment was necessary due to the availability of one oven. The tubers were peeled, washed, sliced, and mixed, and 200 g samples were dried at 35°C for 48 hours and further dried at 105°C for 3 hours. Finally, the dry matter was determined by taking the ratio of the final weight to the initial weight measured using a KERN ALS-A analytical scale (Equation 3.3).

$$DMC = \frac{W_{f} - W_{d}}{W_{f}} \times 100$$
(3.3)

where

DMC = Dry matter content (%), W<sub>f</sub> = weight of fresh *amadumbe* slice (g), and W<sub>d</sub> = weight of dried *amadumbe* slice (g).

#### 3.2.10 Data analysis

Data analysis was performed using the GenStat 18.2.1 software, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for differences. The separation of means was determined using Duncan's multiple range test at the 5 % significant level. The relationship between the quality attributes was determined using linear regression analysis (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019).
#### 3.3 **Results and Discussion**

This Section will analyse the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms such as weight loss, shear force, cutting energy, hardness, toughness, dry matter content, and specific gravity. Table 3.2 shows the correlation between mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe*.

## 3.3.1 Physiological weight loss

Figure 3.3 illustrates the change in physiological weight loss of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The physiological weight loss ranged from 0.00 to 27.48 %. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the range reported by other authors such as Sajeev *et al.* (2004) (0.00 - 24.00 %) and Obetta *et al.* (2007) (1.00 - 16.00 %) and low compared to the range reported by Agbor-Egbe and Rickard. (1991) (0.00 - 60.00 %). The change in weight loss is influenced by post-harvest handling techniques such as storage and packaging (Chang and Kim, 2015; Haffez *et al.*, 2020).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the physiological weight of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage resulted in the lowest physiological weight loss of 9.76 % than all the storage conditions. In comparison, ambient storage conditions resulted in the highest physiological weight of 27.48 % after 70 days of storage. Figure 3.3 also shows that the more controlled storage environment, such as High and Low-cold storage conditions, can reduce weight loss more than the uncontrolled storage environments. This reduction is caused by low temperature, which reduces the respiration and transpiration of *amadumbe* corms. Agbor-Egbe and Rickard (1991) showed that storing *amadumbe* at 30°C resulted in a higher respiration rate of 8.60 – 13.30 mL.kg<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup> compared to 5.00 – 11.00 mL.kg<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup> at 15°C.

Agbor-Egbe and Rickard (1991) also showed that low relative humidity results in a higher respiration rate of *amadumbe*. The lower average relative humidity of 78.76 % in CoolBot® and evaporative storage conditions than 88.66 % in Underground storage is why this storage condition had a higher weight loss than Underground storage. When fruits are stored at low

relative humidity, there is an increase in the vapour pressure difference which, causes the transpiration rate to increase (Ramaswamy, 2014).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the physiological weight of *amadumbe* corms. The physiological weight loss increased from 0.00 to 18 .00 % on days 0 and 70, respectively. There was a faster loss in weight during the first 14 days, as evident by the sharper gradient that occurred during the first 14 days. This sharp gradient started to flatten for all storage conditions except Ambient storage conditions. Sajeev et al. (2004) also reported a higher weight loss during the first ten days of storage. The reduction in weight shows a decrease in quality and will produce fewer chips, bread, paste, and noodles (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015; Dite Hunjek *et al.*, 2020).

As shown in Table 3.2, the physiological weight loss showed a weak positive correlation with hardness (r = 0.473, p < 0.001) and toughness (r = 0.399, p < 0.001). This correlation occurs due to moisture loss during storage because of evapotranspiration. The loss of moisture causes a reduction in the weight loss of *amadumbe*, which increases the hardness and toughness of the tuber (Paniagua *et al.*, 2013; Dite Hunjek *et al.*, 2020). The physiological weight loss also had a moderately strong positive correlation with specific gravity (r = 0.607, p < 0.001) and dry matter content (r = 0.676, p < 0.001). Specific gravity and dry matter content increase as moisture is lost throughout the storage period. It also had showed a moderately strong negative correlation with shear force (r = 0.-593, p < 0.001) and cutting energy (r = -0.754, p < 0.001). The negative correlation occurs because cutting energy and shear force reduce due to processes such as starch degradation (Shapawi *et al.*, 2021).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the physiological weight loss of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage had the lowest increase in physiological weight loss of 9.76 % from days 0 to 70 while, and Ambient storage had the highest increase of 27.48 %.

Parameter	Physiological weigh loss	Hardness	Toughness	Shear force	Cutting energy	Specific gravity	Dry matter content
PWL	1.000						
Hardness	0.473***	1.000					
Toughness	0.399***	0.235**	1.000				
Shear Force	-0.593***	-0.271**	-0.537***	1.000			
Cutting Energy	-0.754***	-0.479***	-0.521***	0.728***	1.000		
Specific gravity	0.607***	0.383***	0.440***	-0.448***	-0.662***	1.000	
Dry Matter Content	0.676***	0.469***	0.469***	-0.441***	-0.707***	0.596***	1.000

Table 3.2Pearson correlation coefficients of amadumbe properties

p > 0.05\*, p < 0.05\*\*, p < 0.001\*\*



Figure 3.3 Change in physiological weight loss of *amadumbe* stored in different conditions. A
= Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage

#### 3.3.2 Hardness and toughness

The texture is one of the quality parameters used by consumers to assess the suitability of a commodity for consumption (Paniagua *et al.*, 2013). Figure 3.4a-b illustrates the change in hardness of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The hardness ranged from 14.25 to 20.98 N. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the range reported by Sajeev *et al.* (2004) (12.26 - 18.45 N). The hardness of a tuber is influenced by post-harvest storage conditions, storage time, and packaging (Dite Hunjek *et al.*, 2020).

Figure 3.4b illustrates the change in hardness of *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions. The results show that storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the hardness of *amadumbe* corms. However, Ambient storage conditions had the highest hardness of 18.35 N, while High-cold storage had the lowest of 16.67 N. Sajeev *et al.* (2004) also reported higher firmness for *amadumbe* stored in ambient storage conditions as compared to those stored in an evaporative cooler and a refrigerator. The increase in hardness in this study is contrary to the work reported by Chang and Kim (2015) and Sanchez et al. (2021), who found a reduction in firmness of *amadumbe* and sweet potatoes during storage. Both these authors had peeled the tubers before conducting the textural analysis. The increase reported in this present work may be due to an increase in elasticity of *amadumbe* peels during storage which requires a higher force for penetration to be achieved (Paniagua et al., 2013).

Figure 3.4a illustrates the change in hardness of *amadumbe* as the storage period is increased. The results show that the storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the hardness of *amadumbe* corms. *Amadumbe* hardness increased from 14.24 to 18.68 N on day 0 and day 70, respectively. Dite Hunjek et al. (2020) also reported an increase in potato firmness during storage. Rocculi *et al.* (2009) reported that the firmness of potatoes increases over time due to moisture loss, wounding response, and cross-linking of cell substances. Hardness showed a weak positive correlation with toughness (r = 0.473, p < 0.001), specific gravity (r = 0.383, p < 0.001) and dry matter content (r = 0.469, p < 0.001). Sanchez *et al.* (2021) also reported a strong positive correlation between texture and dry matter content during the storage of sweet potatoes. Hardness also showed a weak negative correlation with shear force (r = -0.271, p < 0.009) and cutting energy (r = 0.479, p < 0.001).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the hardness of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage had the lowest increase in hardness of 20.99 % from days 0 to 70 while, and Ambient storage had the highest increase of 47.33 %. Therefore, High-cold storage is the best storage method in preserving the hardness of *amadumbe* corms, while Ambient storage was the worst storage method.

Figure 3.4c-d illustrates the change in the toughness of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The toughness ranged from 70.92 to 93.68 N. Figure 3.4d illustrates the change in toughness of *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions. The results show that storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the toughness of *amadumbe* corms. Low and High-cold storage conditions had the highest and lowest toughness of 82.97 and 79.62 N.s, respectively (Figure 3.4d). The high toughness of cold storage still needs to be elucidated. The possible hypothesis for this increase in toughness may be due to lignification of the cell wall due to biochemical reactions during cold-induced sweetening (Afoakwa and Sefa-Dedeh, 2002; Paniagua *et al.*, 2013).

Figure 3.4c illustrates the change in toughness of *amadumbe* as the storage period is increased. The results shows that the storage period had a significant impact (P < 0.01) on the toughness of *amadumbe* corms. The toughness of *amadumbe* increased from 71.33 to 84.51 N.s on day 0 and day 70, respectively (Figure 3.4c). Toughness showed a weak positive correlation with specific gravity (r = 0.440, p < 0.001) and dry matter content (r = 0.469, p < 0.001). The fact that there is no correlation may be due to the elasticity of *amadumbe* peels, which may have caused toughness to increase, just as Paniagua *et al.* (2013) concluded. The toughness was also found to have a moderately strong negative correlation with shear force (r = -0.537, p < 0.001) and cutting energy (r = 0.-521, p < 0.001).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the toughness of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage had the lowest increase in toughness of 9.35 % from days 0 to 70 while, Low-cold storage had the highest increase of 20.48%. Therefore, High-cold storage is the best storage method in preserving the toughness of *amadumbe* corms, while Low-cold storage was the worst storage method.



(a)

(b)



Figure 3.4 The effect of storage on the hardness and toughness of *amadumbe*. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

#### 3.3.3 Shear force and cutting energy

Figure 3.5a-b illustrates the change in the shear force of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The shear force ranged from 10.92 to 18.56 N.g<sup>-1</sup>. Figure 3.5b illustrates the change in shear force of *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions. The results show that storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the shear force of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage had the highest shear force of 14.93 N.g<sup>-1</sup>, while Low-cold had the lowest shear force of 14.25 N.g<sup>-1</sup>. The high shear force in High-cold storage shows less structural degradation than other storage conditions (Shapawi et al., 2021). The low shear force in low-cold storage may be due to the breaking down of starch into reducing sugars which affects the structural integrity of the tuber (Modi and Mare, 2016).

Figure 3.5b illustrates the change in shear force of *amadumbe* flour as the storage period is increased. The results shows that the storage period had a significant difference (p < 0.001) on the shear force of *amadumbe* corms. The shear force of *amadumbe* corms reduced from 18.56 to 12.66 N.g<sup>-1</sup> on days 0 and 70, respectively. Ghosh and Das (2014) reported a decrease in the shear force of potatoes stored for six months. The reduction in shear force is due to physicochemical changes because of the degradation of tuber structural elements. The shear force showed a weak negative correlation with specific gravity (r = -0.448, p < 0.001) and dry matter content (r = -0.441, p < 0.001). During storage, *amadumbe* loses moisture due to respiration and loses structural integrity due to processes such as starch degradation, which reduces the shear force (Modi and Mare, 2016). The shear force also showed a moderately strong positive correlation with cutting energy (r = 0.728, p < 0.001). The correlation of shear force and cutting energy was expected because cutting energy is the energy required for shear to occur (Sajeev *et al.*, 2004).

Figure 3.5c-d illustrates the change in cutting energy of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The cutting energy ranged from 34.99 to 82.95 N.s. Figure 3.5d illustrates the change in cutting energy of *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions. The results shows that storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the cutting energy of *amadumbe*. High-cold storage had the highest cutting energy of 62.76 N.s. while low-cold storage had the lowest cutting energy of 53.86 N.s. Therefore, storing

*amadumbe* in High-cold storage results in better retention of the structural integrity (Shapawi et al., 2021).

Figure 3.5c illustrates the change in cutting energy of *amadumbe* as the storage period is increased. The results show that the storage period also had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the cutting of energy *amadumbe*. The cutting energy of *amadumbe* corms reduced from 82.95 to 39.92 N.s on days 0 and 70, respectively. This reduction in the cutting energy of *amadumbe* may be desirable when designing equipment that may be used to cut *amadumbe* crisps because less energy will be needed to cut the slices. The cutting energy showed a moderately strong negative correlation with specific gravity (r = 0.-0.662, p < 0.001) and dry matter content (r = 0.707, p < 0.001). Since crisp production requires tubers with high dry matter content and specific gravity, this correlation is favourable because the cutting energy reduces as the specific gravity and dry matter content increases (Hollyer *et al.*, 2000; Paull and Ching, 2015). However, a subjective quality analysis experiment that focuses on colour, taste, appearance, and texture may be required to index the storage time where *amadumbe* crisp will still be regarded as palatable.

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the cutting energy of *amadumbe* corms. High-cold storage had the lowest reduction in cutting energy of 41.24 % from days 0 to 70, and Ambient storage had the highest reduction of 49.70 %. Therefore, High-cold storage is the best storage method in preserving the cutting energy of *amadumbe* corms, while Ambient storage was the worst storage method.



(a)

(b)

66



(c)

(d)

Figure 3.5 The effect of storage on the shear force and cutting energy of *amadumbe*. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot<sup>®</sup> and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

## 3.3.4 Specific gravity

Table 3.3 illustrates the change in specific gravity of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The specific gravity of *amadumbe* corms ranged between 1.01 and 1.20. The range obtained in this work is comparable to the work done by other authors such as Buragohain *et al.* (2013), that reported that the specific gravity of 20 *amadumbe* cultivars ranged between 1.08 to 1.58, and Mare (2009), who reported that the specific gravity of South African *amadumbe* corms to range between 0.97 to 1.09.

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the specific gravity of *amadumbe* corms. However, High-cold storage resulted in the lowest specific gravity of 1.08, while Low-cold storage had the highest specific gravity of 1.11. The low specific gravity in High-cold storage is due to lower moisture loss because of evaporation (Paull and Ching, 2015). It also indicates that this storage method results in less structural degradation than other storage conditions (Shapawi et al., 2021). High-cold storage can reduce the respiration rate of *amadumbe*, which results in less loss of structural integrity (Dite Hunjek *et al.*, 2020).

The storage period had a significant difference (p < 0.001) on the specific gravity of *amadumbe* corms. The specific gravity of *amadumbe* corms increased from 1.01 to 1.16 on days 0 and 70, respectively. Table 3.3 shows that the specific gravity of *amadumbe* reduced throughout the storage period in all storage conditions except for High-cold storage, where the specific gravity remained relatively constant between days 28 and 56. Hollyer *et al.* (2000) reported that potatoes with a specific gravity greater than 1.08 produce good quality crisps. After 28 days of storage, the specific gravity of *amadumbe* is greater than or equal to 1.08 in all storage conditions. Therefore it can be inferred that after 28 days, the oil uptake of *amadumbe* is reduced, thus resulting in good quality crisp (Golmohammadi and Afkari-Sayyah, 2013).

Specific gravity showed a moderately strong positive correlation with and dry matter content (r = 0.596, p < 0.001). Mohammed (2016) and Abebe *et al.* (2013) also found a strong positive correlation between specific gravity and dry matter content. The correlations reported in their

studies were around 0.9; therefore, these authors could generate accurate linear regression models. In this present study the correlation for day 0 was (r = 0.826, p < 0.001). However, the correlation drops once the tubers are stored in different storage environments. The different storage conditions may cause the reduction in correlation because the stored tubers may have different pulp temperatures, thus affecting the specific gravity readings (Kleinkopf *et al.*, 1987; Bekele and Haile, 2019).

Storage period (Days)	А	U	U CBEC		LC	
0	$1.01(0.01)^{a}$	1.01(0.01) <sup>a</sup>	1.01(0.01) <sup>a</sup>	$1.01(0.01)^{a}$	1.01(0.01) <sup>a</sup>	
14	$1.07(0.04)^{abc}$	1.08(0.03) <sup>abc</sup>	$1.02(0.07)^{ab}$	1.02(0.01) <sup>ab</sup>	1.09(0.06) <sup>abc</sup>	
28	1.09(0.00) <sup>abc</sup>	1.08(0.06) <sup>abc</sup>	1.09(0.06) <sup>abc</sup>	$1.10(0.04)^{abc}$	1.11(0.02) <sup>a-e</sup>	
42	1.10(0.03) <sup>abc</sup>	1.09(0.04) <sup>abc</sup>	1.13(0.03) <sup>cde</sup>	$1.10(0.03)^{a-d}$	1.12(0.04) <sup>b-e</sup>	
56	1.11(0.01) <sup>b-e</sup>	1.13(0.05) <sup>cde</sup>	1.14(0.04) <sup>cde</sup>	1.11(0.02) <sup>b-e</sup>	1.16(0.02) <sup>cde</sup>	
70	1.13(0.02) <sup>cde</sup>	1.20(0.16) <sup>e</sup>	1.16(0.07) <sup>cde</sup>	1.12(0.06) <sup>b-e</sup>	1.20(0.06) <sup>de</sup>	
Storage conditions (A)		0.275	LSD	0.	0.079	
Storage period (B)		< 0.001	SE	0.	0.049	
Storage conditions * Storage period (A*B)		) 0.885	CV (%	b) 4.	.500	

Table 3.3The specific gravity of amadumbe subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three replications. Data in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The values with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

## 3.3.5 Dry matter content

Table 3.4 illustrates the change in dry matter content of *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions and storage period. The dry matter content of *amadumbe* corms ranged between 27.64 and 37.29 %. This range is comparable to the range obtained by other authors such as Kristl *et al.* (2021) (27.80 – 30.20 %), Mare (2009) (23.50 – 32.50 %), and Buragohain *et al.* (2013) (19.91 – 36.91 %). The dry matter content is influenced by harvest time, cultivar, storage period, and storage temperature (Krochmal-Marczak *et al.*, 2020; Kristl *et al.*, 2021).

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the dry matter content of *amadumbe*. However, Low-cold storage resulted in the highest dry matter content of 32.36 %, while Highcold storage had the lowest of 31.73 %. Krochmal-Marczak *et al.* (2020) also reported lower dry matter content for sweet potatoes stored at 5°C as compared to those held at 15°C. Kaaber *et al.* (2001) also found that the dry matter content increased for tubers stored at 8°C and reduced for tubers stored at 4°C. This increase in dry matter content is due to a loss in moisture content due to evaporation.

The storage period had a significant difference (p < 0.001) on the dry matter content of *amadumbe*. Table 3.4 illustrates that the dry matter of *amadumbe* increased throughout the storage period in all storage conditions. Kaur *et al.* (2007) reported that an increase in temperature and storage period increased the dry matter content of potatoes. However, the increase was only significant for potatoes stored at 16 and 20°C. The increase is due to loss of moisture during storage and an increase in the respiration rate when tubers are stored at high temperatures (Ezekiel *et al.*, 1999; Kaur *et al.*, 2007). The increase in dry matter content is beneficial when making crisps because it lowers oil uptake (Kaur *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, the Low dry matter content in High and low-cold storage conditions may result in lower quality crisp.

Storage period (Days)	А	U	CBEC	HC	LC
0	27.64(1.69) <sup>a</sup>				
14	30.72(1.22) <sup>a-e</sup>	28.50(1.70) <sup>abc</sup>	29.40(7.18) <sup>a-d</sup>	31.39(2.89) <sup>a-e</sup>	30.94(2.18) <sup>a-e</sup>
28	31.22(0.96) <sup>a-e</sup>	30.30(2.62) <sup>a-e</sup>	30.79(1.80) <sup>a-e</sup>	32.39(0.23) <sup>a-f</sup>	31.09(0.57) <sup>a-e</sup>
42	32.31(2.26) <sup>a-f</sup>	34.19(0.55) <sup>c-f</sup>	33.33(3.27) <sup>a-f</sup>	32.78(1.53) <sup>a-f</sup>	32.09(1.80) <sup>a-f</sup>
56	34.99(0.14) <sup>d-g</sup>	34.23(0.81) <sup>def</sup>	33.69(1.31) <sup>c-f</sup>	32.98 <sup>(a-e)</sup>	33.73(3.38) <sup>c-f</sup>
70	37.29(4.42) <sup>fg</sup>	37.29(3.73) <sup>fg</sup>	35.78(0.63) <sup>efg</sup>	34.59(1.40) <sup>def</sup>	39.92(3.05) <sup>g</sup>
Storage conditions (A)		0.879	0.879 LSD		4.680
Storage period (B)		< 0.001	SE		2.865
Storage conditions *	A*B) 0.929	CV	(%)	8.900	

 Table 3.4
 Dry matter content of *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three replications. Data in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The values with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

#### 3.4 Conclusion

This research investigated the effect of storing *amadumbe* in different environmental conditions on the mechanical and physiological properties of *amadumbe*. The study affirms the null hypothesis that High-cold storage conditions (9.26 - 11.54°C, 97.57 - 100.00 %) will preserve the quality attributes of *amadumbe* better than all storage conditions. The study revealed that the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms are influenced by storage conditions, storage period, and the interaction of storage conditions and storage period. All studied parameters, namely: physiological weight loss, hardness, toughness, shear force, cutting energy, specific gravity, and dry matter content, showed a significant correlation with each other. A short shelf-life and massive quality changes were observed in all corms stored in Ambient storage conditions (17.30 - 23.59°C, 75.02 - 75.15 %). Ambient storage had

the highest increase in physiological weight loss, hardness, toughness, specific gravity, and dry matter content. It also had the lowest decrease in shear force and cutting energy. While High-cold storage followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage ( $12.32 - 15.72^{\circ}$ C, 64.75 - 92.76%) seemed to have a slow quality change. The study revealed that the storage period resulted in an increase in physiological weight loss (0 - 18%), hardness (14.2 - 18.68 N), toughness (71.3 - 84.5 N.s), dry matter content (27.6 - 36.9%), specific gravity (1.0 - 1.2) and a significant impact in the reduction of the shear force (18.6 - 12.7 N.g<sup>-1</sup>) and cutting energy (82.9 - 39.9 N.s).

This study shows that high-cold storage can preserve quality attributes of *amadumbe* more than all studied storage conditions. However, storing *amadumbe* at high-cold storage can be costly, so to maintain the quality of *amadumbe* for longer durations at an affordable price, it is recommended that the micro-environment inside a CoolBot® and evaporative cooler be improved by lowering the temperature to 10°C and increasing the ventilation.

# 3.5 References

- Abebe, T, Wongchaochant, S and Taychasinpitak, T. 2013. Evaluation of specific gravity of potato varieties in Ethiopia as a criterion for determining processing quality. *Kasetsart J.(Nat. Sci.)* 47: (1): 30-41.
- Afoakwa, EO and Sefa-Dedeh, S. 2002. Textural and microstructural changes associated with post-harvest hardening of trifoliate yam (Dioscorea dumetorum) pax tubers. *Food Chemistry* 77 (3): 279-284.
- Agbor-Egbe, T and Rickard, JE. 1991. Study on the factors affecting storage of edible aroids. Annals of Applied Biology 119 (1): 121-130.
- Babaremu, K, Adekanye, T, Okokpujie, I, Fayomi, J and Atiba, O. 2019. The significance of active evaporative cooling system in the shelf life enhancement of vegetables (red and green tomatoes) for minimizing post-harvest losses. *Procedia Manufacturing* 35 (1): 1256-1261.
- Bekele, T and Haile, B. 2019. Evaluation of improved potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties for some quality attributes at Shebench Woreda of Bench-Maji Zone, Southwestern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 14 (7): 389-394.

- Buragohain, J, Angami, T, Choudhary, B, Singh, P, Bhatt, B, Thirugnanavel, A and Deka, BC.
  2013. Quality evaluation of indigenous taro (Colocasia esculenta L.) cultivars of Nagaland. *Indian Journal of Hill Farming* 26 (2): 16-20.
- Chang, M-S and Kim, G-H. 2015. Combined effect of hot water dipping and vacuum packaging for maintaining the postharvest quality of peeled taro. *Horticulture, Environment, and Biotechnology* 56 (5): 662-668.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. AIMS Agriculture and Food 4 (4): 939-966.
- Dite Hunjek, D, Pranjić, T, Repajić, M and Levaj, B. 2020. Fresh-cut potato quality and sensory: Effect of cultivar, age, processing, and cooking during storage. *Journal of Food Science* 85 (8): 2296-2309.
- Ezekiel, R, Paul, V, Singh, J and Shekhawat, G. 1999. Potato storage in India. *Indian farming* 49 (9): 21-25.
- Gao, Y, Liu, Y, Kan, C, Chen, M and Chen, J. 2019. Changes of peel color and fruit quality in navel orange fruits under different storage methods. *Scientia Horticulturae* 256 (1): 108-122.
- Ghosh, S and Das, M. 2014. Optimization of the effect of gamma radiation on textural properties of different varieties of potato (Kufri Chandramukhi and Kufri Jyoti) and mango (Langra and Fazli) during storage by response surface methodology. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies* 26 (1): 257-264.
- Golmohammadi, A and Afkari-Sayyah, AH. 2013. Long-term storage effects on the physical properties of the potato. *International journal of food properties* 16 (1): 104-113.
- Haase, NU. 2003. Estimation of dry matter and starch concentration in potatoes by determination of under-water weight and near infrared spectroscopy. *Potato research* 46 (3): 117-127.
- Haffez, MM, Elkeleny, SS and Gharib, AH. 2020. Effect of Some Antioxidant Agents on Quality Attributes and Storability of Fresh Cut Taro. *Journal of Plant Production* 11 (12): 1507-1515.
- Harker, FR, Stec, MG, Hallett, IC and Bennett, CL. 1997. Texture of parenchymatous plant tissue: a comparison between tensile and other instrumental and sensory measurements of tissue strength and juiciness. *Postharvest biology and technology* 11 (2): 63-72.

- Herman, DJ, Knowles, LO and Knowles, NR. 2017. Heat stress affects carbohydrate metabolism during cold-induced sweetening of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). *Planta* 245 (3): 563-582.
- Hollyer, J, Paull, R and Huang, A. 2000. Processing taro chips. *Food Manfucturing Technology* 1 (1): 21-22.
- Jiménez-Zurita, JO, Balois-Morales, R, Alia-Tejacal, I, Sánchez Herrera, LM, Jiménez-Ruiz, EI, Bello-Lara, JE, García-Paredes, JD and Juárez-López, P. 2017. Cold storage of two selections of soursop (Annona muricata L.) in Nayarit, Mexico. *Journal of Food Quality* 2017 (3): 203-218.
- Kaaber, L, Bråthen, E, Martinsen, BK and Shomer, I. 2001. The effect of storage conditions on chemical content of raw potatoes and texture of cooked potatoes. *Potato research* 44 (2): 153-163.
- Kaur, A, Singh, N and Ezekiel, R. 2008. Quality parameters of potato chips from different potato cultivars: Effect of prior storage and frying temperatures. *International journal* of food properties 11 (4): 791-803.
- Kaur, L, Singh, J, Singh, N and Ezekiel, R. 2007. Textural and pasting properties of potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) as affected by storage temperature. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 87 (3): 520-526.
- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2015. Utilization of taro (Colocasia esculenta): a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 52 (1): 27-40.
- Kleinkopf, G, Westermann, D, Wille, M and Kleinschmidt, G. 1987. Specific gravity of Russet Burbank potatoes. *American Potato Journal* 64 (11): 579-587.
- Kristl, J, Sem, V, Mergeduš, A, Zavišek, M, Ivančič, A and Lebot, V. 2021. Variation in oxalate content among corm parts, harvest time, and cultivars of taro (Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott). *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 102 (104001): 1-2.
- Krochmal-Marczak, B, Sawicka, B, Krzysztofik, B, Danilčenko, H and Jariene, E. 2020. The Effects of Temperature on the Quality and Storage Stalibity of Sweet Potato (Ipomoea batatas L.[Lam]) Grown in Central Europe. *Agronomy* 10 (11): 1665.
- Kuyu, CG, Tola, YB and Abdi, GG. 2019. Study on post-harvest quantitative and qualitative losses of potato tubers from two different road access districts of Jimma zone, South West Ethiopia. *Heliyon* 5 (8): 22-72.

- Mare, R. 2009. Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) yield and quality response to planting date and organic fertilisation. Unpublished PhD thesis, School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.
- Mehta, A, Singh, B, Ezekiel, R and Kumar, D. 2010. Effect of CIPC on sprout inhibition and processing quality of potatoes stored under traditional storage systems in India. *Potato research* 53 (1): 1-15.
- Mngadi, S, Moodley, R and Jonnalagadda, SB. 2015. Elemental distribution and chemical composition of *Amadumbe* (Colocasia esculanta) leaf and impact of soil quality. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 24 (4): 1250-1257.
- Modi, A and Mare, R. 2016. Alpha Amylase Activity and Sprouting During Short Term Storage of Taro Corms. *Journal of Agriculture, Science and Technology* 18 (1): 1053-1063.
- Mohammed, W. 2016. Specific gravity, dry matter content, and starch content of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties cultivated in eastern ethiopia. *East African Journal of Sciences* 10 (2): 87-102.
- Morris, KJ, Kamarulzaman, NH and Morris, KI. 2019. Small-scale postharvest practices among plantain farmers and traders: A potential for reducing losses in rivers state, Nigeria. *Scientific African* 4 (2): 1286-1298.
- Naziri, D, Quaye, W, Siwoku, B, Wanlapatit, S, Viet Phu, T and Bennett, B. 2014. The diversity of postharvest losses in cassava value chains in selected developing countries. *Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development in the Tropics and Subtropics* 115 (2): 111-123.
- Nkolisa, N, Magwaza, LS, Workneh, TS and Chimpango, A. 2018. Evaluating evaporative cooling system as an energy-free and cost-effective method for postharvest storage of tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum L.) for smallholder farmers. *Scientia horticulturae* 241 (3): 131-143.
- Obetta, S, Ijabo, O and Satimehin, A. 2007. Evaluation of a ventilated underground storage for cocoyams (taro). *Agricultural Engineering International: CIGR Journal* 07 (17): 1-15.
- Oyeyinka, SA and Amonsou, EO. 2020. Composition, pasting and thermal properties of flour and starch derived from *amadumbe* with different corm sizes. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57 (10): 3688-3695.

- Oyeyinka, SA, Salako, MO, Akintayo, OA, Adeloye, AA, Nidoni, U, Dudu, OE and Diarra, SS. 2020. Structural, functional, and pasting properties of starch from refrigerated cassava root. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation* 44 (6): e14476.
- Pang, L, Lu, G, Cheng, J, Lu, X, Ma, D, Li, Q, Li, Z, Zheng, J, Zhang, C and Pan, S. 2021.
  Physiological and biochemical characteristics of sweet potato (Ipomoea batatas (L.)
  Lam) roots treated by a high voltage alternating electric field during cold storage. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 180 (111619): 1-15.
- Paniagua, A, East, A, Hindmarsh, J and Heyes, J. 2013. Moisture loss is the major cause of firmness change during postharvest storage of blueberry. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 79 (1): 13-19.
- Paul, V, Ezekiel, R and Pandey, R. 2016. Sprout suppression on potato: need to look beyond CIPC for more effective and safer alternatives. *Journal of food science and technology* 53 (1): 1-18.
- Paull, R and Ching, C. 2015. Taro: Postharvest quality-maintenance guideline. *College of Tropical Agriculture and Human Resources, University of Hawaï* 5 (1): 1-3.
- Prusky, D. 2011. Reduction of the incidence of postharvest quality losses, and future prospects. *Food Security* 3 (4): 463-474.
- Ramaswamy, HS. 2014. Post-harvest technologies of fruits & vegetables. DEStech Publications Inc, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Rocculi, P, Romani, S, Gomez, F and Dalla Rosa, M. 2009. Effect of minimal processing on physiology and quality of fresh-cut potatoes, a review. *Food* 3 18-30.
- Sajeev, M, Manikantan, M, Kingsly, A, Moorthy, S and Sreekumar, J. 2004. Texture analysis of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) cormels during storage and cooking. *Journal of Food Science* 69 (7): 315-321.
- Sanchez, PDC, Hashim, N, Shamsudin, R and Nor, MZM. 2021. Effects of different storage temperatures on the quality and shelf life of Malaysian sweet potato (Ipomoea Batatas L.) varieties. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life* 28 (100642): 1-9.
- Shapawi, Z-IA, Ariffin, SH, Shamsudin, R, Tawakkal, ISMA and Gkatzionis, K. 2021. Modeling respiration rate of fresh-cut sweet potato (Anggun) stored in different packaging films. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life* 28 (100657): 1-10.

- Zeng, C, Tan, P and Liu, Z. 2019. Effect of exogenous ARA treatment for improving postharvest quality in cherry tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) fruits. *Scientia Horticulturae* 12 (4): 108-121.
- Zhang, H, Liu, X, Nie, B, Song, B, Du, P, Liu, S, Li, L and Zhao, Z. 2022. Nitrogen management can inhibit or induce the sprouting of potato tubers: Consequences of regulation tuberization. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 183 (111722): 1-12.
- Zhang, W, Jiang, H, Cao, J and Jiang, W. 2021. Advances in biochemical mechanisms and control technologies to treat chilling injury in postharvest fruits and vegetables. *Trends* in Food Science & Technology 113 (1): 355-365.

•

# 4. PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF *AMADUMBE* FLOUR DERIVED FROM AMDUMBE CORMS SUBJECTED TO DIFFERENT STORAGE METHODS

*Amadumbe* has a high moisture content, so it is necessary to process it into flour to extend its shelf life. Chapter 3 revealed that storage conditions influenced the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms. So, this chapter will evaluate the changes in the quality of *amadumbe* flour derived from *amadumbe* corms subjected to different storage conditions.

#### Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the effects of different storage conditions on the proximate composition, functional and morphological quality attributes of amadumbe flour. Amadumbe flour was derived from corms subjected to five storage conditions: Low-cold storage, Highcold storage, CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, Underground storage, and Ambient storage as a control. The corms were stored in three replications using a completely Randomised Block Design. Three different experimental designs were used in this chapter. The first two experimental designs had two treatments: storage conditions and storage period. However, sampling was done every 14th day for 70 days in experiment one and on days 0 and 70 in experiment two. The third experimental design had three treatments: storage conditions, storage period, and temperature, and sampling was done every 14th day for 70 days. The data were analysed using the Duncan multiple range test at a 5 % significance level. The results obtained in this study showed that storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) in increasing the crude fat, reducing sugar content, water holding capacity, and oil holding capacity, and decreasing the swelling power and solubility of amadumbe flour. High-cold storage was the best method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* flour. It resulted in the lowest reduction in moisture content (2.67 %), crude protein (5.89 %), swelling power (16.44 %), solubility (20.41 %), L\* (0.04 %), degradation of amadumbe flour starch granules. It also resulted in the highest increase in crude fat (55. 56 %), oil holding capacity (94.58 %), and a\* (137.28). Ambient storage was the worst storage method in preserving the quality attributes of amadumbe flour. It resulted in the highest decrease in moisture (7.02 %), solubility (31.59 %), and L\* (2.51 %). It also resulted in the lowest increase in crude fat (2.78 %), reducing sugar content (91.75 %), water holding capacity (70.85 %), and oil holding capacity (85.99 %). The microscopic morphologies of *amadumbe* flour were irregular and polygonal in shape. On day 0, the flours exhibited larger densely packed granular particles connected by fibrous materials. After 70 days of storage, there was a reduction in the size and compactness of the granular particles. This study found that CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage is the second-best storage method after High-cold storage. Therefore, it can be used as an alternate method in cases where a refrigerator cannot be afforded.

## 4.1 Introduction

*Amadumbe* has a high moisture content which limits its shelf life, one of the ways used to preserve the shelf life is processing it into flour (Pérez et al., 2005). The processing of *amadumbe* into flour reduces its size and makes storage more convenient (Shi et al., 2017). Besides size reduction and extended shelf life, *amadumbe* has been gaining more scientific attention because it has health-related benefits such as aiding with digestion and reducing blood sugar levels (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015; Wongsagonsup *et al.*, 2021).

The performance of flour as a food ingredient is dependent on its nutritional and functional properties (Njintang *et al.*, 2008b). According to Chandra et al. (2015), *amadumbe* with a high water holding capacity is suitable for producing dough, processed cheese, and baked products. The ability to hold water makes *amadumbe* suitable for producing foods that require a thick viscosity, such as soups and gravies (Kaur et al., 2013; Kaushal et al., 2015). High oil holding capacity is suitable for industries where fat absorption is desired, like bakery and meat products (Chandra et al., 2015). The small granule size of *amadumbe* flour makes it suitable for producing biodegradable polyethylene film (Naidoo et al., 2015; Mukurumbira et al., 2017).

The composition of *amadumbe* flour is influenced by factors such as storage, cultivar, and geographical location (Sit et al., 2014). Previous studies in South Africa have focused on the water use and drought tolerance of locally grown varieties (Mabhaudhi and Modi, 2015), starch properties of cultivated and wild *amadumbe* types (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). The impact of genotype and growth location on composition and functionality of *amadumbe* flour (Mawoyo

*et al.*, 2017) and recently, the composition, pasting, and thermal properties of flour and starch derived from *amadumbe* with different corm sizes (Oyeyinka and Amonsou, 2020). Modi and Mare (2016) studied the impact of temperatures on the short-term storage of South African *amadumbe* corms. However, the study only had two storage conditions and did not focus on the functional properties of *amadumbe* flour. Therefore, this study was conducted to quantify the impact of various storage environments on the functional properties of flour derived from stored *amadumbe* corms.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

This section contains all materials and methods used to quantify the impact of different storage conditions on the quality properties of *amadumbe* flour.

## 4.2.1 Post-harvest sample preparations

The tubers were harvested after ten months. After that, the tubers were washed using tap water and allowed to dry at ambient conditions. The corms with defects and harvest injuries were discarded immediately after drying.

# 4.2.2 Data Collection

Evaluation of all physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour was done at the Food Science and Agricultural Engineering Laboratory, University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

## 4.2.3 Experimental design

Three experimental designs were used in this chapter. The difference between experimental designs 1 and 2 was due to financial constraints, which resulted in sampling for experimental design 2 only being done on days 0 and 70. Experimental design 3 differed because temperature becomes an additional treatment when calculating swelling power and solubility.

#### 4.2.3.1 Experiment design 1

The experimental design to determine flour yield, water holding capacity, and oil holding capacity was conducted using a Completely Randomised Block Design. The experimental design had two factors (storage conditions and storage period). Sampling was done every 14<sup>th</sup> day for 70 days using three replications (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 3.2 of Section 3.2.3).

# 4.2.3.2 Experiment design 2

The experimental design to determine flour morphology and proximate composition were similar to Experiment design 1. However, sampling was only done on days 0 and 70. (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 4.1)

# 4.2.3.3 Experiment design 3

The experimental design to determine swelling power and solubility was conducted using a Completely Randomised Block Design. The experimental design had three factors (storage conditions, storage period, and temperature). Sampling was done every 14<sup>th</sup> day for 70 days using three replications (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 4.2).

## 4.2.4 Flour extraction and yield

The method used by Naidoo et al. (2015) was used with minor modification to extract the flour. The *amadumbe* were brought to the laboratory for analysis immediately after harvest. The tubers were washed, peeled, chopped into small pieces, and then milled using a blender. The resultant pulp was oven-dried at 35°C for 48 h. The flour yield was calculated as the ratio of the flour obtained to the weight of the tuber used (Equation 4.1).

$$FY = \frac{W_{fa}}{W_t} \times 100$$
(4.1)

where

$$FY = Flour yield (\%),$$

- $W_{fa}$  = weight of flour obtained after drying (g), and
- $W_t$  = weight of the tuber used (g).



Figure 4.1 Experimental design to determine the proximate composition and morphology of *amadumbe* flour



Figure 4.2 Experimental design to determine swelling power and solubility of *amadumbe* flour

#### 4.2.5 Amadumbe flour proximate composition

The proximate composition of *amadumbe* was determined using the following methods:

## 4.2.5.1 Moisture content

The moisture content of the *amadumbe* flour sample was determined in a triplicate using the AOAC (2012) method 925.10 by drying a 5.0 g flour sample at 95°C for 72 hours. The moisture content was then calculated using Equation 4.2.

$$MC = \frac{W_{bd} - W_{ad}}{W_{bd}} \times 100$$
(4.2)

where

MC = Moisture content (%),  $W_{bd} = weight \text{ of } amadumbe \text{ flour before drying (g), and}$  $W_{ad} = weight \text{ of } amadumbe \text{ flour after drying (g).}$ 

## 4.2.5.2 Ash content

The ash content of *amadumbe* flour sample was determined in a triplicate using the AOAC (2012) method 923.03 by taking about 1.0 g flour sample and igniting it at 550 °C for 6 h in a furnace (J M Ney furnace; Gesswein, United States of America). The ash content was then calculated using Equation 4.3

$$AC = \frac{W_{ba} - W_a}{W_{ba}} x100$$
(4.3)

where

AC = Ash content (%),  $W_{ba}$  = weight of *amadumbe* flour before ashing (g), and  $W_{a}$  = weight of *amadumbe* ash (g).

#### 4.2.5.3 Crude protein

The crude protein was determined according to the method used by Chisenga *et al.* (2019a). The Dumas combustion method of nitrogen content analysis was performed using a (Leco Truspec FP-528; LECO Corporation, United States America) by taking about a 0.2 g flour sample and analysing it using Leco Truspec. The percentage protein was then calculated by multiplying the obtained nitrogen content by 6.25.

## 4.2.5.4 Crude fibre

The crude fibre was measured according to the AOAC (2012) method No 962.09 by weighing 5 g flour sample then boiling it in 50 mL of 0.3M sulphuric acid (Labsupply; South Africa) under reflux for 40 min, followed by filtering under suction pressure. The obtained residue was then washed with hot distilled water to get rid of the acid. The remaining residue was then boiled in 100 mL, 0.25M of sodium hydroxide (Labsupply; South Africa) under reflux for 40 min and filtered under suction. The remaining residue was washed with hot distilled water to get rid of the sodium hydroxide. The residue was dried to the constant weight in the oven at 95°C for 2 h, then cooled in a desiccator (Labsupply; South Africa). The sample was then heated using a blue Bunsen burner and then ashed in a furnace (J M Ney furnace; Gesswein, United States of America) to remove ash from the fibre. The crude fibre was then calculated using Equation 4.4.

$$CF = \frac{(W_d - W_a) - W_c}{W_i} x100$$
(4.4)

where

CF = Crude Fibre (%),

 $W_i$  = Initial weight of *amadumbe* flour (g),

 $W_c = Weight of crucible (g),$ 

 $W_d$  = Weight of residue after drying at 95°C for 2 h (g), and

 $W_a = Weight of residue ashing (g).$ 

#### 4.2.5.5 Crude fat

The AOAC (2012) method 920.39 was used to determine the crude fat. The crude fat was determined by putting about 5 g of flour sample in a Soxhlet extraction unit (Büchi, Switzerland) using petroleum ether (LabSupply; South Africa) as a solvent. The crude fat was then calculated using Equation 4.5.

$$F = \frac{W_r - W_b}{W_i} x100$$
(4.5)

where

F = Crude fat content (%),

W<sub>i</sub> = Initial weight of *amadumbe* flour (g),

 $W_b$  = Weight of the beaker (g), and

 $W_r$  = Weight of the beaker and residue remaining after extraction.

## 4.2.6 Amadumbe flour sugar content

The method used by Ngobese et al. (2017) was used with minor modification to determine the sugar content. *Amadumbe* flour weighing 100 mg was measured using a digital scale (KERN ALS-A; KERN & SOHN GmbH, Germany). Fifteen millilitres of 80 % ethanol (99.9 %; Laboratory Supplies, South Africa) was added to the flour and homogenised (T 18 digital Ultra-Turrax; IKA, China) for 1 min. The mixture was then incubated for 1 hour in an 80°C shaking water bath (Faithful FWS-30; Huanghua Faithful Instruments Co., Ltd, China), after which the mixture was left to stand overnight at 4°C. The mixture was then centrifuged (Avanti J-26S XP; Beckman Coulter, United States of America) at 10,000 rpm for 15 minutes in a refrigerated centrifuge operating at 4°C. The obtained supernatant was filtered through a glass wool. The filtrate was dried overnight in an evaporator (EZ-2 Plus; SP Industries, United States of America). The dried extracts were made up to 2 mL using ultrapure water. The mixture was then filtered using a 0.45 µm pore size Ascrodisc nylon filter (Analytical Technology, South Africa). Glucose, sucrose, and fructose were separated using a High-Performance-Liquid-Chromatography system (LC-20AT; Shimadzu, Japan) equipped with a refractive index

detector (RID-10A; Shimadzu, Japan). Soluble sugars were separated using a phenomenex monosaccharide column ( $300 \times 7.8 \text{ mm } 300$  Phenomenex; Torance, United States of America) at 85 °C. Double-distilled water was used as the mobile phase at a flow rate of 1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. Three 20 µL injection volumes were analysed, and each one was read three times, and average reading was used. The content of individual sugars was determined using an equation obtained from glucose and fructose (Labsupply, South Africa) standard curves (which were prepared from reading 0,0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.5, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, and mg.mL<sup>-1</sup> solutions) and be expressed relative to the fresh weight.

## 4.2.7 Amadumbe flour swelling power and solubility

The swelling power and solubility were determined using the method used by Chisenga *et al.* (2019b) with minor modifications. The swelling power and solubility were determined at 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90°C. A 0.5 g dry flour sample was suspended in 20 mL deionised water in a 50 mL centrifuge tube with a known weight. The centrifugal tube was heated using a water bath (Faithful FWS-30; Huanghua Faithful Instruments Co., Ltd, China) at 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90°C for 30 min and spiralling was done every 5 min. The centrifugal tube was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and centrifuged (Avanti J-26S XP; Beckman Coulter, United States of America) at 1867 × g for 20 min. The supernatant obtained was used for the solubility test. The sediment mass was measured, and the swelling power (g.g<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated as the ratio of the sediment mass to the original sample weight (Equation 4.6.) The collected supernatant was placed on a pre-weighed evaporating crucible dish and oven-dried at 105°C for 12 h, and the dried mass was measured. The solubility (%) was calculated as the ratio of dried mass to the original sample weight (Equation 4.7).

$$SP = \frac{W_S}{W_O}$$
(4.6)

$$S = \frac{W_{ds}}{W_0}$$
(4.7)

where

$$SP = Swelling power (g.g^{-1}),$$

 $S = Swelling power (g.g^{-1}),$ 

W<sub>O</sub> = weight of original *amadumbe* flour (g),

 $W_s$  = weight of wet *amadumbe* flour sediment (g), and

 $W_{ds}$  = weight of dry *amadumbe* flour supernatant (g).

#### 4.2.8 Amadumbe flour water and oil holding capacities

The water and oil holding capacities were determined using the method used by Ngobese et al. (2017). A 0.5 g of flour was placed in a 15 mL conical pre-weighed centrifuge tube. Five millilitres of deionised water or canola with a density of 1 and 0.89 g cm<sup>-3</sup> respectively at the ambient temperature was added to the flour. The mixture was stirred with a stainless-steel spatula and allowed to stand at ambient temperature for two hours before being centrifuged at  $350 \times g$  (Avanti J-26S XP; Beckman Coulter, United States of America) for 30 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the sample was reweighed. The absorption capacity was calculated by taking the ratio of the difference between the initial and final weight to the weight of the initial flour portion used (Equation 4.8).

$$HC = \frac{W_i - W_f}{W_i}$$
(4.8)

where

HC = Water or Oil holding capacity (%), W<sub>i</sub> = initial weight of *amadumbe* flour (g), and W<sub>f</sub> = final weight of *amadumbe* flour (g).

## 4.2.9 Amadumbe flour colour

The colour of flour was determined using the method used by Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020). The data was obtained using a colorimeter after standardisation using Hunter Lab colour standards (ColorFlexEZ; Hunter Associate Laboratories Inc, United States of America). The colour of the flour was measured by reading L\*, a\*, and b\*. L\*, a\*, and b\* refer to (degree of lightness), (redness to greenness), and (yellowness to blueness), respectively. Flour was poured

into a glass cup (04-7209-00 glass sample cup; Hunter Associate Laboratories Inc, United States of America) until it completely covered the bottom part of the cup.

## 4.2.10 Amadumbe flour granule morphology

The granule morphology was determined using the method used by Ngobese et al. (2017). Granule morphology was determined using a scanning electron microscope (ZEISS EVO LS15; Carl Zeiss Microscopy, United States of America), set at a magnification of 1.50kX with signal A at SEI, I Probe = 59 pA, and EHT = 20.00kV. The flour was splashed on a double-sided silver tape attached to a 10 mm diameter specimen stub. The samples were coated with gold, using an ion sputter coater Q150 CS; Quorumtech, United Kingdom). The obtained granules from scanning electron microscope were then subjected to image analysis (Soft Imaging System GmbH; Olympus America Inc, United States of America) at the Microscopic analysis laboratory (University of KwaZulu Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa).

## 4.2.11 Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using the GenStat 18.2.1 software, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for differences. The separation of means was determined using Duncan's multiple range test at the 5 % significant level. The relationship between the quality attributes was determined using linear regression analysis (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019).

## 4.3 **Results and Discussion**

This section will analyse and discuss the quality properties of *amadumbe* flour subjected to different storage environments. Table 4.3 shows the relationship between all the measured quality properties.

#### 4.3.1 Flour yield

Table 4.1 shows the impact of storage conditions and storage period on the yield of *amadumbe* flour. Storage conditions had no significant effect (p > 0.05) on the yield of *amadumbe* flour.

The flour yield ranged from 31.58 to 32.26 %, with High-cold and Ambient storages having the lowest and highest flour yield, respectively. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the flour yield obtained by authors such as Tattiyakul *et al.* (2006) and Hoyos-Leyva *et al.* (2017), which reported a yield of (37.10-39.20 %) and (18.40-33.40%), respectively. The yield may be reduced due to milling losses (Pérez *et al.*, 2005).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the yield of *amadumbe* flour. The flour yield increased from 24.96 to 36.60 % on days 0 and 70, respectively. The increase in flour yield may be due to the reduction in moisture during storage, as a result of respiration. This is evident by the strong negative correlation (r = -0.728, p < 0.001) between flour yield and moisture content. Flour yield had a positive correlation with reducing sugar content (r = 0.855, p < 0.001), water holding capacity (r = 0.832, p < 0.001), oil holding capacity (r = 0.864, p < 0.001), a\* (r = 0.485, p < 0.05) and b\* (r = 0.415, p < 0.05). Flour yield also had a negative correlation with swelling power (r = -0.860, p < 0.001) and solubility (r = -0.828, p < 0.001).

Storage period (days)	А	U	CBEC	НС	LC
0	24.96(4.20) <sup>a</sup>	24.96(4.20) <sup>a</sup>	24.96(4.20) <sup>a</sup>	24.96(4.20) <sup>ab</sup>	24.96(4.20) <sup>a</sup>
14	32.97(1.60) <sup>cd</sup>	32.95(2.25) <sup>cd</sup>	34.00(2.19) <sup>cd</sup>	30.56(5.31) <sup>ac</sup>	32.20(0.5) <sup>c</sup>
28	32.91(2.17) <sup>cd</sup>	34.49(2.05) <sup>cd</sup>	32.48(0.97) <sup>cd</sup>	32.66(1.51) <sup>c</sup>	33.52(0.83) <sup>cd</sup>
42	35.66(0.30) <sup>cd</sup>	34.35(2.56) <sup>cd</sup>	32.67(1.20)°	32.15(2.95) <sup>c</sup>	32.90(1.39) <sup>cd</sup>
56	36.22(0.58) <sup>cd</sup>	35.32(1.66) <sup>cd</sup>	33.96(0.62) <sup>c</sup>	32.98(1.76) <sup>cd</sup>	33.49(1.33) <sup>cd</sup>
70	39.47(0.51) <sup>d</sup>	35.66(1.39) <sup>cd</sup>	36.25(0.99) <sup>cd</sup>	35.41(0.43) <sup>cd</sup>	36.22(1.76) <sup>cd</sup>
	Storage conditions (A)		Storage period (B)	(A*B)	
Level of significance	p > 0.05		P < 0.001	p > 0.05	

 Table 4.1
 The yield of flour from amadumbe subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.
## 4.3.2 Amadumbe flour proximate composition

Table 4.2 shows the change in proximate composition of *amadumbe* flour subjected to different storage conditions for 70 days.

## 4.3.2.1 Moisture

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the moisture content of *amadumbe* flour. The moisture content ranged from 11.46 to 11.72 %, with Ambient and High-cold storages having the lowest and highest moisture content, respectively. The high moisture content in flour stored in High-cold storage coincides with the reduced physiological weight loss of *amadumbe* corms kept in the same storage conditions. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the moisture content found by other authors such as Njintang *et al.* (2008b) (8.20 – 9.60 %), Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (10.2%), and Njintang *et al.* (2008a) (9.70 – 10.80 %). The moisture content is essential in determining flour storability, and levels above 12 % make the flour susceptible to microbial growth (Aryee *et al.*, 2006). The moisture content obtained in this study makes *amadumbe* flour suitable for prolonged storage. The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the moisture content of *amadumbe* flour. The moisture content decreased from 11.88 to 11.04 % in day 0 and 70 respectively.

Moisture content correlated positively with crude protein (r = 0.474, p < 0.05), swelling power (r = 0.816, p < 0.001) and solubility (r = 0.853, p < 0.001). Protein has both hydrophobic and hydrophilic proteins and therefore they can interact with water in foods (Kaushal *et al.*, 2012). The positive corelation between moisture content and protein may be attributed to the hydrophilic nature of protein that make it attract water, therefore flours with high hydrophilic protein tend to absorb more water (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015). The reduction in moisture with time may cause a reduction in the polarity of the proteins as a result of degradation. Moisture content correlated negatively with crude fibre (r = -0.410, p < 0.05), flour yield (r = -0.728, p < 0.001), reducing sugar content (r = -0.694, p < 0.001), water holding capacity (r = -0.700, p < 0.001), oil holding capacity (r = -0.765, p < 0.001), L\* (r = -0.404, p < 0.05). Furthermore, no correlation was found between moisture content, crude fat (r = -0.068, p > 0.05) and a\* (r = -0.068).

0.050, p >0.05). The reason why there is no correlation between crude fat and moisture content is because of the low water binding capacity of fats (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a).

# 4.3.2.2 Ash content

Ash content is used as an indicator of the mineral content of *amadumbe* flour (Ogunlakin *et al.*, 2012). Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the ash content of *amadumbe* flour. The ash content ranged from 3.17 to 3.23 %, with Low-cold and High cold storage having the lowest ash content, while Ambient storage conditions had the highest. The high ash content in Ambient storage conditions can be attributed to the high dry matter content of *amadumbe* corms stored in Ambient storage conditions (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a). The range obtained in this study is comparable to the ash content reported by other authors such as Ogunlakin *et al.* (2012) (2.47 – 2.87%) and Njintang *et al.* (2008a) (3.50 – 5.70%). The storage period had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the ash content of *amadumbe* flour. Ash content showed no significant relationship (p > 0.05) with all the studied properties.

## 4.3.2.3 Crude protein

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the crude protein of *amadumbe* flour. The crude protein ranged from 7.65 to 8.23 %, with Low-cold and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest crude protein, respectively. The higher crude protein in High-cold storage indicates that this storage can reduce protein loss during storage. The range obtained in this study is alarmingly high compared to the crude protein obtained by other authors such as Njintang *et al.* (2008a) (2.70 - 5.40 %), Kaur *et al.* (2013) (2.00 %), Ogunlakin *et al.* (2012) (4.90 - 5.17 %), and (McEwan *et al.*, 2014) (4.5 - 5.04 %). The difference in protein content may be due to agronomic management factors such as fertiliser application and environmental conditions (Agiriga and Iwe, 2016; Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the crude protein of *amadumbe* flour. The crude protein decreased from 8.48 to 7.47 % on days 0 and 70. The crude protein correlated positively with moisture content (r = 0.474, p < 0.05), swelling power (r = 0.595, p < 0.001), and solubility (r = 0.593, p < 0.001). Crude protein correlated negatively with crude fat (r = -0.523, p < 0.05), flour yield (r = -0.513, p < 0.001), reducing sugar content (r = -0.732,

p < 0.001), water holding capacity (r = -0.665, p < 0.001), oil holding capacity (r = -0.707, p < 0.001), and crude fibre (r = -0.576, p < 0.001). This negative relation shows that crude fibre, flour yield, reducing sugar content, water holding capacity, oil holding capacity, and crude fat increased throughout the storage period while protein reduced. The reduction in the crude protein will impact the dough quality due to decreased water retention ability of *amadumbe* starch (Lu and Lu, 2012). Therefore, storing *amadumbe* for longer periods may result in a dough that is not suitable to produce bread due to reduced protein but more suitable for producing foods that require soft flour such as pies, biscuits, and other baked products (Njintang *et al.*, 2008a).

#### 4.3.2.4 Crude fibre

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the crude fibre of *amadumbe* flour. The crude fibre ranged from 0.92 to 1.14 %, with High-cold and Low-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest crude fibre, respectively. The crude fibre comprises of lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose, pectin, and gum. It is essential to regulate blood sugar levels and improve digestion (Adepoju and Adejumo, 2015). The high fibre content in Low-cold storage is suitable to produce healthy food products (Ogunlakin *et al.*, 2012). The range obtained in this study is comparable to the crude fibre obtained by other authors such as Njintang *et al.* (2008a) (0.40 - 1.20 %), Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (0.75 %), and low compared to authors such as Ogunlakin *et al.* (2012) (2.70 - 2.97 %), and Naidoo *et al.* (2015) (1.9 %). This difference in fibre content may be due to variety, growth conditions, and agronomic practices (Svanberg *et al.*, 1997; Naidoo *et al.*, 2015).

Storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the crude fibre of *amadumbe* flour. The crude fibre increased from 0.89 to 1.13 % in days 0 and 70 respectively. The crude fibre had a positive correlation with reducing sugar content (r = 0.498, p < 0.05), water holding capacity (r = 0.458, p < 0.05), and oil holding capacity (r = 0.467, p < 0.05). The crude fibre also correlated negatively with crude protein (r = -0.576, p < 0.001), swelling power (r = -0.422, p < 0.05), and solubility (r = -0.481, p < 0.05). This negative correlation shows that crude fibre increased throughout the storage period while crude protein, swelling power, and solubility decreased.

## 4.3.2.5 Crude fat

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the crude fat of *amadumbe* flour. The crude fat ranged from 0.36 to 0.46 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest crude fat content, respectively. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the crude fat obtained by other authors such as Njintang *et al.* (2008a) (0.400 – 0.60 %), Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (0.5 %), Ogunlakin *et al.* (2012) (0.50 – 0.57 %), and Kaur *et al.* (2013) (1.90 %). Crude fat is responsible for flavour and texture softening; therefore, flours with increased crude fat content result in baked products with improved taste (Paramita *et al.*, 2021). High-cold storage is recommended for better-quality food due to its high crude fat content compared to all tested storage conditions.

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the crude fat of *amadumbe* flour. The crude fat increased from 0.36 to 0.44 % on days 0 and 70. The crude fat had a negative correlation (r = -0.523, p < 0.05) with crude protein. Park and Baik (2004) also found a negative correlation between crude protein and crude fat of wheat flour used to produce noodles. The crude fat also had a positive with (r = 0.391, p < 0.05), water holding capacity (r = 0.365, p < 0.05), and a\* (r = 0.624, p < 0.001).

Storage period (Days)	Storage conditions	MC (%)	AC (%)	CP (%)	CF (%)	F (%)
0	А	11.88(0.09) <sup>c</sup>	3.17(0.04) <sup>a</sup>	8.48(0.52) <sup>c</sup>	$0.89(0.22)^{a}$	$0.36(0.02)^{b}$
	U	11.88(0.09) <sup>c</sup>	3.17(0.04) <sup>a</sup>	8.48(0.52) <sup>c</sup>	$0.89(0.22)^{a}$	0.36(0.02) <sup>b</sup>
	CBEC	11.88(0.09) <sup>c</sup>	3.17(0.04) <sup>a</sup>	8.48(0.52) <sup>c</sup>	$0.89(0.22)^{a}$	0.36(0.02) <sup>b</sup>
	НС	11.88(0.09) <sup>c</sup>	3.17(0.04) <sup>a</sup>	8.48(0.52) <sup>c</sup>	$0.89(0.22)^{a}$	0.36(0.02) <sup>b</sup>
	LC	11.88(0.09) <sup>c</sup>	3.17(0.04) <sup>a</sup>	8.48(0.52) <sup>c</sup>	$0.89(0.22)^{a}$	$0.36(0.02)^{b}$
	А	11.04(0.09) <sup>a</sup>	3.29(0.15) <sup>a</sup>	7.40(0.40) <sup>ab</sup>	1.27(0.23) <sup>ab</sup>	0.37(0.04) <sup>ab</sup>
	U	11.46(0.23) <sup>b</sup>	3.19(0.20) <sup>a</sup>	7.77(0.93) <sup>abc</sup>	1.04(0.23) <sup>ab</sup>	$0.38(0.02)^{a}$
70	CBEC	11.38(0.40) <sup>b</sup>	3.18(0.20) <sup>a</sup>	7.35(0.30) <sup>ab</sup>	$0.98(0.15)^{ab}$	$0.38(0.09)^{b}$
	HC	11.56(0.30) <sup>bc</sup>	3.17(0.43) <sup>a</sup>	7.98(0.26) <sup>bc</sup>	$0.95(0.23)^{a}$	0.56(0.03) <sup>c</sup>
	LC	11.54(0.07) <sup>bc</sup>	3.17(0.09) <sup>a</sup>	6.83(0.62) <sup>a</sup>	1.39(0.28) <sup>b</sup>	0.50(0.10) <sup>c</sup>
Level of significance	Storage conditions (A)	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p < 0.001
	Storage period (B)	p < 0.001	p > 0.05	p < 0.001	p < 0.05	p < 0.05
	(A*B)	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p < 0.001

 Table 4.2
 Proximate composition of flour from *amadumbe* stored in different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage. MC= Moisture content, AC = Ash content, CP = Crude protein, CF = Crude fibre, and F = Crude Fat

Parameter	MC (%)	AC (%)	CP (%)	CF (%)	F (%)	FY (%)	RS (%)	SP $(g.g-1)$	S (%)	WHC (%)	OHC (%)	L*	a*	b*
MC (%)	1.000													
AC (%)	-0.022*	1.000												
CP (%)	0.474**	0.242*	1.000											
CF (%)	-0.410**	0.224*	-0.576***	1.000										
F (%)	-0.068*	-0.220*	-0.523**	0.268*	1.000									
FY (%)	-0.728***	0.041*	-0.513**	0.280*	0.207*	1.000								
RS (%)	-0.694***	0.055*	-0.732***	0.498**	0.391**	0.855***	1.000							
SP (g.g <sup>-1</sup> )	0.816***	-0.062*	0.595***	-0.422**	-0.113*	-0.860***	-0.877***	1.000						
S (%)	0.853***	-0.195*	0.593***	-0.481**	0.011*	-0.828***	-0.775***	0.871***	1.000					
WHC (%)	-0.700***	0.000*	-0.665***	0.458**	0.365**	0.832***	0.958***	-0.861***	-0.724***	1.000				
OHC (%)	-0.765***	0.084*	-0.707***	0.467**	0.230*	0.864***	0.955***	-0.933***	-0.879***	0.936***	1.000			
L*	-0.404**	-0.197*	-0.117*	0.041*	-0.310*	0.000*	-0.007*	-0.300*	-0.230*	0.057*	0.131*	1.000		
a*	-0.121*	-0.199*	-0.198*	-0.016*	0.624***	0.485**	0.452*	-0.244*	-0.119*	0.480**	0.340**	-0.628***	1.000	
b*	-0.050*	0.534**	0.207*	-0.132*	-0.152*	0.415**	0.182*	-0.238*	-0.296*	0.203*	0.254*	-0.382**	0.344**	1.000

Table 4.3Correlation between proximate and physicochemical properties of of flour from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

MC = Moisture content, AC = Ash content, CP = Crude protein, CF = Crude fibre, F= Crude fat, FY = Flour yield, RS = Reducing sugars, SP = Swelling power, S = Solubility, WHC = water holding capacity and OHC = Oil holding capacity. Level of significance  $p > 0.05^*$ ,  $p < 0.05^{**}$ ,  $p < 0.001^{***}$ 

#### 4.3.3 Amadumbe flour sugar content

The change in the reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* flour during storage can be found in Table 4.4. The reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* flour ranged between 0.97 and 2.23 %. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the reducing sugar content obtained by other authors, such as Momin *et al.* (2021) (1.31 - 3.36 %), Njintang *et al.* (2007) (1.30 - 2.33 %). However, the reducing sugar content is high compared to those reported by other authors such as Modi and Mare (2016) (0.30 - 0.50 %) and Amon *et al.* (2014) (0.35 - 0.73 %). The difference in reducing sugars may be due to agronomic management factors. Mare (2009) reported that the sugar content was reduced by not applying fertiliser to *amadumbe*.

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* flour. The reducing sugar content ranged from 1.26 to 1.48 %, with Ambient and Low-cold storages having the lowest and highest reducing sugar content, respectively. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) also reported a higher reducing sugar content in *amadumbe* stored in cold storage (2.10 %) with a temperature of 4-5 °C as compared to ambient storage conditions (1.80 %) with a temperature of 28±3 °C. The increase in reducing sugar content in cold storage is due to starch breaking down into reducing sugars (Kiaitsi *et al.*, 2020). Hollyer *et al.* (2000) reported that you need to have low levels of reducing sugar content to produce good quality crisps. Reducing sugars are responsible for enzymatic brown during the frying of crisps (Xiao *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, to prevent enzymatic brown during processing, reducing sugar levels must be kept below 2% (Van Hal, 2000).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* flour. The reducing sugar content increased from 0.97 to 2.00 % on days 0 and 70, respectively. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) also reported an increase in the reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* stored for three weeks from 1.90 to 2.10 %. The breakdown of starch causes an increase in sugars throughout the storage period. Reducing sugar content had a strong positive correlation with water holding capacity (r = 0.958, p < 0.001) and oil holding capacity (r = 0.955, p < 0.001) and a strong negative correlation with swelling power (r = -0.877, p < 0.001), and solubility (r = -0.775, p < 0.001). This negative correlation shows that as reducing sugars increase, the swelling power and solubility of *amadumbe* flour are reduced.

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the reducing sugar content of *amadumbe* flour. Low-cold storage had the highest reducing sugar content increase of 129.89 % from day 0 to day 70, while Ambient storage had the lowest reducing sugar content increase of 91.75 %. The high sugar content in Low-cold storage is suitable for producing cakes because the sugars are used in fermentation to raise the dough (Van Hal, 2000). The low, reducing sugar content of Ambient storage below 2% is suitable to produce good quality crisps (Hollyer *et al.*, 2000; Van Hal, 2000).

Storage period (Days)	A U		CBEC	НС	LC	
0	0.97(0.00) <sup>a</sup>	0.97(0.00) <sup>a</sup>	$0.97(0.00)^{a}$	$0.97(0.00)^{a}$	$0.97(0.00)^{a}$	
14	1.00(0.00) <sup>ab</sup>	1.01(0.05) <sup>ab</sup>	$1.04(0.02)^{abc}$	1.05(0.06) <sup>abc</sup>	$1.10(0.01)^{abc}$	
28	1.10(0.03) <sup>a-d</sup>	1.12(0.02) <sup>a-d</sup>	1.31(0.05) <sup>def</sup>	1.35(0.04) <sup>ef</sup>	1.23(0.03) <sup>cde</sup>	
42	1.21(0.02) <sup>b-e</sup>	1.35(0.13) <sup>ef</sup>	1.41(0.43) <sup>ef</sup>	1.40(0.35) <sup>ef</sup>	1.39(0.04) <sup>ef</sup>	
56	1.42(0.07) <sup>ef</sup>	1.49(0.05) <sup>fg</sup>	1.65(0.12) <sup>g</sup>	1.88(0.11) <sup>h</sup>	1.94(0.04) <sup>hi</sup>	
70	1.86(0.11) <sup>h</sup>	1.88(0.03) <sup>h</sup>	1.96(0.05) <sup>hi</sup>	2.09(0.02) <sup>ij</sup>	2.23(0.07) <sup>j</sup>	
	Storage of	Storage conditions (A)		B)	(A*B)	
Level of significance	p < 0.001		p < 0.001		p < 0.05	

Table 4.4The reducing sugar content of flour from *amadumbe* subjected to different<br/>storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

## 4.3.4 Amadumbe flour swelling power and solubility

Figure 4.3a-c illustrates the effect of storage conditions and storage period on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. The swelling power ranged between 2.42 and 9.78 g.g<sup>-1</sup>. The range obtained in this study is low compared to the swelling power obtained by other authors such as

Aprianita *et al.* (2014) ( $5.45 - 30.12 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$ ), Alam and Hasnain (2009) ( $6.20 - 28.00 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$ ), and Nwokocha *et al.* (2009) ( $2.52 - 18.60 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$ ). The low swelling power of *amadumbe* flour may be attributed to higher protein levels because protein forms a stiff matrix by embedding in the starch granule, restricting the water from accessing the granules (Lewu *et al.*, 2010).

Figure 4.3b illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* stored in different storage conditions. Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. The swelling power ranged between 5.31 to 5.62 g.g<sup>-1</sup>, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest swelling power, respectively. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) also reported a higher reduction in swelling power of *amadumbe* stored in cold storage (24.90 – 18.50 g.g<sup>-1</sup>) as compared to ambient storage (24.90 – 14.85 g.g<sup>-1</sup>). The high swelling power in High-cold storage may be attributed to the reduced degradation in starch granules which interns result in granules with improved ability to retain water (Chiranthika *et al.*, 2021). CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage conditions had a swelling power of 5.47 g.g<sup>-1</sup>, comparable to the swelling power obtained in High-cold storage. Therefore, both these storage conditions would be suitable to produce foods where high pasting viscosity is required (Buckman *et al.*, 2018).

Figure 4.3a illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* flour as the storage period is increased. The figure illustrates that the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour decreased throughout the storage period. The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. The swelling power decreased from 6.13 to 4.88 g.g<sup>-1</sup> on days 0 and 70, respectively. Others authors, such as Bamidele and Akanbi (2013), reported a decrease in the swelling power of pigeon pea flour stored for ten weeks from 2.31 to 2.27 mL.100g<sup>-1</sup>. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) also reported a decrease in the swelling power of *amadumbe* stored for three weeks from 20.50 to 14.85 g.g<sup>-1</sup>. The reduction in swelling power throughout the storage may be attributed to the degradation of starch granules and a reduction in other non-starch components such as phosphorus content. Phosphorous has a negative charge which improves its ability to retain water (Kaur *et al.*, 2009; Kayode *et al.*, 2021). The swelling power correlated positively with solubility (r = 0.871, p < 0.001) and correlated negatively with water holding capacity (r = -0.861, p < 0.001) and oil holding capacity (r = -0.933, p < 0.001). The

negative correlation shows that water and oil holding capacities increase as swelling power decreases.

Figure 4.3c illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* flour due to temperature changes. The figure shows that the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour increases as the temperature increases. The temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. The swelling power increased from 3.20 to 8.45 g.g<sup>-1</sup> at 50 and 90°C, respectively. The increase in swelling power may be attributed to heat energy breaking the hydrogen bonds and exposing more of the hydroxyl and hydrophilic substances that bind with water (Kaur *et al.*, 2013). At temperatures below 60°C, the swelling power was relatively low across all storage conditions. The swelling power increased rapidly as a function of temperature beyond 60°C, as a result of gelatinisation of starch present in the flour (Mawoyo *et al.*, 2017). Aprianita *et al.* (2014) also reported that *amadumbe* flour undergoes a rapid increase in swelling power at temperatures above 60°C.

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. Ambient storage conditions had the highest reduction in swelling power of 24.36 %, while High-cold storage conditions had the lowest reduction of 16.44 % from day 0 to day 70. The interaction of storage conditions and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. High-cold storage had the highest swelling power increase of 211.31 % from 50 to 90 °C, while Ambient storage had the lowest swelling power increase of 134.39 %. The interaction of storage period and the temperature also had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. Day 0 had the highest increase in swelling power of 180.85 %, while day 70 had the lowest increase of 139.65 %. Therefore, storing amadumbe for an extended period reduces its ability to swell. The interaction of storage conditions, storage period and temperature, had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. High-cold storage had the highest swelling power on day 0 at 90°C, while ambient storage conditions showed the lowest swelling power on day 70 at 50°C. According to Falade and Okafor (2013), food-eating quality is related to the retention ability of the flour. Therefore, High-cold storage has an increased ability to maintain swelling power.





102



Figure 4.3 The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* flour. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

Figure 4.4a-c illustrates the change in solubility of *amadumbe* flour stored in different storage conditions. The solubility ranged between 7.62 and 20.46 %. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the solubility obtained by Mawoyo *et al.* (2017) (1.45 – 26.40 %), low compared to the range reported by (Njintang *et al.*, 2008b) (15.85 – 35.50 %), and high compared to the range obtained by (Falade and Okafor, 2013) (2.67 – 8.19 %). The variation in solubility may be due to differences in non-starch components such as mucilage and phosphorous content, which influences the interaction of flour with water (Bao *et al.*, 2021). The variations were also due to the solubilities being determined at different temperatures (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a).

Figure 4.4b illustrates the change in solubility of *amadumbe* stored in different storage conditions. Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* flour. The solubility ranged between 12.89 to 15.84 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest solubility, respectively. According to Naidoo *et al.* (2015), flours with small granules have lower solubility. The low solubility in Ambient storage conditions may be attributed to the degradation of starch granules of *amadumbe* flour. Modi and Mare (2016) also found that starch degradation was higher for *amadumbe* stored in ambient conditions than those held at 12 °C. The high soluble sugar content in High-cold storage may have also contributed to the higher solubility of 15.51 %, comparable to the solubility obtained in High-cold storage. Therefore, these storage conditions would be suitable for producing baked products because of their higher ability to swell (Kusumayanti *et al.*, 2015).

Figure 4.4a illustrates the change in the solubility of *amadumbe* flour as the storage period is increased. The figure illustrates that the solubility of *amadumbe* decreased throughout the storage period. The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* flour. The solubility of *amadumbe* flour decreased from 16.81 to 12.88 % on days 0 and 70, respectively. The reduction in solubility throughout the storage may be attributed to the reduction in phosphate groups which are known to increase swelling by weakening the extent of bonding within the crystalline region of starch granules (Bao *et al.*, 2021). The reduction in swelling leads to reduced loss of amylose through leaching thus, reducing the

solubility. Furthermore, the solubility of *amadumbe* flour correlated negatively with water holding capacity (r = -0.724, p < 0.001) and oil holding capacity (r = -0.879, p < 0.001). Therefore, flours with high solubility have a reduced ability to hold both water and oil.

Figure 4.4c illustrates that the solubility of *amadumbe* increased as the temperature was increased. The temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* flour. The solubility of *amadumbe* flour increased from 12.16 to 17.51 % at 50 and 90°C, respectively. The increase in solubility may be attributed to heat causing the bonding forces to relax, making the granules swell, resulting in amylose leaching (Nwokocha *et al.*, 2009; Kaur *et al.*, 2013). Solubility had a strong positive correlation (r = 0.871, p < 0.001) with swelling power. Therefore, as the temperature increases, the swelling of *amadumbe* flour increases, which causes the amylose to leach out of the starch granules (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a). The solubility increased rapidly as a function of temperature beyond 60°C because of increased swelling of starch granules (Mawoyo *et al.*, 2017).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe*. Ambient storage conditions had the highest reduction in solubility of 40.25 %, while High-cold storage had the lowest reduction of 15.14 % from day 0 to day 70. The interaction of storage conditions and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* flour. High-cold storage had the highest solubility increase of 53.42 % from 50 to 90 °C, while Ambient storage had the lowest increase of 35.33 %. The interaction of storage period and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe*. Day 0 had the highest increase in solubility of 52.52 % from 50 to 90 °C, while day 70 had the lowest increase of 51.98 %. Therefore, storing *amadumbe* results in reduced solubility. The interaction of storage conditions, storage period, and temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* (p < 0.001) on the solubility. The interaction of storage conditions, storage period, and temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility was found on day 0 at 90°C across all storage conditions, while the lowest was found in Ambient storage conditions on day 70 at 50°C.



a)

b)



c)

Figure 4.4 The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c) on the solubility of *amadumbe* flour. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

## 4.3.5 Amadumbe flour water and oil holding capacities

The change in the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour during storage can be found in Table 4.5. The water holding capacity ranged between 196.60 and 422.50 %. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the water holding capacity obtained by other authors such as Kaur *et al.* (2013) (60 – 250%), Njintang *et al.* (2008b) (270 – 375%), Hendek Ertop *et al.* (2019) (360 %), and Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (244.70 %).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. The water holding capacity ranged from 281.50 to 308.56 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest water holding capacity, respectively. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) also reported a higher water holding capacity in *amadumbe* stored in cold storage (222.50 %) with a temperature of 4-5 °C as compared to ambient storage conditions (170 %) with a temperature of  $28\pm3$  °C. The low water holding capacity in Ambient storage conditions may be attributed to lower protein content and the degradation of starch granules, which reduces the amylose content and starch crystalline (Kaushal *et al.*, 2012). CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage had the second-highest water holding capacity of 307.71%, comparable to the water holding capacity obtained in High-cold storage. Therefore, both these storage conditions would be suitable to produce foods such as baked goods, sausages, gravies, and soups where high viscosity is required (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. The water holding capacity increased from 190.59 to 377.02 % on days 0 and 70. Baidoo *et al.* (2010) reported an increase in the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* stored for three weeks from 177 to 235.50 %. Medoua *et al.* (2005) also reported an increase in the water holding capacity of trifoliate yam (*Dioscorea dumetorum*) stored for 56 days from 182.30 to 390.70 %. The increase may be attributed to increased polysaccharides such as mucilage which are hydrophilic (Njintang *et al.*, 2008b; Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). Njintang *et al.* (2014) reported that mucilage has a strong positive correlation (r = 0.77, p < 0.05) with carbohydrates, while Kaushal *et al.* (2015) reported that the high water holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour could be attributed to the presence of a higher amount of carbohydrates. The water holding capacity of *amadumbe* correlated positively with oil holding capacity (r = 0.936, p < 0.001)

and  $a^*$  (r = 0.480, p < 0.05). The positive correlation shows that as water holding capacity increases the oil holding capacity and  $a^*$  also increase.

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. High-cold storage had the highest water holding capacity, which increased by 99.42 % from day 0 to day 70 while, Ambient storage conditions had the lowest water holding capacity, which increased by 76.27 %. Despite High-cold having the highest average water holding capacity, CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage had the highest increase in water holding capacity of 121.70 % from day 0 to day 70.

The change in the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour during storage can be found in Table 4.5. The oil holding capacity ranged between 214.10 and 427.10 %. The range obtained in this study is alarmingly high compared to the oil holding capacity obtained by other authors such as Kaur *et al.* (2013) (270 – 350 %), Hendek Ertop *et al.* (2019) (107.00 %), and Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (188.80 %). This present study's high oil holding capacity may be due to the high crude protein content. The protein binds with lipids due to the interaction of the non-polar side chains of protein and the hydrocarbon side chains of the oil (Kaushal *et al.*, 2012).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. The oil holding capacity ranged from 326.46 to 352.19 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest water capacity, respectively. The low oil holding capacity in Ambient storage may be attributed to lower protein content (Adebowale and Lawal, 2004).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. The oil holding capacity increased from 214.09 to 418.30 % on days 0 and 70. Medoua *et al.* (2005) also reported an increase in the oil holding capacity of trifoliate yam (*Dioscorea dumetorum*) stored for 56 days from 72.30 to 94.80 %. The author concluded that the increase in oil holding capacity is due to sprouting and post-harvest hardening. Sprouting indicates food losses, leading to size reduction due to water loss and remobilisation of storage compounds such as protein, sugars, and starch (Coleman, 1987; Sonnewald and Sonnewald, 2014). The increase in oil holding capacity may also be attributed to a reduction in polarity of the protein as it degrades throughout the storage period. Lawal (2004) reported that non-

covalent bonds such as hydrophobic and hydrogen bonds are the forces involved in proteinlipid reactions. The oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour had a positive correlation (r = 0.340, p < 0.05) with a\* which shows that as the oil holding capacity increases the a\* also increases.

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* flour. High-cold storage had the highest increase in oil holding capacity of 94.61 % from day 0 to day 70, while Ambient storage had the lowest increase of 85.99 %. The oil holding capacity obtained in CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage of 94.11 % is comparable to the one obtained in High-cold storage. The similar oil holding capacity shows that both storage conditions are good at retaining the oil of *amadumbe* flour. High oil holding capacity is necessary because fat is used to maintain flavour and increase the mouthfeel of foods (Adebowale and Lawal, 2004). Therefore, flours with high oil holding capacity will be suitable to produce foods such as sausages, mayonnaise, sponge cakes, and chiffon deserts (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015).

## 4.3.6 Amadumbe flour colour

Table 4.6 shows the impact of storage conditions and storage period on the colour of *amadumbe* flour. Both storage period and conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the L\* of *amadumbe* flour. The L\* ranged from 82.01 to 88.44, the range obtained in this study is comparable to the L\* values reported by other authors such as Kaur *et al.* (2013) (85.50), Njintang *et al.* (2008b) (84.40 – 93.63). Baidoo *et al.* (2014) also reported that storing *amadumbe* in cold storage and ambient storage for 21 days showed no significant change (p > 0.05) on the colour of *amadumbe*. The major influence of colour difference is the pigments, which depend on the botanical origin of the tuber (Njintang *et al.*, 2008b). Therefore, since the same variety was used in this study, this may have been why the change in whiteness was not significant. L\* had a negative correlation with a\*(r = -0.628, p < 0.001) and b\* (r = -0.382, p < 0.05) which shows that as a\* and b\* increases the L\* reduces.

Storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the a\* of *amadumbe* flour. The a\* ranged between 3.02 and 3.58, with Low-cold storage and High-cold

storage conditions having the lowest and highest a\*, respectively. The high a\*in High-cold storage still needs to be elucidated. A possible reason for the high a\* could be other non-starch components in the flour, such as mucilage and protein, due to less protein degradation during High-cold storage (Wongsagonsup *et al.*, 2021). The a\* increased during storage from 3.03 to 3.48 on days 0 and 70. The increase may be attributed to rotting because a dark brown substance is formed as *amadumbe* rots. The value of a\* showed a positive correlation with crude fat (r = 0.624, p < 0.001) and a negative correlation with b\* (r = -0.628, p < 0.001) and moisture content (r = -0.404, p < 0.05).

The b\* of *amadumbe* flour ranged from 9.11 to 11.14, and this range is comparable to the b\* reported by other authors such as Kaushal *et al.* (2012) (8.16), Wongsagonsup *et al.* (2021) (7.50 – 8.69), and Njintang *et al.* (2008b) (7.50 – 31.6). Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the b\* of *amadumbe* flour; however, the storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05). The b\* increased from 9.80 to 10.14 on days 0 and 70. The increase in b\* may be attributed to oxidation caused by moisture loss during storage. The moisture loss causes the substrate and enzymes such as polyphenol oxidase to mix, thus causing oxidation (Van Hal, 2000). These enzymes are responsible for enzymatic browning, leading to the formation of dark compounds (Nascimento and Canteri, 2018). Jamin and Flores (1998) hypothesised that high b\* values might be due to a higher level of protein; however, this present study showed that b\* has an insignificant positive correlation (r = 0.207, p > 0.05) with crude protein. The b\* was also found to have no significant correlation with all *amadumbe* proximate composition parameters.

The high L\* and low a\* and b\* obtained in this study are similar to the results obtained by Njintang *et al.* (2008b), who reported *amadumbe* flour to be white, less red, and less yellow. Bhat *et al.* (2016) reported that wheat flour's L\*, a\*, and b\* are 84.10, 0,29, and 23.1, respectively. These values are comparable to the colour parameters obtained in this present study which means that mixing *amadumbe* and wheat could improve nutritional benefits without changing the colour of the flours (Wang *et al.*, 2020).

Capacity	Storage period (Days)	А	U	CBEC	НС	LC			
Water holding	0	196.60(2.73) <sup>a</sup>							
	14	242.70(31.57) <sup>bc</sup>	241.70(6.71) <sup>bc</sup>	201.50(2.15) <sup>a</sup>	256.60(26.15) <sup>bc</sup>	213.10(8.51) <sup>ab</sup>			
	28	259.30(23.67) <sup>c</sup>	269.10(7.79) <sup>c</sup>	333.20(24.59) <sup>d-g</sup>	318.80(16.05) <sup>de</sup>	314.50(10.73) <sup>d</sup>			
	42	329.5(27.37) <sup>def</sup>	317.30(17.96) <sup>d</sup>	346.60(3.04) <sup>d-h</sup>	338.90(31.73) <sup>d-g</sup>	348.70(23.35) <sup>d-h</sup>			
	56	331.40(4.92) <sup>def</sup>	355.0(31.01) <sup>d-h</sup>	361.90(21.56) <sup>d-h</sup>	$367.30(70.69)^{\rm fhg}$	365.40(31.74) <sup>e-h</sup>			
	70	335.90(20.54) <sup>d-g</sup>	356.10(13.28) <sup>d-h</sup>	422.50(59.67) <sup>i</sup>	380.10(9.33) <sup>gh</sup>	390.40(13.38) <sup>hi</sup>			
	0	214.10(19.49) <sup>a</sup>							
	14	266.90(0.70) <sup>b</sup>	278.30(9.41) <sup>b</sup>	329.90(32.13) <sup>c</sup>	353.10(34.40) <sup>cde</sup>	345.10(33.99) <sup>cd</sup>			
0.11 11	28	328.80(9.05) <sup>c</sup>	346.10(39.17) <sup>cd</sup>	358.60(21.87) <sup>c-f</sup>	367.60(27.46) <sup>c-g</sup>	361.90(22.40) <sup>c-f</sup>			
Oil holding	42	372.70(42.86) <sup>d-g</sup>	379.30(17.73) <sup>d-h</sup>	381.10(12.19) <sup>d-h</sup>	380.20(15.58) <sup>d-h</sup>	371.00(27.70) <sup>d-g</sup>			
	56	377.90(12.75) <sup>d-h</sup>	391.60(5.56) <sup>e-i</sup>	405.70(2.79) <sup>g-j</sup>	382.20(4.98) <sup>d-h</sup>	378.60(9.12) <sup>d-h</sup>			
	70	398.20(35.78) <sup>f-j</sup>	407.10(5.63) <sup>g-j</sup>	415.60(4.80) <sup>hij</sup>	416.60(7.29) <sup>hij</sup>	397.90(3.61) <sup>f-j</sup>			
		Level of significance							
Capacity	Storage conditions (A)		Storage period (B)	ŀ	A*B				
Water holding	p < 0.05	p < 0.001		p < 0.05					
Oil holding	p < 0.05	p < 0.001		p < 0.05					

Table 4.5The water and oil holding capacities of flour from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

Colour	Storage period (Days)	А	U	CBEC	HC	LC		
parameter								
	0	83.26(1.77) <sup>ab</sup>						
	14	83.13(2.22) <sup>ab</sup>	83.96(0.68) <sup>ab</sup>	85.67(1.56) <sup>abc</sup>	83.33(2.78) <sup>ab</sup>	85.48(0.06) <sup>abc</sup>		
	28	83.25(1.50) <sup>ab</sup>	83.05(2.05) <sup>ab</sup>	84.70(1.82) <sup>ab</sup>	83.46(0.30) <sup>abc</sup>	88.44(0.86) <sup>c</sup>		
L*	42	82.63(1.87) <sup>abc</sup>	82.02(2.89) <sup>ab</sup>	83.03(2.71) <sup>ab</sup>	83.81(2.34) <sup>ab</sup>	86.35(2.91) <sup>abc</sup>		
	56	82.18(2.54) <sup>ab</sup>	82.81(0.38) <sup>ab</sup>	82.31(2.02) <sup>ab</sup>	83.60(2.71) <sup>ab</sup>	85.48(0.66) <sup>abc</sup>		
	70	81.17(2.52) <sup>ab</sup>	82.14(0.58) <sup>ab</sup>	83.20(1.52) <sup>ab</sup>	83.25(2.17) <sup>abc</sup>	82.01(1.67) <sup>ab</sup>		
	0	$3.03(0.48)^{abc}$	$3.03(0.48)^{abc}$	$3.03(0.48)^{abc}$	$3.03(0.48)^{abc}$	3.03(0.48) <sup>abc</sup>		
	14	$4.09(0.86)^{cd}$	$3.32(0.39)^{bcd}$	$3.21(0.69)^{bcd}$	$3.81(0.53)^{bcd}$	$3.28(0.05)^{bcd}$		
o.*	28	$3.17(0.80)^{bcd}$	$3.52(0.58)^{bcd}$	$3.28(0.40)^{bcd}$	$3.46(0.32)^{bcd}$	$2.09(0.14)^{a}$		
a*	42	$3.30(0.39)^{bcd}$	$3.10(0.44)^{abc}$	$3.70(0.78)^{bcd}$	$3.18(0.93)^{bcd}$	$2.97(0.91)^{bcd}$		
	56	$3.53(0.29)^{bcd}$	$3.60(0.23)^{bcd}$	$3.96(0.59)^{bcd}$	$3.79(0.86)^{bcd}$	$3.20(0.29)^{bcd}$		
	70	$3.92(0.29)^{ab}$	$3.23(0.28)^{bcd}$	$3.35(0.84)^{bcd}$	$4.19(0.26)^{d}$	$3.55(0.45^{bcd})$		
	0	9.80(0.76) <sup>abc</sup>	9.80(0.76) <sup>abc</sup>	$9.80(0.76)^{\rm abc}$	9.80(0.76) <sup>abc</sup>	9.80(0.76) <sup>abc</sup>		
	14	9.90(0.21) <sup>a-d</sup>	$9.78(0.57)^{\rm abc}$	$9.62(0.28)^{\rm abc}$	$9.92(0.29)^{a-d}$	9.11(0.21) <sup>a</sup>		
1 \	28	$10.07(0.30)^{a-d}$	10.10(1.09) <sup>a-d</sup>	$10.76(0.84)^{a-d}$	$10.51(1.07)^{bcd}$	9.30(0.81) <sup>ab</sup>		
0**	42	10.18(0.46) <sup>a-d</sup>	10.11(0.43) <sup>a-d</sup>	$10.40(0.33)^{a-d}$	$10.70(0.74)^{cd}$	9.16(0.36) <sup>a</sup>		
	56	$10.28(0.74)^{a-d}$	$10.14(0.36)^{a-d}$	$10.86(1.03)^{cd}$	$10.79(1.22)^{cd}$	9.16(0.03) <sup>a</sup>		
	70	$10.53(0.46)^{bcd}$	$10.57(0.59)^{bcd}$	$11.14(0.68)^{d}$	$10.90(0.42)^{cd}$	9.97(0.21) <sup>abc</sup>		
		Level of significance						
Colour parameter	Storage condition (A)		Storage period (B)	Α	*B			
L*	p > 0.05		p > 0.05	p				
a*	$\bar{p} < 0.05$		p < 0.05	p				
b*	p > 0.05		$\bar{p} < 0.05$	p				

Table 4.6The colour of flour from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p < 0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

### 4.3.7 *Amadumbe* flour morphology

The morphology of *amadumbe* flour can be found in Figure 4.5a-f. The flour of *amadumbe* is made up of small starch granules connected by fibrous materials. The shape of the granules is predominantly irregular and polygonal, while the fibrous material has no distinct shape. This finding is consistent with the work of other authors such as Hendek Ertop *et al.* (2019) and Wang *et al.* (2020), that reported that *amadumbe* flour is mainly composed of starch granules that are polygonal and irregular in shape. Figure 4.5a illustrates the micrograph of *amadumbe* flour before storage. The particles appear tightly packed and have large granules. After 70 days, the flour in Ambient (Figure 4.5b), Underground (Figure 4.5c), CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler (Figure 4.5d), and Low-cold (Figure 4.5f) storage conditions appear less packed and have small granular particles. However, High-cold storage (Figure 4.5e) is similar to the initial micrograph. The reduction in compaction and granular size indicates degradation in the granules of the flour. The degradation in Figure 4.5b-d may have occurred due to alpha-amylase, which causes *amadumbe* starch to hydrolyse (Modi and Mare, 2016). The degradation in Figure 4.5f may be due to the breakdown of starch into reducing sugars during cold storage (Krochmal-Marczak *et al.*, 2020).











Figure 4.5 The effect of storage conditions on the morphology of *amadumbe* flour (a) Flour before storage, (b) Ambient storage, (c) Underground storage, (d) CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage, (e) High-cold storage (f) Low-cold storage after 70 days

## 4.4 Conclusion

This study aimed to determine the effect of storage conditions and storage period on the quality attributes of flour derived from stored *amadumbe* corms. The outcome of this study revealed that the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour are influenced by storage conditions, storage period, and the combined effect of storage conditions and storage period. Flour derived from corms stored in High-cold storage conditions ( $9.26 - 11.54^{\circ}C$ , 97.57 - 100.00 %) were of better quality. It had minimal reductions in (moisture content, swelling power, solubility, and protein content), minimal increase in (a\* and b\*), and the highest increase in the (oil holding and water holding capacities). While Ambient storage conditions ( $17.30 - 23.59^{\circ}C$ , 75.02 - 75.15 %) showed a massive loss in quality attributes.

The study revealed that High-cold storage was the best method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* flour. It resulted in the lowest reduction in moisture content (2.67 %), crude protein (5.89 %), swelling power (16.44 %), solubility (20.41 %), L\* (0.04 %), degradation of *amadumbe* flour starch granules. It also resulted in the highest increase in crude fat (55. 56 %), oil holding capacity (94.58 %), and a\* (137.28). Ambient storage was the worst storage method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* flour. It resulted in the highest decrease in moisture (7.02 %), solubility (31.59 %), and L\* (2.51 %). It also resulted in the lowest increase in crude fat (2.78 %), reducing sugar content (91.75 %), water holding capacity (70.85 %), and oil holding capacity (85.99 %).

The microscopic morphologies of *amadumbe* flour were irregular and polygonal in shape. The flours exhibited larger densely packed granular particles connected by fibrous materials on day 0. After 70 days of storage, there was a reduction in the size and compactness of the granular particles. However, these reductions were more profound in Ambient, Underground, Low-cold, and CoolBot® and evaporative storage conditions. High-cold storage showed less reduction in granular size and resulted in densely packed flour compared to all studied storage conditions.

This chapter revealed that Ambient storage conditions resulted in the worst ability to maintain *amadumbe* flour quality attributes. Therefore, for short-term storage, this method is not recommended. However, High-cold storage conditions, followed by CoolBot® and

evaporative cooler storage conditions, were the best storage method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* flour. Therefore, some adjustments would need to be made to the storage conditions of CoolBot® and evaporative cooler for it to have an improved ability to preserve quality attributes of *amadumbe* flour. The minimal loss in quality attributes in High-cold storage conditions can infer that *amadumbe* flour will have improved uses in food and non-food industries. Therefore, it is also recommended that the end-use products be made using corms stored in High-cold storage to assess the impact of this storage method on end-use quality.

## 4.5 References

- Adebowale, K and Lawal, O. 2004. Comparative study of the functional properties of bambarra groundnut (Voandzeia subterranean), jack bean (Canavalia ensiformis) and mucuna bean (Mucuna pruriens) flours. *Food Research International* 37 (4): 355-365.
- Adepoju, A and Adejumo, B. 2015. Some proximate properties of sweet potato (Ipomoea batatas L.) As influenced by cooking methods. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research* 4 (3): 146-148.
- Agbemafle, R, Owusu Sekyere, J, Otchere, J, Acquaye, A and Asi, J. 2014. Effect of different storage methods on the proximate composition and functional properties of creamskinned sweet potato (Ipomea batatas Lam). *Scholars Journal of Engineering and Technology* 2 (1): 34-44.
- Agiriga, A and Iwe, M. 2016. Optimization of chemical properties of cassava varieties harvested at different times using response surface methodology. *American Journal of Advanced Food Science and Technology* 4 (1): 10-21.
- Alam, F and Hasnain, A. 2009. Studies on swelling and solubility of modified starch from Taro (Colocasia esculenta): effect of pH and temperature. *Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus* 74 (1): 45-50.
- Amon, AS, Soro, RY, Assemand, EF, Dué, EA and Kouamé, LP. 2014. Effect of boiling time on chemical composition and physico-functional properties of flours from taro (Colocasia esculenta cv fouê) corm grown in Côte d'Ivoire. *Journal of food science and technology* 51 (5): 855-864.

- AOAC. 2012. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International. AOAC International, Gaithersburg, United States of America.
- Aprianita, A, Vasiljevic, T, Bannikova, A and Kasapis, S. 2014. Physicochemical properties of flours and starches derived from traditional Indonesian tubers and roots. *Journal of food science and technology* 51 (12): 3669-3679.
- Aryee, F, Oduro, I, Ellis, W and Afuakwa, J. 2006. The physicochemical properties of flour samples from the roots of 31 varieties of cassava. *Food control* 17 (11): 916-922.
- Baidoo, E, Akonor, P and Tortoe, C. 2014. Effect of pre-treatment and storage condition on the physicochemical properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta [L.] Schott) flour. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition Engineering* 4 (4): 91-97.
- Baidoo, E, Johnson, P and Budu, A. 2010. Influence of pretreatments and storage conditions of taro (Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schoot) on functional properties of its flours. *Journal* of Root Crops 36 (2): 257-261.
- Bamidele, OP and Akanbi, CT. 2013. Effect of gamma irradiation on physicochemical properties of stored pigeon pea (C ajanus cajan) flour. *Food science & nutrition* 1 (5): 377-383.
- Bao, H, Zhou, J, Yu, J and Wang, S. 2021. Effect of Drying Methods on Properties of Potato Flour and Noodles Made with Potato Flour. *Foods* 10 (5): 1115.
- Bhat, NA, Wani, IA, Hamdani, AM, Gani, A and Masoodi, F. 2016. Physicochemical properties of whole wheat flour as affected by gamma irradiation. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* 71 (1): 175-183.
- Buckman, ES, Oduro, I, Plahar, WA and Tortoe, C. 2018. Determination of the chemical and functional properties of yam bean (Pachyrhizus erosus (L.) Urban) flour for food systems. *Food science & nutrition* 6 (2): 457-463.
- Chandra, S, Singh, S and Kumari, D. 2015. Evaluation of functional properties of composite flours and sensorial attributes of composite flour biscuits. *Journal of food science and technology* 52 (6): 3681-3688.
- Chiranthika, N, Chandrasekara, A and Gunathilake, K. 2021. Physicochemical characterization of flours and starches derived from selected underutilized roots and tuber crops grown in Sri Lanka. *Food Hydrocolloids* 124 (107272): 1-8.

- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019a. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4 (4): 939-966.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019b. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4 (4): 939-945.
- Coleman, WK. 1987. Dormancy release in potato tubers: a review. *American Potato Journal* 64 (2): 57-68.
- Dereje, B, Girma, A, Mamo, D and Chalchisa, T. 2020. Functional properties of sweet potato flour and its role in product development: a review. *International Journal of Food Properties* 23 (1): 1639-1662.
- Falade, KO and Okafor, CA. 2013. Physicochemical properties of five cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta and Xanthosoma sagittifolium) starches. *Food Hydrocolloids* 30 (1): 173-181.
- Hendek Ertop, M, Atasoy, R and Akın, ŞS. 2019. Evaluation of taro [Colocasia Esculenta (L.) Schott] flour as a hydrocolloid on the physicochemical, rheological, and sensorial properties of milk pudding. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation* 43 (10): e14103.
- Hollyer, J, Paull, R and Huang, A. 2000. Processing taro chips. *Food Manfucturing Technology* 1 (1): 21-22.
- Hoyos-Leyva, JD, Bello-Pérez, LA, Yee-Madeira, H, Rodriguez-Garcia, ME and Aguirre-Cruz, A. 2017. Characterization of the flour and starch of aroid cultivars grown in Mexico. *Starch-Stärke* 69 (9-10): 1600370.
- Jamin, FF and Flores, RA. 1998. Effect of additional separation and grinding on the chemical and physical properties of selected corn dry-milled streams. *Cereal Chemistry* 75 (1): 166-170.
- Kaur, A, Singh, N, Ezekiel, R and Sodhi, NS. 2009. Properties of starches separated from potatoes stored under different conditions. *Food Chemistry* 114 (4): 1396-1404.
- Kaur, M, Kaushal, P and Sandhu, KS. 2013. Studies on physicochemical and pasting properties of Taro (Colocasia esculenta L.) flour in comparison with a cereal, tuber and legume flour. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 50 (1): 94-100.

- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2012. Comparative study of physicochemical, functional, antinutritional and pasting properties of taro (Colocasia esculenta), rice (Oryza sativa) flour, pigeonpea (Cajanus cajan) flour and their blends. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* 48 (1): 59-68.
- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2015. Utilization of taro (Colocasia esculenta): a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 52 (1): 27-40.
- Kayode, BI, Kayode, RM, Abiodun, OA, Nwosu, C, Karim, OR and Oyeyinka, SA. 2021. Chemical, functional and physicochemical properties of flour from cassava stored under freezing. *Journal of Stored Products Research* 92 (101816): 1-6.
- Kiaitsi, E, Tosetti, R and Terry, LA. 2020. Susceptibility to blackheart disorder in potato tubers is influenced by sugar and phenolic profile. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 162 (2): 94-111.
- Krochmal-Marczak, B, Sawicka, B, Krzysztofik, B, Danilčenko, H and Jariene, E. 2020. The Effects of Temperature on the Quality and Storage Stalibity of Sweet Potato (Ipomoea batatas L.[Lam]) Grown in Central Europe. *Agronomy* 10 (11): 1665.
- Kusumayanti, H, Handayani, NA and Santosa, H. 2015. Swelling power and water solubility of cassava and sweet potatoes flour. *Procedia Environmental Sciences* 23 164-167.
- Lawal, OS. 2004. Functionality of African locust bean (Parkia biglobossa) protein isolate: effects of pH, ionic strength and various protein concentrations. *Food Chemistry* 86 (3): 345-355.
- Lewu, M, Adebola, P and Afolayan, A. 2010. Comparative assessment of the nutritional value of commercially available cocoyam and potato tubers in South Africa. *Journal of Food Quality* 33 (4): 461-476.
- Lu, D and Lu, W. 2012. Effects of protein removal on the physicochemical properties of waxy maize flours. *Starch-Stärke* 64 (11): 874-881.
- Mabhaudhi, T and Modi, A. 2015. Drought tolerance of selected south african taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) landraces. *Experimental agriculture* 51 (3): 451-466.
- Mare, R. 2009. Taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) yield and quality response to planting date and organic fertilisation. Unpublished PhD thesis, School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa.

- Mawoyo, B, Adebola, P, Gerrano, AS and Amonsou, E. 2017. Effect of genotypes and growth locations on composition and functional properties of *amadumbe* flours. *Journal of food science and technology* 54 (11): 3577-3586.
- McEwan, R, Shangase, F, Djarova, T and Opoku, A. 2014. Effect of three processing methods on some nutrient and anti-nutritional factor constituent of Colocasia esculenta (*Amadumbe*). *African Journal of Food Science* 8 (5): 287-292.
- Medoua, GN, Mbome, IL, Agbor-Egbe, T and Mbofung, C. 2005. Physicochemical changes occurring during post-harvest hardening of trifoliate yam (Dioscorea dumetorum) tubers. *Food chemistry* 90 (4): 597-601.
- Modi, A and Mare, R. 2016. Alpha Amylase Activity and Sprouting During Short Term Storage of Taro Corms. *Journal of Agriculture, Science and Technology* 18 (1): 1053-1063.
- Momin, MC, Mitra, S, Jamir, AR and Kongbrailatpam, M. 2021. Evaluation of physicochemical properties in different cultivars of Taro [Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott]: A comparative study. *Pharma Innovative Journal* 10 (7): 1644-1649.
- Mukurumbira, A, Mariano, M, Dufresne, A, Mellem, JJ and Amonsou, EO. 2017. Microstructure, thermal properties and crystallinity of *amadumbe* starch nanocrystals. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 102 (2): 241-247.
- Naidoo, K, Amonsou, E and Oyeyinka, S. 2015. In vitro digestibility and some physicochemical properties of starch from wild and cultivated *amadumbe* corms. *Carbohydrate polymers* 125 (3): 9-15.
- Nascimento, RFd and Canteri, MHG. 2018. Effect of blanching on physicochemical characteristics of potato flour. *Horticultura Brasileira* 36 (1): 461-465.
- Ngobese, NZ, Workneh, TS, Alimi, BA and Tesfay, S. 2017. Nutrient composition and starch characteristics of eight European potato cultivars cultivated in South Africa. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 55 (4): 1-11.
- Njintang, N, Bouba, AA, Mbofung, C, Aboubakar, N, Bennett, R, Parker, M, Faulds, C, Smith, A and Waldron, W. 2007. Biochemical characteristics of taro (Colocasia esculenta) flour as determinant factors of the extend of browning during Achu preparation. *Am J Food Tech* 2 (2): 60-70.
- Njintang, NY, Boudjeko, T, Tatsadjieu, LN, Nguema-Ona, E, Scher, J and Mbofung, CM. 2014. Compositional, spectroscopic and rheological analyses of mucilage isolated from

taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) corms. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 51 (5): 900-907.

- Njintang, NY, Mbofung, CM, Balaam, F, Kitissou, P and Scher, J. 2008a. Effect of taro (Colocasia esculenta) flour addition on the functional and alveographic properties of wheat flour and dough. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 88 (2): 273-279.
- Njintang, Y, Scher, J and Mbofung, C. 2008b. Physicochemical, thermal properties and microstructure of six varieties of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) flours and starches. *Journal of Food Engineering* 86 (2): 294-305.
- Nwokocha, LM, Aviara, NA, Senan, C and Williams, PA. 2009. A comparative study of some properties of cassava (Manihot esculenta, Crantz) and cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta, Linn) starches. *Carbohydrate polymers* 76 (3): 362-367.
- Ogunlakin, G, Oke, M, Babarinde, G and Olatunbosun, D. 2012. Effect of drying methods on proximate composition and physico-chemical properties of cocoyam flour. *American Journal of Food Technology* 7 (4): 245-250.
- Oyeyinka, SA and Amonsou, EO. 2020. Composition, pasting and thermal properties of flour and starch derived from *amadumbe* with different corm sizes. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57 (10): 3688-3695.
- Paramita, O, Fathonah, S, Agustina, T and Larasati, M.2021. The effect of different processes of flour making on the proximate composition of taro (Colocasia esculenta (l.) flour and taro flour cookies. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 012065. IOP Publishing, Florida, United States of America.
- Park, CS and Baik, BK. 2004. Relationship between protein characteristics and instant noodle making quality of wheat flour. *Cereal Chemistry* 81 (2): 159-164.
- Pérez, E, Schultz, FS and de Delahaye, EP. 2005. Characterization of some properties of starches isolated from Xanthosoma sagittifolium (tannia) and Colocassia esculenta (taro). *Carbohydrate polymers* 60 (2): 139-145.
- Shi, S, Qu, G-x, Xu, H-x and Li, Z-f. 2017. Study on Physicochemical Properties and Microstructure of Taro Starch in Taizhou. *International Journal of Environmental and Agriculture Research* 3 (11): 90-96.

- Sit, N, Misra, S and Deka, SC. 2014. Characterization of physicochemical, functional, textural and color properties of starches from two different varieties of taro and their comparison to potato and rice starches. *Food Science and Technology Research* 20 (2): 357-365.
- Sonnewald, S and Sonnewald, U. 2014. Regulation of potato tuber sprouting. *Planta* 239 (1): 27-38.
- Svanberg, SM, Nyman, EMGL, Andersson, R and Nilsson, T. 1997. Effects of boiling and storage on dietary fibre and digestible carbohydrates in various cultivars of carrots. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 73 (2): 245-254.
- Tattiyakul, J, Asavasaksakul, S and Pradipasena, P. 2006. Chemical and physical properties of flour extracted from taro Colocasia esculenta (L.) Schott grown in different regions of Thailand. *Science Asia* 32 (3): 279-284.
- Van Hal, M. 2000. Quality of sweetpotato flour during processing and storage. *Food Reviews International* 16 (1): 1-37.
- Wang, H, Yang, Q, Gao, L, Gong, X, Qu, Y and Feng, B. 2020. Functional and physicochemical properties of flours and starches from different tuber crops. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 148 (1): 324-332.
- Wongsagonsup, R, Nateelerdpaisan, T, Gross, C, Suphantharika, M, Belur, PD, Agoo, EMG and Janairo, JIB. 2021. Physicochemical properties and in vitro digestibility of flours and starches from taro cultivated in different regions of Thailand. *International Journal* of Food Science & Technology 56 (5): 2395-2406.
- Xiao, G, Huang, W, Cao, H, Tu, W, Wang, H, Zheng, X, Liu, J, Song, B and Xie, C. 2018. Genetic loci conferring reducing sugar accumulation and conversion of cold-stored potato tubers revealed by QTL analysis in a diploid population. *Frontiers in plant science* 9 (2): 315-331.

# 5. PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF *AMADUMBE* STARCH DERIVED FROM AMDUMBE CORMS SUBJECTED TO DIFFERENT STORAGE METHODS

Section 4 revealed that storage conditions had a significant impact on the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour. This chapter will evaluate the changes in the quality of *amadumbe* starch subjected to different storage conditions.

#### Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the effects of different storage conditions on the functional and morphological attributes of amadumbe starch. Amadumbe starch was derived from corms subjected to five storage conditions: Low-cold storage, High-cold storage, CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, Underground storage, and Ambient storage as a control. The corms were stored in three replications using a completely Randomised Block Design. Three different experimental designs were used in this study. The first two experimental designs had two treatments: storage conditions and storage period. However, sampling was done every 14th day for 70 days in experiment one and on days 0 and 70 in experiment two. The third experimental design had three treatments: storage conditions, storage period, and temperature, and sampling was done every 14th day for 70 days. The data were analysed using the Duncan multiple range test at a 5 % level significance. The results obtained in this study showed that storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) in reducing the granular starch size, swelling power, solubility, and L\* and increasing water holding capacity, oil holding capacity, and a\*. High-cold storage resulted in the lowest reduction in starch yield (10.37 %), granular starch size (6.21 %), swelling power (12.31 %), solubility (20.99 %), L\* (1.08 %). It also resulted in the highest increase in water holding capacity (60.02 %) and oil holding capacity (107.17 %). While Ambient storage resulted in the highest decrease in starch yield (10.37 %), granular starch size (6.21 %), swelling power (12.31 %), solubility (20.99 %), L\* (1.08 %). It also resulted in the highest increase in water holding capacity (60.02 %) and oil holding capacity (107.17 %). The starch morphology study revealed that the granules of *amadumbe* starch are predominantly irregular and polygonal shapes with a smooth texture. The granules of starch were densely packed and large on day 0; however, after 70 days of storage, the granules became loosely packed and reduce in size. This study revealed that High-cold, followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storages, were the best storage method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* starch. In contrast, Ambient storage conditions resulted in the worst ability to maintain *amadumbe* starch quality attributes. Therefore, for short-term storage, ambient storage is not recommended.

## 5.1 Introduction

The global native starch market has reached 88.2 million tons, mainly because starch has many uses in the food and non-food industries (Singla *et al.*, 2020). *Amadumbe* starch is preferred by most consumers due to its health-related benefits, as a result of having high resistant starch and being gluten-free (Arici *et al.*, 2020). Native *amadumbe* starch is also preferred in most industries because very little modification is required to its physicochemical properties before being used (Singla *et al.*, 2020).

*Amadumbe* starch has small granules that range between 1 to 5 µm. This unique small size makes *amadumbe* starch beneficial to produce biodegradable packaging material and easily digestible formulas for infants (Wongsagonsup *et al.*, 2021). According to Falade and Okafor (2013) and Kaushal *et al.* (2015), *amadumbe* starch is suitable for producing baked products, soups, gravies, mayonnaise, and sausages because it has high water and oil holding capacities. Buckman *et al.* (2018) reported that the high swelling power and solubility of *amadumbe* starch are beneficial when producing foods with high pasting viscosity. The physicochemical properties of starch are influenced by amylose and amylopectin content (Gercekaslan, 2020). Modi and Mare (2016) showed changes in granular starch morphology during storage due to alpha-amylase. These changes may impact the amylose and amylopectin content and ultimately influence the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch (Labuschagne *et al.*, 2014).

Previous studies focused on the effect of *amadumbe* starch nanocrystals on physicochemical properties of starch bio-composite films (Mukurumbira *et al.*, 2017b) and the effect of corm size on the composition, pasting, and thermal properties of *amadumbe* flours and starches (Oyeyinka and Amonsou, 2020). While Modi and Mare (2016) only looked at the effect of temperature and packaging on the morphological properties of *amadumbe* starch. Therefore,
this study will characterise the impact of different storage conditions on the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch.

## 5.2 Materials and Methods

This section contains all materials and methods used to determine the impact of different storage conditions on the quality properties of *amadumbe* starch.

#### 5.2.1 Post-harvest sample preparations

The tubers were harvested after ten months. The *amadumbe* tubers were then washed using tap water and allowed to dry at ambient conditions. The corms with defects and harvest injuries were discarded immediately after drying.

# 5.2.2 Data Collection

Evaluation of all physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch was done at the Food Science and Agricultural Engineering Laboratory, University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

#### 5.2.3 Experimental design

Three experimental designs were used in this study. The difference between experiments 1 and 2 was due to financial constraints. Experiment 3 differed because temperature becomes an additional treatment when calculating the swelling power and solubility of *amadumbe* starch.

## 5.2.3.1 Experimental design 1

The experimental design to determine starch yield, water holding capacity, and oil holding capacity was conducted using a Completely Randomised Block Design. The experimental design had two factors (storage conditions and storage period). Sampling was done every 14<sup>th</sup> day for 70 days using three replications (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 3.2 of Section 3.2.3).

### 5.2.3.2 Experimental design 2

The experimental design to determine morphology was similar to Experimental design 1. However, sampling was only done on days 0 and 70 (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 4.1 of Section 4.2.3.2)

# 5.2.3.3 Experimental design 3

The experimental design to determine swelling power and solubility was conducted using a Completely Randomised Block Design. The experimental design had three factors (storage conditions, storage period, and temperature). Sampling was done every 14<sup>th</sup> day for 70 days using three replications (The graphical illustration of the experimental design can be found in Figure 4.2 of Section 4.2.3.3).

## 5.2.4 Starch extraction and yield

The method used by Naidoo et al. (2015) was used with minor modification to extract the starch. The *amadumbe* were brought to the laboratory for analysis immediately after harvest. The 400g tubers were washed, peeled, chopped into small pieces, and then milled using a blender. The resultant pulp was dispersed in water (1:5), stirred at room temperature for five hours. A double cheesecloth was used to filter the non-starchy components. The resulting filtrate was allowed to settle at room temperature for 48 h. The supernatant was decarded, and the remaining residue was oven-dried at 35°C for 48 h. The dried residue was sieved (screen size:  $180 \mu$ m) to obtain starch. The starch yield was calculated as the ratio of the starch obtained to the weight of the tuber used (Equation 5.1).

$$SY = \frac{W_{fa}}{W_t} \times 100$$
(5.1)

where

SY = Starch yield (%), $W_{fa} = weight of starch obtained after drying (g), and$  $W_t = weight of the tuber used (g).$ 

## 5.2.5 Amadumbe starch granule morphology

The granule morphology was determined using the method used by Ngobese et al. (2017). Granule morphology was determined using a scanning electron microscope (ZEISS EVO LS15; Carl Zeiss Microscopy, United States of America), set at a magnification of 4.50 KX with signal A at SEI, I Probe = 59 pA, and EHT = 20.00kV. The starch was splashed on a double-sided silver tape attached to a 10 mm diameter specimen stub. The samples were coated with gold, using an ion sputter coater Q150 CS; Quorumtech, United Kingdom). The obtained granules from scanning electron microscope were then subjected to image analysis (Soft Imaging System GmbH; Olympus America Inc, United States of America) at the Microscopic analysis laboratory (University of KwaZulu Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa).

# 5.2.6 Amadumbe starch swelling power and solubility

The swelling power and solubility were determined using the method used by Chisenga *et al.* (2019c) with minor modifications. The swelling power and solubility were determined at 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90°C. A 0.5 g dry starch sample was suspended in 20 mL deionised water in a 50 mL centrifuge tube with a known weight. The centrifugal tube was heated using a water bath (Faithful FWS-30; Huanghua Faithful Instruments Co., Ltd, China) at 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90°C for 30 min and spiralling was done every 5 min. The centrifugal tube was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and centrifuged (Avanti J-26S XP; Beckman Coulter, United States of America) at 1867 × g for 20 min. The supernatant obtained was used for the solubility test. The sediment mass was measured, and the swelling power (g.g<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated as the ratio of the sediment mass to the original sample weight (Equation 5.2.) The collected supernatant was placed on a pre-weighed evaporating crucible dish and oven-dried at 105°C for 12 h, and the dried mass was measured. The solubility (%) was calculated as the ratio of dried mass to the original sample weight (Equation 5.3).

$$SP = \frac{W_S}{W_O}$$
(5.2)

$$S = \frac{W_{ds}}{W_0} \times 100$$
(5.3)

where

 $SP = Swelling power (g.g^{-1}),$ 

S = Solubility (%),

 $W_O$  = weight of original *amadumbe* starch (g),

Ws = weight of wet amadumbe starch sediment (g), and

 $W_{ds}$  = weight of dry *amadumbe* starch supernatant (g).

# 5.2.7 *Amadumbe* starch water and oil holding capacities

The water and oil holding capacities were determined using the method used by Ngobese et al. (2017). A 0.5 g of starch was placed in a 15 mL conical pre-weighed centrifuge tube. Five millilitres of deionised water or canola with a density of 1 and 0.89 g cm<sup>-3</sup>, respectively, at ambient temperature, was added to the starch. The mixture was stirred with a stainless-steel spatula and allowed to stand at ambient temperature for two hours before being centrifuged at  $350 \times g$  (Avanti J-26S XP; Beckman Coulter, United States of America) for 30 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the sample was reweighed. The absorption capacity was calculated by taking the ratio of the difference between the initial and final weight to the weight of the initial starch portion used (Equation 5.4).

$$HC = \frac{W_i - W_f}{W_i} \times 100$$
(5.4)

where

HC = Water or Oil holding capacity (%),

 $W_i$  = initial weight of *amadumbe* starch (g), and

 $W_f$  = final weight of *amadumbe* starch (g).

#### 5.2.8 Amadumbe starch colour

The colour of starch was determined using the method used by Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020). Standardisation was done using the Hunter Lab colour standards (ColorFlexEZ; Hunter Associate Laboratories Inc, United States of America). The colour of the starch was measured by reading L\*, a\*, and b\*. L\*, a\*, and b\* refer to (degree of lightness), (redness to greenness), and (yellowness to blueness), respectively. To read the colour, starch was poured into a glass cup (04-7209-00 glass sample cup; Hunter Associate Laboratories Inc, United States of America) until it completely covered the bottom part of the cup.

#### 5.2.9 Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using the GenStat 18.2.1 software, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for differences. The separation of means was determined using Duncan's multiple range test at the 5 % significant level. The relationship between the quality attributes was determined using linear regression analysis (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019).

#### 5.3 **Results and Discussion**

This section will analyse and discuss the quality properties of *amadumbe* starch subjected to different storage environments.

#### 5.3.1 Starch yield

Table 5.1 shows the impact of storage conditions and storage period on the yield of *amadumbe* starch. The starch yield ranged between 11.25 and 15.34 %. The range obtained in this study is comparable to the starch obtained by Falade and Okafor (2013) (10.03 - 18.61 %) and low compared to the range reported by authors such as Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) (24.00 - 32.00 %) and (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015) (35.00 - 36.00 %). The variation in yield may be attributed to differences in the extraction method and differences in the genotype of *amadumbe* (Aprianita *et al.*, 2014). Singla *et al.* (2020) also reported that the extraction method also impacts the yield of *amadumbe* starch. The higher yield obtained by Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) and (Naidoo *et al.*, 2015) may be due to the authors using a centrifuge for 20 minutes. In the present study, the starch was separated by allowing the starch to settle for 48 hours.

Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the yield of *amadumbe* starch. The starch yield ranged from 13.57 to 14.26 %, with High and Low-cold storages having the lowest

and highest starch yield, respectively. Nourian *et al.* (2003) also reported that potato starch content decreased more rapidly at a lower temperature (4 °C) from 13.40 % to 8 % as compared to a higher temperature (20 °C). The reduction in starch content is due to the breaking down of starch into reducing sugars during cold storage (Sanchez *et al.*, 2021).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the yield of *amadumbe* starch. The starch yield decreased from 15.34 to 12.51 % on days 0 and 70. Krochmal-Marczak *et al.* (2020) also reported that the starch content of sweet potatoes stored for six months was reduced by 20.42 %. The reduction in starch yield may be attributed to an increase in amylase during storage, which results in the breaking down of starch (Modi and Mare, 2016). The reduction is also due to cold-induced sweetening when starch is broken down into sugars (Sanchez *et al.*, 2021). Table 5.2 shows the correlation between the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* starch. Starch yield had a positive correlation with swelling power (r = 0.658, p < 0.001), solubility (r = 0.621, p < 0.001), L\* (r = 0.417, p < 0.001), and granular starch size (r = 0.820, p < 0.001) and a negative correlation with water holding capacity (r = -0.418, p < 0.001).

	Storage conditions							
Storage period (days)	А	U	CBEC	HC	LC			
0	15.34(0.53) <sup>f</sup>							
14	15.06(0.30) <sup>ef</sup>	15.16(1.28) <sup>ef</sup>	$14.28(0.47)^{def}$	14.36(1.48) <sup>ef</sup>	14.52(0.27) <sup>ef</sup>			
28	14.75(1.80) <sup>ef</sup>	$14.56(0.13)^{\text{ef}}$	$14.11(0.11)^{\text{c-f}}$	14.29(1.45) <sup>def</sup>	13.69(0.48) <sup>b-f</sup>			
42	13.52(0.40) <sup>b-f</sup>	13.43(1.28) <sup>b-f</sup>	13.96(0.37) <sup>b-f</sup>	14.02(1.12) <sup>b-f</sup>	$13.24(0.84)^{b-e}$			
56	$13.29(1.70)^{b-e}$	13.40(0.78) <sup>b-f</sup>	13.70(1.23) <sup>a-d</sup>	13.82(2.28) <sup>b-f</sup>	12.38(0.24) <sup>b-f</sup>			
70	11.25(1.80) <sup>a</sup>	12.13(0.75) <sup>ab</sup>	13.19(0.23) <sup>b-e</sup>	13.75(0.12) <sup>b-f</sup>	12.26(0.28) <sup>abc</sup>			
	Storage conditions (A)		Storage period (B)		(A*B)			
Level of significance	p > 0.05		p < 0.001		p > 0.05			
All values are many of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard								

 Table 5.1
 The yield (%) of starch from amadumbe subjected subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

Parameter	SY (%)	S (%)	SP (g.g-1)	WHC (%)	OHC (%)	L*	a*	b*	GSS (µm)
SY (%)	1.000								
S (%)	0.621***	1.000							
SP (g.g-1)	0.658***	0.862***	1.000						
WHC (%)	-0.451***	-0.390***	-0.545***	1.000					
OHC (%)	-0.561***	-0.595***	-0.626***	0.654***	1.000				
L*	0.417***	0.709***	0.671***	-0.333**	-0.447***	1.000			
a*	-0.326**	-0.458***	-0.482***	0.413***	0.377***	-0.491***	1.000		
b*	-0.418***	-0.704***	-0.7600***	0.520***	0.621***	-0.559***	0.513***	1.000	
GSS (µm)	0.820***	0.886***	0.833***	-0.335**	-0.693***	0.865***	-0.779***	-0.725***	1.000

 Table 5.2
 Correlation between physico-chemical properties of *amadumbe* starch subjected to different storage conditions

SY = Starch yield, SP = Swelling power, S = Solubility, WHC = water holding capacity, OHC = Oil holding capacity and <math>GSS = Granular starch size. Level of significance  $p > 0.05^*$ ,  $p < 0.05^{**}$ ,  $p < 0.001^{***}$ .

#### 5.3.2 *Amadumbe* starch morphology

The morphology of *amadumbe* starch can be found in Figure 5.1a-f. The granules had predominately irregular and polygonal shapes with a smooth texture. This finding is consistent with the work of other authors, such as Naidoo *et al.* (2015) and Wang *et al.* (2020), that reported that *amadumbe* starch is polygonal and irregular in shape. Table 5.3 shows the change in *amadumbe* size during storage. The granular size ranged between 2.78 and 4.99  $\mu$ m. This range is comparable to the range obtained by other authors such as Naidoo *et al.* (2015) (2.00 – 7.00  $\mu$ m) and Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) (2.00 – 5.00  $\mu$ m). Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0 .001) on the size of *amadumbe* starch. The granular size ranged between 3.89 to 4.83  $\mu$ m, with Low and High-cold storage is due to the breaking down of starch into reducing sugars (Krochmal-Marczak *et al.*, 2020). Kaur *et al.* (2009) also reported that potatoes stored at 4°C showed a higher proportion of small size granules as compared to those stored at 20°C.

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the granule size of *amadumbe* starch. The particles decreased from 4.99 to 3.68 µm on days 0 and 70. Figure 5.1a illustrates the micrograph of *amadumbe* starch before storage. The particles appear tightly packed and have large granules. After 70 days, the starch in Ambient (Figure 5.1), Underground (Figure 5.1c), CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler (Figure 5.1d), and Low-cold (Figure 5.1f) storage conditions appear less packed and have a greater portion of small granular particles. The granules also appear more pitted and less smooth during storage. Modi and Mare (2016) reported that *amadumbe* showed erosion and indentation during storage. High-cold storage (Figure 5.1e) had granular morphology similar to the initial micrograph. The reduction in compaction and granular size during storage indicates degradation in the granules of the starch due to alpha-amylase (Modi and Mare, 2016). Granular starch size had a positive correlation with swelling power (r = 0.833, p < 0.001), solubility (r = 0.886, p < 0.001), and L\* (r = 0.805, p < 0.001) and had a negative correlation with water holding capacity (r = -0.335, p < 0.001)

The reduction in granular size during storage is suitable when producing biodegradable packaging because small granules are recommended in making biodegradable packaging material (Mukurumbira *et al.*, 2017a). The small granular size of *amadumbe* starch is also suitable for producing foods such as infants formula, edible films, noodles because of improved digestibility (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015). High cold storage is the optimum storage condition for preserving the granular morphology of *amadumbe* starch because it resulted in the lowest degradation of starch.

Storage conditions U CBEC HC Storage period (days) А LC 0  $4.99(0.10)^{d}$  $4.99(0.10)^{d}$  $4.99(0.10)^{d}$  $4.99(0.10)^{d}$  $4.99(0.10)^{d}$ 3.10(0.52)<sup>ab</sup> 70 4.68(0.71)<sup>cd</sup> 2.78(0.29)<sup>a</sup>  $3.62(0.24)^{b}$  $4.24(0.28)^{c}$ Storage conditions (A) Storage period (B) (A\*B) Level of significance p < 0.001p < 0.001p < 0.001 All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard

Table 5.3 The granular size (µm) of starch from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.







Figure 5.1 The effect of storage conditions on the morphology of *amadumbe* starch (a) Starch before storage, (b) Ambient storage, (c) Underground storage, (d) CoolBot® and Evaporative cooler storage, (e) High-cold storage (f) Low-cold storage after 70 days

#### 5.3.3 Amadumbe starch swelling power and solubility

Figure 5.2a-c illustrates the effect of storage conditions and storage period on the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch. The swelling power ranged between 1.34 and 10.03 g.g<sup>-1</sup>. The range obtained in this study is low compared to the swelling power obtained by other authors such as Alam and Hasnain (2009) ( $6.20 - 28.00 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$ ), Deka and Sit (2016) (10.57 - 13.25), and Nwokocha *et al.* (2009) ( $2.52 - 18.60 \text{ g.g}^{-1}$ ). The low swelling power may be due to non-starch components such as protein present in the starch, which reduces the swelling power (Chiranthika *et al.*, 2021).

Figure 5.2b illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* stored in different storage conditions. Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch. The swelling power ranged between 5.70 to 6.15 g.g<sup>-1</sup>, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest swelling power, respectively. The high swelling power in High-cold storage may be attributed to the larger granular size because larger granules have an increased ability to swell. Falade and Okafor (2013) reported that *Xanthosomas spp* starch with larger granules than *amadumbe* starch had a higher swelling power. During extraction of *amadumbe* starch, other non-starch components such as protein, phosphorous, and lipids are not removed (Jane *et al.*, 1992; Naidoo *et al.*, 2015; Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a). These non-starch components such as phosphorus and lipids also influence the swelling power. Thus, a decrease in phosphorus will lead to a reduction in the swelling power. Sabiniano *et al.* (1994) reported that the phosphorous content of potatoes decreases during storage.

Figure 5.2a illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* starch as the storage period is increased. The figure illustrates that the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch decreased throughout the storage period. The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch. The swelling power decreased from 6.45 to 5.13 g.g<sup>-1</sup> on days 0 and 70, respectively. The reduction in swelling power throughout the storage period may be attributed to increased lipids. Hoover and Ratnayake (2002) reported that the formation of amylose-lipid complexes inhibits starch swelling. Hu *et al.* (2017) also reported that surface protein and lipids inhibit starch swelling. Chisenga *et al.* (2019b) reported that a reduction in

granular size reduces the swelling capacity of starch. Therefore, the reduction in starch yield and granular size during storage may have caused the reduction in the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch. The swelling power correlated positively with solubility (r = 0.862, p < 0.001), L\* (r = 0.671, p < 0.001), and granular starch size (r = 0.833, p < 0.001) and correlated negatively with water holding capacity (r = -0.545, p < 0.001) and oil holding capacity (r = -0.626, p < 0.001). The negative correlation shows that water and oil holding capacities increase as swelling power decreases.

Figure 5.2c illustrates the change in swelling power of *amadumbe* starch due to temperature changes. The figure illustrates that the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch increased as a function of temperature. The temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch. The swelling power increased from 1.85 to 9.26 g.g<sup>-1</sup> at 50 and 90°C, respectively. The increase in swelling power as the temperature is increased is due to the breaking down of the hydrogen bonds formed between hydroxyl groups and starch, which then interacts with water (Sit *et al.*, 2014). Kayode *et al.* (2021), Chisenga *et al.* (2019b), and Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) also reported an increase in swelling power of potatoes, sweet potatoes, cassava, and *amadumbe*, respectively, as the temperature is increased.

The interaction of storage conditions and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. Low-cold storage had the highest swelling power increase of 408.96 % from 50 to 90 °C, while Ambient storage had the lowest swelling power increase of 386.10 %. The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. High-cold storage had the lowest decrease of *amadumbe* swelling power (12.31 %) while, Ambient storage had the highest reduction of 27.73 %, from day 0 to day 70. The interaction of storage period and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of 456.39 %, while day 70 had the lowest increase of 352.52 %. The interaction of storage conditions, storage period and temperature, had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the swelling power of *amadumbe*. Ambient storage conditions showed the lowest swelling power on day 70 at 50°C while, High-cold storage had the highest swelling power on day 0 at 90°C. Therefore, High cold storage conditions would be suitable for producing foods with high pasting viscosity (Buckman *et al.*, 2018).



a)

b)

142





Figure 5.2 The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c) on the swelling power of *amadumbe* starch.
 A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

Figure 5.3a-c illustrates the effect of storage conditions and storage period on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. The solubility ranged between 0.56 to 11.32 %. The range obtained in this study is low compared to the solubility obtained by Alam and Hasnain (2009) (2.63 - 22.50), (Deepika *et al.*, 2013) (8.10 - 49.03 %) and (Nwokocha *et al.*, 2009) (1.12 - 18.50). Chisenga *et al.* (2019a) reported that the solubility of starch is influenced by the granular size, temperature, and other non-starch components.

Figure 5.3b illustrates the change in solubility of *amadumbe* stored in different storage conditions. Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. The solubility ranged between 4.51 and 5.98 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest solubility, respectively. The high solubility in High-cold storage conditions may be attributed to the larger granular size because larger granules have increased solubility (Falade and Okafor, 2013). This study also found that solubility has a positive correlation with granular starch size (r = 0.886, p < 0.001) and L\* (r = 0.709, p < 0.001). The positive correlation between granular starch size and solubility shows that as the particle size decreases, the solubility also decreases. Chisenga *et al.* (2019a) reported that large granules have a higher solubility due to having a higher volume because solubility has a strong positive correlation with swelling power. The study also found that solubility strongly correlates with swelling power (r = 0.862, p < 0.001). In contrast, Naidoo *et al.* (2015) concluded that the difference in the granular size of cultivated and wild had no significant influence on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch.

Figure 5.3a illustrates the change in the solubility of *amadumbe* starch as the storage period is increased. The figure illustrates that the solubility of *amadumbe* decreased throughout the storage period. The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. The solubility of *amadumbe* starch decreased from 6.51 to 4.18 % on days 0 and 70, respectively. The decrease in solubility during storage may be attributed to increased lipid content. Lipid-amylose complexes restrict swelling, which leads to a reduced loss of amylose through leaching, thus decreasing solubility (Alcázar-Alay and Meireles, 2015). The decrease may also be attributed to loss of granular arrangement due to starch degradation because of amylase activity (Nwokocha *et al.*, 2009). The solubility of *amadumbe* starch

correlated negatively with water holding capacity (r = -0.390, p < 0.001) and oil holding capacity (r = -0.595, p < 0.001), a\* (r = -0.458, p < 0.001) and b\* (r = -0.704, p < 0.001).

Figure 5.3c illustrates that the solubility of *amadumbe* increases as a function of temperature. The temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. The solubility of *amadumbe* starch increased from 1.74 to 8.37 % at 50 and 90°C, respectively. Chisenga *et al.* (2019a) reported that non-starch components are responsible for variations in the solubility of cassava starch. The increase in solubility may be due to increased soluble non-starch components such as sugars during storage (Verma *et al.*, 2018).

The interaction of storage conditions and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. High-cold storage had the highest solubility increase of 599.91 % from 50 to 90 °C while, Low-cold storage had the lowest solubility increase of 329.74 %. The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe*. Ambient storage conditions had the highest reduction in solubility of 49.06 %, while High-cold storage had the lowest reduction of 20.99 % from day 0 to day 70. The interaction of storage period and the temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe*. Day 0 had the highest increase in solubility of 514.43 % from 50 to 90 °C, while day 70 had the lowest increase of 384.13 %. The interaction of storage period, and temperature had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the solubility of *amadumbe*. The highest solubility was found on day 0 at 90°C across all storage conditions, while the lowest was found in Ambient storage conditions on day 70 at 50°C.

High cold storage is the best method for preserving *amadumbe* starch solubility, while ambient storage is the worst. The high solubility of High-cold storage will be suitable to produce food such as baked products because it has a higher ability to swell (Kaushal *et al.*, 2015)



a)

b)

146



c)

Figure 5.3 The effect of storage period (a), storage conditions (b), and temperature (c) on the solubility of *amadumbe* starch. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

#### 5.3.4 Amadumbe starch water and oil holding capacities

The change in the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch during storage can be found in Table 4.5. The water holding capacity ranged between 227.15 and 363.62 %. The range obtained in this study is high compared to the water holding capacity obtained by other authors such as Hoyos-Leyva *et al.* (2018) (140 – 150 %) and Njintang *et al.* (2008) (60 – 250 %). The high-water holding capacity may be due to the high protein content reported in this study. The water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch is influenced by non-starch components such as mucilage and protein content (Raungrusmee and Anal, 2019; Chiranthika *et al.*, 2021).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. The water holding capacity ranged from 241. 62 to 277.01 %, with Ambient and High-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest water holding capacity, respectively. The low water holding capacity in Ambient storage conditions may be attributed to the degradation of starch granules, which interns reduces the amylose content (Chisenga *et al.*, 2019a). Oyeyinka *et al.* (2020) found that the amylose content of refrigerated cassava reduced during storage due to amylase activity. Raungrusmee and Anal (2019) reported that a reduction in amylose decreases the water holding capacity of starch since amylose can effectively bind water molecules. The presence of higher amounts of other non-starch components in *amadumbe* starch, such as protein and mucilage may have resulted in the high water holding capacity in High-cold storage (Chiranthika *et al.*, 2021).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. The water holding capacity increased from 227.15 to 316.69 % on day 0 to day 70. The increase may be attributed to an increase in the portion of small granular particles during storage (Kaur *et al.*, 2009). Kayode *et al.* (2021) reported that small granular starch absorbs more water due to an increased surface area. This study also found a negative correlation between the water holding capacity and granular starch size (r = -0.335, p < 0.05) and L\* (r = -0.333, p < 0.001) of *amadumbe* starch. The negative correlation between water holding capacity and granular starch size decreases as granular starch size decreases. Storage may have also caused the loosening of starch semicrystalline, which increases the water holding capacity (Njintang *et al.*, 2008). The water

holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch had a positive correlation with oil holding capacity (r = 0.654, p < 0.001),  $a^*$  (r = 0.413, p < 0.001), and  $b^*$  (r = 0.520, p < 0.001).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. High-cold storage had the highest water holding capacity, which increased by 60.08 % from day 0 to day 70 while, Ambient storage conditions had the lowest water holding capacity, which increased by 15.13 %. Therefore, High-cold storage is the best storage method in preserving the water holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch and would be suitable to produce food with high viscosity (Njintang *et al.*, 2008).

The change in the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch during storage can be found in Table 4.5. The oil holding capacity ranged between 214.32 and 444.01 %. The range obtained in this study is alarmingly high compared to the oil holding capacity obtained by other authors such as Saxby *et al.* (2021) (120.00 – 315.50 %) and Njintang *et al.* (2008) (60.00 – 249. 00 %). The high oil holding capacity may be attributed to more non-starch components, such as protein that remains after starch extraction (Wongsagonsup *et al.*, 2021).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. The oil holding capacity ranged from 337.82 to 369.15 %, with Ambient and High-cold storages having the lowest and highest water capacity, respectively. The High oil holding capacity in High-cold storage conditions may be attributed to the higher protein content present in the starch (Chiranthika *et al.*, 2021).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. The oil holding capacity increased from 214.31 to 421.07. % on days 0 and 70, respectively. During storage, the reduction in oil holding capacity is due to starch degradation, resulting in reduced amylose content (Verma *et al.*, 2018). This study also found oil holding capacity had a negative correlation with the granular starch size (r = -0.693, p < 0.002) and L\* (r = -0.447, p < 0.001) of *amadumbe* starch. The negative correlation shows that the oil holding capacity increases as granular starch size decreases. The increase may also be attributed to changes in the charges on the protein molecule during storage (Shad *et al.*, 2011).

The oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch had a positive correlation with a\* (r = 0.377, p < 0.05) and b\* (r = 0.621, p < 0.05).

The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch. High-cold storage had the highest oil holding capacity, which increased by 107.17 % from day 0 to day 70 while, Ambient storage had the lowest oil holding capacity, which increased by 79.43 %. Therefore High-cold storage is the best storage method in preserving the oil holding capacity of *amadumbe* starch and would be suitable for retaining flavours and enhancing the mouthfeel of food (Falade and Okafor, 2013).

## 5.3.5 *Amadumbe* starch colour

Table 4.6 shows the impact of storage conditions and storage period on the colour of *amadumbe* starch. The L\* ranged from 92.18 to 95.34, the range obtained in this study is comparable to the L\* values reported by other authors such as Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) (96.34 – 96.94), Deka and Sit (2016) (92.95), Njintang *et al.* (2008) (83.20 – 94.90), and Sit *et al.* (2014) (93.3 – 94.4). The difference in L\* may be due to differences in the starch extraction methods, the genetic makeup, and the carotenoid pigment (Njintang *et al.*, 2008; Uchechukwu-Agua *et al.*, 2015).

Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the L\* of *amadumbe* starch. The L\* ranged from 93.31 to 94.25, with Ambient and High-cold storages having the lowest and highest L\*, respectively. Nourian *et al.* (2003) also reported a higher decrease in L\* of potatoes stored at 20°C as compared to 4°C. This study also found a positive correlation between the L\* and granular starch size (r = 0.865, p < 0.001) of *amadumbe* starch. The correlation shows that as starch size is reduced due to degradation, the L\* is also reduced. The storage period also had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the L\* of *amadumbe* starch, the L\* decreased from 94.65 to 92.89 on days 0 and 70, respectively. The colour change may be attributed to the Millard reaction between reducing sugars and proteins (Deka and Sit, 2016). Reducing sugars increase during storage and may react with protein to form brown substances. The L\* had a negative correlation with a\* (r = -0.492, p < 0.001) and b\* (r = -0.559, p < 0.001) which shows that as a\* and b\* increases the L\* reduces.

The a\* of *amadumbe* starch ranged from 0.34 to 1.59, the range obtained in this study is comparable to the low a\* values reported by other authors such as Deka and Sit (2016) (2.02), Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) (0.04 - 0.10), and Sit *et al.* (2014) (1.90 - 2.20). Storage conditions had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the a\* of *amadumbe* starch. The a\* ranged between 0.75 to 0.93, with Underground and Low-cold storage conditions having the lowest and highest a\*, respectively. The high a\* in Low-cold storage still needs to be elucidated. However, it may be due to the formation of brown substances when reducing sugars react with the amino acid of protein (Nascimento and Canteri, 2018).

The storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.05) on the a\* of *amadumbe* starch. The a\* increased from 0.72 to 1.18 on days 0 and 70, respectively. The increase in a\* values during storage may be attributed to oxidation (Uchechukwu-Agua *et al.*, 2015). The interaction of storage conditions and storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001) on the a\* of *amadumbe* starch. Ambient storage conditions had the highest increase in a\* of 118.55 %, while Underground storage conditions had the lowest increase of 11.99 % from day 0 to day 70. The a\* showed a positive correlation with b\* (r = 0.513, p < 0.001) and a negative correlation with granular starch size (r = -0.779, p < 0.001).

The b\* of *amadumbe* starch ranged from 3.10 to 4.62. The range obtained in this study is high compared to the b\* reported by authors such as Deka and Sit (2016)(1.56) and Oyeyinka and Amonsou (2020) (0.89-1.14). Storage conditions had no significant impact (p > 0.05) on the b\* of *amadumbe* starch, while the storage period had a significant impact (p < 0.001). The b\* increased from 3.10 to 4.32 on days 0 and 70, respectively. The increase in b\* found in this present study is contrary to the work reported by Uchechukwu-Agua *et al.* (2015), who reported that the b\* of cassava decreased during storage and attributed the decrease to the degradation of yellow pigments. The b\* had a negative correlation with granular starch size (r = -0.725, p <0.001). Boudries *et al.* (2009) reported that L\* values higher than 90 are suitable for use in industry. Therefore the starch of *amadumbe* stored in all storage conditions would be good for mixing with other starches (Wang *et al.*, 2020).

Capacity	Storage period (days)	А	U	CBEC	НС	LC	
Water holding	0	227.15(5.84) <sup>a</sup>					
	14	232.72(25.80) <sup>ab</sup>	249.21(14.28) <sup>a-d</sup>	245.28(7.08) <sup>a-d</sup>	242.91(2.65) <sup>a-d</sup>	235.86(7.56) <sup>abc</sup>	
	28	234.67(14.57) <sup>abc</sup>	267.43(26.53) <sup>a-e</sup>	266.86(47.29) <sup>a-e</sup>	265.12(14.89) <sup>a-e</sup>	266.43(4.38) <sup>a-e</sup>	
	42	236.30(2.58) <sup>abc</sup>	277.56(20.52) <sup>cde</sup>	282.99(1.46) <sup>de</sup>	279.21(32.49) <sup>cde</sup>	275.58(14.07) <sup>bcde</sup>	
	56	257.39(48.87) <sup>a-e</sup>	276.03(18.73) <sup>b-e</sup>	297.05(9.62) <sup>e</sup>	284.06(9.76) <sup>de</sup>	285.72(5.45) <sup>de</sup>	
	70	261.51(50.14) <sup>a-e</sup>	278.78(13.80) <sup>cde</sup>	$337.02(30.88)^{\rm f}$	$363.62(45.72)^{\rm f}$	342.50(20.13) <sup>f</sup>	
Oil holding	0	214.32(3.22) <sup>a</sup>					
	14	328.06(43.98)°	352.90(18.70) <sup>c-f</sup>	344.31(41.51) <sup>cd</sup>	348.68(30.43) <sup>cde</sup>	278.68(9.56) <sup>b</sup>	
	28	364.65(6.17) <sup>d-g</sup>	355.85(6.15) <sup>c-f</sup>	368.67(21.34) <sup>d-h</sup>	387.12(7.72) <sup>f-j</sup>	355.87(7.13) <sup>c-f</sup>	
	42	365.61(4.83) <sup>d-g</sup>	357.92(19.16) <sup>c-f</sup>	370.12(30.12) <sup>d-h</sup>	404.38(29.55) <sup>h-k</sup>	395.68(2.46) <sup>g-i</sup>	
	56	369.76(26.30) <sup>d-h</sup>	379.88(14.20) <sup>d-i</sup>	372.38(18.61) <sup>d-h</sup>	416.28(14.87) <sup>jkl</sup>	435.71(6.39) <sup>kl</sup>	
	70	384.55(9.25) <sup>e-j</sup>	410.58(9.09) <sup>i-1</sup>	430.45(32.67) <sup>kl</sup>	444.01(6.19) <sup>1</sup>	435.74(9.91) <sup>kl</sup>	
	Level of significance						
Capacity	Storage conditions (A)		Storage period (B)	A			
Water holding Oil holding	p < 0.001 p < 0.001	p < 0.001 p < 0.001		p < 0.05 p < 0.001			

Table 5.4 The water and oil holding capacities (%) of starch from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

Colour	Storage period (days)	А	U	CBEC	HC	LC		
parameters								
L*	0	94.65(0.37) <sup>f-k</sup>						
	14	92.68(1.09) <sup>abc</sup>	94.82(0.20) <sup>ijk</sup>	95.04(0.24)jk	95.34(1.09) <sup>k</sup>	94.66(0.28) <sup>f-k</sup>		
	28	93.51(1.63) <sup>a-i</sup>	94.74(0.51) <sup>h-k</sup>	93.82(0.22) <sup>c-j</sup>	94.59(0.21) <sup>f-k</sup>	94.46(0.22) <sup>e-k</sup>		
	42	92.58(1.18) <sup>abc</sup>	92.18(0.84) <sup>a</sup>	93.69(0.59) <sup>b-j</sup>	94.12(1.16) <sup>d-k</sup>	93.77(0.45) <sup>c-j</sup>		
	56	93.21(0.58) <sup>a-f</sup>	92.42(1.16) <sup>abc</sup>	93.07(0.33) <sup>a-e</sup>	93.22(0.39) <sup>a-g</sup>	93.51(0.55) <sup>a-i</sup>		
	70	92.26(0.17) <sup>ab</sup>	92.86(0.59) <sup>a-d</sup>	93.28(1.06) <sup>a-h</sup>	93.63(0.49) <sup>a-j</sup>	92.42(1.39) <sup>abc</sup>		
	0	$0.72(0.16)^{bcd}$	$0.72(0.16)^{bcd}$	$0.72(0.16)^{bcd}$	$0.72(0.16)^{bcd}$	$0.72(0.16)^{bcd}$		
	14	$0.80(0.14)^{b-e}$	$0.75(0.11)^{b-e}$	$0.84(0.15)^{cde}$	$0.77(0.36)^{b-e}$	$0.83(0.41)^{cde}$		
- *	28	$0.71(0.28)^{bcd}$	0.45(0.19) <sup>ab</sup>	$0.64(0.12)^{\rm abc}$	$0.34(0.09)^{a}$	$0.73(0.16)^{bcd}$		
a	42	$0.69(0.13)^{abcd}$	0.97(0.19) <sup>c-f</sup>	0.99(0.31) <sup>c-f</sup>	0.92(0.21) <sup>c-f</sup>	$0.64(0.11)^{abc}$		
	56	0.94(0.10) <sup>c-f</sup>	$0.78(0.10)^{b-e}$	$1.05(0.06)^{def}$	1.59(0.11) <sup>h</sup>	$1.26(0.07)^{\text{fgh}}$		
	70	$1.57(0.11)^{h}$	$0.80(0.08)^{b-e}$	$1.12(0.24)^{efg}$	0.97(0.19) <sup>c-f</sup>	1.43(0.28) <sup>gh</sup>		
b*	0	3.10(0.16) <sup>a</sup>						
	14	3.35(0.69) <sup>abc</sup>	$3.55(0.24)^{a-e}$	$3.38(0.24)^{abc}$	3.277(0.85) <sup>ab</sup>	$3.06(0.55)^{a}$		
	28	$3.90(0.70)^{b-f}$	$3.61(0.46)^{a-e}$	$3.41(0.41)^{abc}$	$3.457(0.06)^{a-d}$	$3.54(0.17)^{a-e}$		
	42	4.02(0.13) <sup>c-g</sup>	3.63(0.16) <sup>a-e</sup>	$3.83(0.30)^{b-e}$	$3.64(0.03)^{a-e}$	$3.66(0.04)^{a-e}$		
	56	4.06(0.21) <sup>c-g</sup>	3.89(0.43) <sup>b-f</sup>	4.05(0.41) <sup>c-g</sup>	$3.90(0.05)^{b-f}$	3.73(0.23) <sup>a-e</sup>		
	70	$4.54(0.48)^{\mathrm{fg}}$	4.22(0.12) <sup>efg</sup>	$4.62(0.27)^{g}$	$4.04(0.38)^{c-g}$	$4.15(0.01)^{d-g}$		
		Level of significance						
Colour parameter	Storage conditions (A)	Storage period (B) A*B						
L*	p < 0.001		p < 0.001	р				
a*	$\bar{p} < 0.05$	p < 0.001		p < 0.001				
b*	$\bar{p} > 0.05$		p < 0.001	$\bar{p} > 0.05$				

Table 5.5The colour of starch from *amadumbe* subjected to different storage conditions

All values are means of three values. Data contained in the parenthesis are the standard deviations. The means with different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 by LSD test. A = Ambient storage, U = Underground storage, EC = CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage, HC = High-cold, and LC = low-cold storage.

#### 5.4 Conclusion

This study investigated the effect of different storage conditions on the quality attributes of starch derived from stored *amadumbe* corms. The study revealed that the quality attributes of *amadumbe* starch are influenced by storage conditions, storage period, and the interaction of storage conditions and storage period. All studied parameters showed a significant correlation with each other. Starch derived from corms stored in Ambient storage conditions (17.30 – 23.59°C, 75.02 – 75.15 %) showed a massive loss in quality attributes while corms stored in High-cold storage conditions (9.26 – 11.54°C, 97.57 – 100.00 %), had minimal losses in quality attributes. High-cold storage conditions reduced the loss in starch yield, swelling power, solubility, and granular starch size and reduced the change in L\* and b\*. It also resulted in the highest increase in water and oil holding capacities.

The study revealed that High-cold storage resulted in the lowest reduction in starch yield (10.37 %), granular starch size (6.21 %), swelling power (12.31 %), solubility (20.99 %), L\* (1.08 %). It also resulted in the highest increase in water holding capacity (60.02 %) and oil holding capacity (107.17 %). While Ambient storage resulted in the highest decrease in starch yield (10.37 %), granular starch size (6.21 %), swelling power (12.31 %), solubility (20.99 %), L\* (1.08 %). It also resulted in the highest increase in water holding capacity (60.02 %) and oil holding holding capacity (107.17 %).

The starch morphology study revealed that the granules of *amadumbe* starch had predominantly irregular and polygonal shapes with a smooth texture. On day 0, the starches had large granular particles which are densely packed; however, after 70 days, Ambient, Underground, CoolBot® and evaporative, and Low-cold storage conditions showed a reduction in the granular size and appeared less densely packed. High-cold storage showed less

decline in granular size and resulted in more densely packed granules than all studied storage conditions.

This study revealed that High-cold, followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storages, were the best storage method in preserving the quality attributes of *amadumbe* starch. In contrast, Ambient storage conditions resulted in the worse ability to maintain *amadumbe* starch quality attributes. Therefore, storing amadumbe in ambient storage is not recommended as it results in massive losses in quality attributes of amadumbe corms, flours and starches.

# 5.5 References

- Alam, F and Hasnain, A. 2009. Studies on swelling and solubility of modified starch from Taro (Colocasia esculenta): effect of pH and temperature. *Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus* 74 (1): 45-50.
- Alcázar-Alay, SC and Meireles, MAA. 2015. Physicochemical properties, modifications and applications of starches from different botanical sources. *Food Science and Technology* 35 (2): 215-236.
- Aprianita, A, Vasiljevic, T, Bannikova, A and Kasapis, S. 2014. Physicochemical properties of flours and starches derived from traditional Indonesian tubers and roots. *Journal of food science and technology* 51 (12): 3669-3679.
- Arici, M, Özülkü, G, Kahraman, B, Yıldırım, RM and Toker, ÖS. 2020. Taro flour usage in wheat flour bread and gluten-free bread: Evaluation of rheological, technological and some nutritional properties. *Journal of Food Process Engineering* 43 (9): e13454.
- Boudries, N, Belhaneche, N, Nadjemi, B, Deroanne, C, Mathlouthi, M, Roger, B and Sindic,M. 2009. Physicochemical and functional properties of starches from sorghum cultivated in the Sahara of Algeria. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 78 (3): 475-480.
- Buckman, ES, Oduro, I, Plahar, WA and Tortoe, C. 2018. Determination of the chemical and functional properties of yam bean (Pachyrhizus erosus (L.) Urban) flour for food systems. *Food science & nutrition* 6 (2): 457-463.
- Chiranthika, N, Chandrasekara, A and Gunathilake, K. 2021. Physicochemical characterization of flours and starches derived from selected underutilized roots and tuber crops grown in Sri Lanka. *Food Hydrocolloids* 124 (107272): 1-8.

- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Alimi, BA. 2019a. Progress in research and applications of cassava flour and starch: a review. *Journal of food science and technology* 2 (1): 1-15.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019b. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4 (4): 939-966.
- Chisenga, SM, Workneh, TS, Bultosa, G and Laing, M. 2019c. Characterization of physicochemical properties of starches from improved cassava varieties grown in Zambia. *AIMS Agriculture and Food* 4 (4): 939-945.
- Deepika, V, Kumar, KJ and Anima, P. 2013. Isolation and partial characterization of delayed releasing starches of Colocasia species from Jharkhand, India. *Carbohydrate polymers* 96 (1): 253-258.
- Deka, D and Sit, N. 2016. Dual modification of taro starch by microwave and other heat moisture treatments. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 92 (1): 416-422.
- Falade, KO and Okafor, CA. 2013. Physicochemical properties of five cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta and Xanthosoma sagittifolium) starches. *Food Hydrocolloids* 30 (1): 173-181.
- Gercekaslan, KE. 2020. Hydration level significantly impacts the freezable-and unfreezablewater contents of native and modified starches. *Food Science and Technology* 41 (1): 426-431.
- Hoover, R and Ratnayake, W. 2002. Starch characteristics of black bean, chick pea, lentil, navy bean and pinto bean cultivars grown in Canada. *Food chemistry* 78 (4): 489-498.
- Hoyos-Leyva, J, Bello-Pérez, L, Agama-Acevedo, E and Alvarez-Ramirez, J. 2018. Potential of taro starch spherical aggregates as wall material for spray drying microencapsulation: Functional, physical and thermal properties. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 120 (1): 237-244.
- Hu, P, Fan, X, Lin, L, Wang, J, Zhang, L and Wei, C. 2017. Effects of surface proteins and lipids on molecular structure, thermal properties, and enzymatic hydrolysis of rice starch. *Food Science and Technology* 38 (1): 84-90.
- Jane, J, Shen, L, Chen, J, Lim, S, Kasemsuwan, T and Nip, W. 1992. Physical and chemical studies of taro starches and flours1 2. *Cereal Chem* 69 (5): 528-535.

- Kaur, A, Singh, N, Ezekiel, R and Sodhi, NS. 2009. Properties of starches separated from potatoes stored under different conditions. *Food Chemistry* 114 (4): 1396-1404.
- Kaushal, P, Kumar, V and Sharma, H. 2015. Utilization of taro (Colocasia esculenta): a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 52 (1): 27-40.
- Kayode, BI, Kayode, RM, Abiodun, OA, Nwosu, C, Karim, OR and Oyeyinka, SA. 2021. Chemical, functional and physicochemical properties of flour from cassava stored under freezing. *Journal of Stored Products Research* 92 (101816): 1-6.
- Krochmal-Marczak, B, Sawicka, B, Krzysztofik, B, Danilčenko, H and Jariene, E. 2020. The Effects of Temperature on the Quality and Storage Stalibity of Sweet Potato (Ipomoea batatas L.[Lam]) Grown in Central Europe. *Agronomy* 10 (11): 1665.
- Labuschagne, M, Phalafala, L, Osthoff, G and van Biljon, A. 2014. The influence of storage conditions on starch and amylose content of South African quality protein maize and normal maize hybrids. *Journal of Stored Products Research* 56 (1): 16-20.
- Modi, A and Mare, R. 2016. Alpha Amylase Activity and Sprouting During Short Term Storage of Taro Corms. *Journal of Agriculture, Science and Technology* 18 (1): 1053-1063.
- Mukurumbira, A, Mariano, M, Dufresne, A, Mellem, JJ and Amonsou, EO. 2017a. Microstructure, thermal properties and crystallinity of *amadumbe* starch nanocrystals. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 102 (2): 241-247.
- Mukurumbira, AR, Mellem, JJ and Amonsou, EO. 2017b. Effects of *amadumbe* starch nanocrystals on the physicochemical properties of starch biocomposite films. *Carbohydrate polymers* 165 (1): 142-148.
- Naidoo, K, Amonsou, E and Oyeyinka, S. 2015. In vitro digestibility and some physicochemical properties of starch from wild and cultivated *amadumbe* corms. *Carbohydrate polymers* 125 (3): 9-15.
- Nascimento, RFd and Canteri, MHG. 2018. Effect of blanching on physicochemical characteristics of potato flour. *Horticultura Brasileira* 36 (1): 461-465.
- Ngobese, NZ, Workneh, TS, Alimi, BA and Tesfay, S. 2017. Nutrient composition and starch characteristics of eight European potato cultivars cultivated in South Africa. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 55 (4): 1-11.

- Njintang, Y, Scher, J and Mbofung, C. 2008. Physicochemical, thermal properties and microstructure of six varieties of taro (Colocasia esculenta L. Schott) flours and starches. *Journal of Food Engineering* 86 (2): 294-305.
- Nourian, F, Ramaswamy, H and Kushalappa, A. 2003. Kinetics of quality change associated with potatoes stored at different temperatures. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* 36 (1): 49-65.
- Nwokocha, LM, Aviara, NA, Senan, C and Williams, PA. 2009. A comparative study of some properties of cassava (Manihot esculenta, Crantz) and cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta, Linn) starches. *Carbohydrate polymers* 76 (3): 362-367.
- Oyeyinka, SA and Amonsou, EO. 2020. Composition, pasting and thermal properties of flour and starch derived from *amadumbe* with different corm sizes. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57 (10): 3688-3695.
- Oyeyinka, SA, Salako, MO, Akintayo, OA, Adeloye, AA, Nidoni, U, Dudu, OE and Diarra, SS. 2020. Structural, functional, and pasting properties of starch from refrigerated cassava root. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation* 44 (6): e14476.
- Raungrusmee, S and Anal, AK. 2019. Effects of lintnerization, autoclaving, and freeze-thaw treatments on resistant starch formation and functional properties of Pathumthani 80 rice starch. *Foods* 8 (11): 558.
- Sabiniano, NS, Ishibashi, K-i, Hironaka, K and Yamamoto, K. 1994. Effect of storage period and temperature on some properties of potato starch. *Nogyo Shisetsu (Journal of the Society of Agricultural Structures, Japan)* 25 (3): 141-146.
- Sanchez, PDC, Hashim, N, Shamsudin, R and Nor, MZM. 2021. Effects of different storage temperatures on the quality and shelf life of Malaysian sweet potato (Ipomoea Batatas L.) varieties. *Food Packaging and Shelf Life* 28 (100642): 1-9.
- Saxby, S, Lee, C and Li, Y. 2021. Nutritional, Physicochemical, and Functional Properties of Five Varieties of Taro (Colocasia esculenta). *Current Developments in Nutrition* 5 (2): 607-607.
- Shad, MA, Nawaz, H, Hussain, M and Yousuf, B. 2011. Proximate composition and functional properties of rhizomes of lotus (Nelumbo nucifera) from Punjab, Pakistan. *Pak. J. Bot* 43 (2): 895-904.

- Singla, D, Singh, A, Dhull, SB, Kumar, P, Malik, T and Kumar, P. 2020. Taro starch: Isolation, morphology, modification and novel applications concern-A review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 163 (1): 1283-1290
- Sit, N, Misra, S and Deka, SC. 2014. Characterization of physicochemical, functional, textural and color properties of starches from two different varieties of taro and their comparison to potato and rice starches. *Food Science and Technology Research* 20 (2): 357-365.
- Uchechukwu-Agua, AD, Caleb, OJ, Manley, M and Opara, UL. 2015. Effects of storage conditions and duration on physicochemical and microbial quality of the flour of two cassava cultivars (TME 419 and UMUCASS 36). *CyTA-Journal of food* 13 (4): 635-645.
- Verma, R, Jan, S, Rani, S, Jan, K, Swer, TL, Prakash, KS, Dar, M and Bashir, K. 2018. Physicochemical and functional properties of gamma irradiated buckwheat and potato starch. *Radiation Physics and Chemistry* 144 (1): 37-42.
- Wang, H, Yang, Q, Gao, L, Gong, X, Qu, Y and Feng, B. 2020. Functional and physicochemical properties of flours and starches from different tuber crops. *International journal of biological macromolecules* 148 (1): 324-332.
- Wongsagonsup, R, Nateelerdpaisan, T, Gross, C, Suphantharika, M, Belur, PD, Agoo, EMG and Janairo, JIB. 2021. Physicochemical properties and in vitro digestibility of flours and starches from taro cultivated in different regions of Thailand. *International Journal* of Food Science & Technology 56 (5): 2395-2406.

# 6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH OPPORTUNITIES

This chapter will draw the conclusion of this research, make recommendations, and identify future research opportunities.

# 6.1 Conclusion

The literature review in Chapter 2 revealed that amadumbe remains an underutilised crop in South Africa, and very little research is available on the post-harvest storage of the tuber. The tuber has health-related benefits due to its high resistant starch and fibre content. The high resistance starch reduces glucose absorption in the small intestine, which is ideal for diabetic people. While higher fibre content helps regulate the blood sugar levels of consumers. Currently, mechanical refrigeration, evaporative cooler, and underground storage pits are used to control or partially regulate temperature and relative humidity. However, there is limited information on how low-temperature storage and other storage technologies impact the quality of fresh amadumbe corms, flours, and starches. The review also determined that no work has reported the effect of CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage on the quality of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches. It also showed that *amadumbe* is processed into flour and starch because of its high moisture content. The review also found that amadumbe can be used in various processing industries, such as producing chips, noodles, cookies, and paste. The possibility of using *amadumbe* in these processing industries is dependent on the quality parameters such as colour, texture, dry matter content, swelling power, water and oil holding capacities, solubility, and specific gravity. The review showed that the quality of amadumbe varies with the cultivar, geographical location, maturity stage, planting period, storage, and growing conditions. Therefore, the effect of storage conditions on the quality of South African amadumbe cultivars needs to be established.

The main purpose of this study was to determine the optimum storage conditions that result in reduced post-harvest losses of *amadumbe*. This was achieved by evaluating and analysing the effects of different storage methods such as Ambient (A), Underground pit (U), CoolBot® and evaporative cooler (CBEC), High-Cold (HC), and Low-cold (LC) on the quality properties of

*amadumbe* corms, flours, and their starches. This research addresses the challenge of *amadumbe* being stored in environments that promote post-harvest losses. It also provides the environmental conditions that can be used to design innovative storage facilities that will have reduced post-harvest losses and low capital and operating costs.

The results showed that High-cold storage conditions  $(9.26 - 11.54^{\circ}C, 97.57 - 100.00 \%)$  followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage conditions  $(12.32 - 15.72^{\circ}C, 64.75 - 92.76 \%)$  are best storage methods and resulted in a minimal loss in the quality attributes of *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches. While Ambient storage conditions  $(17.30 - 23.59^{\circ}C, 75.02 - 75.15 \%)$  resulted in a short shelf life and massive loss in quality attributes.

Chapter 3 focused on evaluating the effect of storage conditions on the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms. Storage conditions, storage period, and the interaction of these factors influenced the physiological and mechanical properties of *amadumbe* corms. The results revealed that Ambient storage conditions had a short shelf-life and massive quality changes. While High-cold storage followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage had slow quality changes. Ambient storage had the highest increase in physiological weight loss, hardness, toughness, specific gravity, and dry matter content. It also had the lowest decrease in shear force and cutting energy. While High-cold storage followed by CoolBot® and evaporative cooler storage ( $12.32 - 15.72^{\circ}C$ , 64.75 - 92.76%) seemed to have a slow quality change

Chapter 4 focused on determining the effect of storage conditions on the quality attributes of flour derived from stored *amadumbe* corms. The results showed that the physicochemical properties of *amadumbe* flour are influenced by storage conditions, storage period, and the interaction of these factors. Flour derived from corms stored in High-cold storage followed by CoolBot® and evaporative storage conditions were of better quality than all storage conditions. In contrast, Ambient storage was the worst storage and showed a massive loss in quality attributes. Flour derived from corms stored in High-cold storage were of better quality. It had minimal reductions in (moisture content, swelling power, solubility, and protein content), minimal increase in (a\* and b\*), and the highest increase in the (oil holding and water holding capacities). While Ambient storage conditions showed a massive loss in quality attributes. The

microscopic morphologies of *amadumbe* flour were irregular and polygonal in shape. The flours exhibited larger densely packed granular particles connected by fibrous materials on day 0. After 70 days of storage, there was a reduction in the size and compactness of the granular particles. The change in flour morphology was less profound in High-cold storage.

Chapter 5 focused on determining the effect of different storage conditions on the quality attributes of starch derived from stored *amadumbe* corms. The results revealed that storage conditions, storage period, and the interaction of storage conditions and storage period influenced the quality attributes of *amadumbe* starch. Starch derived from corms stored in Ambient storage conditions showed a massive loss in quality attributes while corms stored in High-cold storage followed by CoolBot® and evaporative storage conditions had minimal losses in quality attributes. High-cold storage resulted in the lowest reduction in starch yield, granular starch size, swelling power, solubility, and L\*. It also resulted in the highest increase in water holding capacity and oil holding capacity. While Ambient storage resulted in the highest decrease in starch yield, granular starch size, swelling power, solubility, and L\*. The starch morphology study revealed that the granules of *amadumbe* starch are predominantly irregular and polygonal-shaped. The granules of starch were densely packed and large on day 0. However, after 70 days of storage, the granules become loosely packed and reduced in size. The loss in granular morphology was less profound in High-cold storage than in all storage conditions due to less degradation.

# 6.2 Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study, the following recommendations can be made:

- 1. CoolBot® and evaporative cooler is the second-best storage condition with high relative humidity. The storage chamber can be improved by lowering the temperature below 10°C and increasing the ventilation.
- 2. Packaging may be added as a treatment to reduce post-harvest losses.
- 3. Pre-treatment with chemicals such as sodium chloride, ethanol, and sodium hypochlorite may be added as a treatment to reduce microbial spoilage.
- 4. The tubers that are stored must not only be of similar weight but also similar sizes.

# 6.3 Future research opportunities

The following research opportunities can be explored in the future:

- 1. Studies on thermal and rheological properties of stored *amadumbe* flours and starches.
- 2. Studies can be done to quantify or characterize the quality of the end products (Baked products, crips, noodles, and paste) of stored *amadumbe* corms, flours, and starches.
- 3. The collected data can be used to model the quality kinetics of *amadumbe* corms, flours, starches as influenced by storage conditions.
- 4. The data collected can also be used to model the economic impact of the losses in quality attributes of stored *amadumbe*.